
Approved Agenda 
SRC Performance Review Committee  

AD HOC Meeting 
THURSDAY, October 17, 2019 

10:00 AM – 11:00 PM  
VIA SKYPE – see instructions listed in meeting 

invitation 
 
 
10:00 AM – 10:03 AM Introductions.  

10:03 AM – 10:05 AM Approval of Agenda. 

10:05 AM – 10:07 AM Open for Public Comment. 

10:07 AM – 10:10 AM Approval of Minutes: June 6, 2019. 

10:10 AM – 10:55 AM VR State Plan Update scheduled to be 
submitted to the feds April 1 2020 and 
the Needs Assessment that must be 
completed in 2020 

1) Overview of State Plan and Needs 
Assessment 

2) PR role in reviewing goals and priorities and 
performance updates 

3) in the state plan 
4) Formal SRC section of Plan 
5) Needs Assessment sections needing PR 

review 
6) Formal SRC role in developing summary 

findings of the Needs 
Assessment 

7) Planning PR schedule to align with tasks 
and timelines 

 
10:55 AM – 11:00 PM Other Business: 

1) Agenda for next meeting. 
 
11:00 PM – 11:00 PM Adjournment. 



 
    

   
       

 
   

 
 

      

 
  
   
  

 
 

  
   
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

   

 
 

 

Performance Review Committee Meeting 
Thursday, June 6, 2019 from 10:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m. 

Waterbury State Office Complex 
ASH Conference Room, HC 2 South, 280 State Drive, Waterbury, VT 05671 

Meeting called by: 
Marlena Hughes, Chair, called the meeting to order at 10:10 a.m. 

Members Present: 
1) Jessica Brennan (VR), non-voting 
2) Sherrie Brunelle 
3) Marlena Hughes 

Members Absent: 
1) Brian Smith 
2) Nick Caputo 
3) Robin Ingenthron 
4) Chris Kane 
5) Rose Lucenti 
6) Bill Meirs 
7) Deb Tucker Boyce 

SRC Liaison: 
James Smith 

SRC Coordinator: 
Debra Kobus 

Interpreters: 
None. 

Speakers or Presenters:
Amanda Kohle. 

Guests: 
None. 

1) Introductions (Marlena Hughes) 

Discussion: 
Those in attendance went around the table and introduced 
themselves. 

Draft Minutes Performance Review Committee Meeting 06-06-2019 v2 Page | 1 



 
    

 
   

 
 

    

 
          

     
          

 

 
 

 
 

   

  
 

 
 

 
 

     

 
          

          
      

   
 

   

 
    

 

Conclusions: 
Thanks to everyone! 

Action Items, Person Responsible, Deadline:
None. 

2) Approval of Agenda (Marlena Hughes) 

Discussion: 
Marlena asked for any proposed additions or changes to the agenda. 
There were none. Sherrie moved to accept the agenda and it was 
seconded. No further discussion. All approved. Vote unanimous 2-0-
0. 

Conclusions: 
Motion passes: today’s agenda accepted. 

Action Items, Person Responsible, Deadline:
None. 

3) Open for Public Comment (Marlena Hughes) 

Discussion: 
None 

Conclusions: 
n/a 

Action Items, Person Responsible, Deadline: 
n/a 

4) Approval of Minutes for April 4, 2019 (Marlena Hughes) 

Discussion: 
Marlena asked for any proposed changes or amendments to the April 
4, 2019 minutes. Sherrie noted two changes on page 3. Sherrie 
moved to approve the minutes as amended and it was seconded.  No 
discussion.  All approved. Vote unanimous 2-0-0. 

Conclusions: 
April 4, 2019 Full SRC Minutes were approved as amended. 

Action Items, Person Responsible, Deadline: 
Upload approved minutes to SRC website. Debra Kobus, June 11, 
2019. 

Draft Minutes Performance Review Committee Meeting 06-06-2019 v2 Page | 2 



 
    

   

   
     

     
    

      
  

 
    

      
     

    
    

          
    

   

    
     

  
 

  

 
    

     
  

      
  

 
    

    
     

       

    
  

     

5) Update on Consumer and Employer Surveys (Amanda Kohle). 

Discussion: 
Amanda said that Market Decisions has a total of 700 participants on 
consumer satisfaction and are waiting on the return of 70 of them. 
Once an analysis of the data is complete, Market Decisions will attend 
our October 3rd Retreat in order to do a presentation on both the 
consumer and employer surveys.  It will be discussed during the 
Steering Committee whether we should invite the Business Account 
Managers as it would be helpful for them to hear this presentation. 

Amanda said VR has put out an RFP requesting proposals be 
submitted in order to perform a Youth Survey.  The plan is to organize 
two to three focus groups utilizing our Youth Advocacy Committee. 
Voc Rehab’s objective is to obtain information about what is important 
to youth. Once this data is obtained, an online survey will be sent to 
youth via text message.  The survey will be developed based on the 
input from the focus groups. 

We also added an online Partner Survey to the RFP. However, the 
partners will not be part of the focus groups. Schools and alternative 
programs will be involved in this Partner Survey. 

Conclusions: 
Thank you, Amanda. 

Action Items, Person Responsible, Deadline:
Add September 5, 2019 Steering Committee Agenda item on whether 
we should invite the Business Account Managers to the October 3 
Retreat; Debra Kobus, August 15, 2019. 

6) Central Office Case Review (Amanda Kohle). The presentation is available 
here: https://prezi.com/view/QAZ7tMUxusbF3YL7C1Vh/ 

Discussion: 
Amanda provided a handout to the committee and put it up on the 
whiteboard for discussion. Voc Rehab is planning on using the 
following questions which were based on the assessments that Rich 
Tulikangas discussed at the last meeting. These include: 

• Does a complete initial interview give a holistic picture of the 
consumers barriers, strengths and interests? 

• Does documentation justify consumer need for VR services? 

Draft Minutes Performance Review Committee Meeting 06-06-2019 v2 Page | 3 

https://prezi.com/view/QAZ7tMUxusbF3YL7C1Vh/


 
    

  
 

       
 

      
          

  
  

   
 

      
       

   

        
  

    
      

        
    

    
         

        
    
       

  
 

      
   

   
   

 

        
  

  
 

  

• Does the case include relevant assessments to help determine 
consumer goals/career pathways? 

• Is there an IPE Pre-Print in the file and is it signed on or before 
IPE? 

• Are any amendments that have been made to the IPE documents in 
the case by case note?  If the amendment contributed a change in 
the employment goal, is a new IPE signed by the consumer? 

• Is the information gained through progressive employment and 
progressive education activities documented in case notes by VR 
and/or VABIR staff? 

• If the consumer obtained a credential from a program other than a 
Post-Secondary Education Program, is a copy of the certificate or 
other documentation attached to the case? 

James said the next item VR would like to implement is training on 
developing IPEs. 

Amanda said that we are visiting offices and going over the case 
reviews with the counselors.  Jessie said that she thought it has been 
very helpful for VR counselors.  Amanda said there is a lot of nuance 
with what we do, and it is very helpful to have these conversations to 
help to decrease the anxiety over the case review process. Amanda 
said that the case reviews are coming from a supportive place. 

Related to this, James said that VR just received notice that VR would 
be audited this summer.  Audit findings go to the Commissioner’s 
Office, the Office of Administration, and the Governor’s Office so they 
are very public.  The case review process is intended to reduce these 
findings. 

Amanda said a brand-new case review question is developed each 
quarter. Last quarter, VR asked: 

For consumers who have been employed for 90 days or more, 
does evidence of teaming on a case lead to better employment 
outcomes? 

The finding was yes that teaming does help! VABIR plays a huge 
role in this. 

Conclusions: 
Thank you, Amanda, for the presentation! 

Draft Minutes Performance Review Committee Meeting 06-06-2019 v2 Page | 4 



 
    

 
  

 

    
     

 
    

  
    

  
 

  
      

  
   

   
  

 
     

 
 

  

 
 

 
   

 
 

  
 

     
 
 

       
  
  

Action Items, Person Responsible, Deadline:
Link to presentation put on SRC website, Debra Kobus, June 11, 
2019. 

6) SAMSHA Grant Application Submission on Supported Employment 
Services for Outpatient Mental Health Clients (James Smith). 

Discussion: 
James handed out the grant proposal submitted by VR entitled 
“Vermont Works for Recovery:  An Evidence Based Supported 
Employment Project.” The objective of the grant is to increase 
revenue to assist more Vermonters with disabilities to join the 
workforce. This grant will make IPS supported employment available 
to people served by Adult Outpatient Programs at three designated 
agencies: Washington County Mental Health, Northwest Counseling 
Service, and HCRS. The grant is about $800,000 per year for five 
years. It will support the creation of treatment teams including a case 
manager, VABIR employment consultant, .3 FTE benefits counselor 
and .5 VR counselor. 

Conclusions: 
Thank you, James, for the update! 

Action Items, Person Responsible, Deadline:
None. 

7) Other Business (Marlena Hughes) 

Discussion: 
Other Business: 
1) Discussion on an additional PR meeting (via Skype, or in person, 

sometime during the fall pre or post the SRC Annual Retreat 
scheduled for October 3, 2019). 

The group determined that an hour-long meeting via Skype will be 
set up for Thursday, October 17 at 10:00 am. Debra will work with 
Nichole in setting up Skype. 

2) Possible agenda items for the October 17 meeting include: 
• Youth Survey Update 
• SAMSHA Update 

Draft Minutes Performance Review Committee Meeting 06-06-2019 v2 Page | 5 



 
    

     
  

 
 

 
    

 

      

    

 
     

      
  

 
   

 
   
  

 
    
    

  
  

     
 

  
     

   
  

  

   
      

    

• Linking Learning to Careers Project Update which is in its fourth 
of a five-year grant. 

Conclusions: 
See above. 

Action Items, Person Responsible, Deadline: 
Reach out to Nichole to set up a Skype meeting, Debra Kobus, 
6/11/19. 

Present proposed agenda to Marlena and James, Debra Kobus, 9/19. 

8) Adjournment (Marlena Hughes) 

Discussion: 
Marlena asked if there was a motion to adjourn. Sherrie moved to 
adjourn, and it was seconded.  No further discussion.  All approved. 
Vote unanimous 2-0-0. 

Conclusions: 
Motion to adjourn approved at 11:30 a.m. 

Action Items, Person Responsible, Deadline: 
• Draft minutes uploaded to SRC website, Debra Kobus, 6/11/19. 
• Draft minutes emailed to Committee members, Debra Kobus, 

6/11/19. 
• Minutes approved, Committee, 10/17/19. 
• Approved minutes uploaded to website, Debra Kobus, 10/22/19. 

Parking Lot/Items Forward
1) Presentation requested when data is available: 

• a further breakdown of the demographics of those we serve (i.e. those 
receiving public benefits, etc.); 

• a comparative of outcomes by group; 
• Pre-ETS VR students with a state by state comparison. James said that this 

information was provided in the Needs Assessment a couple of years ago, 
but Alice will include this information in her presentation. 

James and Alice Porter, Open. 

1) James will invite two or three VR counselors to come in and share 
successes/challenges and the story behind them. Being able to illustrate some 
of the challenges would be a good way to frame it (i.e. criminal history, 

Draft Minutes Performance Review Committee Meeting 06-06-2019 v2 Page | 6 



 
    

    
  

 

  
   
    

 

  
   

    
      

 
  

  
    

 

 
      

 

 

substance abuse, housing, etc.) as it would give us some understanding where 
additional advocacy could be created. 
James Smith and VR Counselors, Open. 

2) To parking lot 12/6/18 pending availability of data: 
• ELL Stats (% of portion of population they are serving) 
• Data on certifications (people achieving outcomes) 
Rose Lucenti, Open. 

3) To Parking Lot from 12/6/18: 
Further review and discussion of the results of Employer and Consumer 
Satisfaction Surveys in an ad hoc PR Committee meeting via Skype on 
October 17 based upon presentation provided at the Annual Retreat by Market 
Decisions. 
Debra to remind committee, October 17, 2019. 

4) To Parking Lot from 12/6/18: 
Have a VR rep that works with Corrections come in and do a presentation. 
Debra to remind committee, Open. 

5) To Parking Lot from 12/6/18: 
PR Committee members generate questions for Aware. 
Debra to remind committee, Open. 

Draft Minutes Performance Review Committee Meeting 06-06-2019 v2 Page | 7 



 
Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 1 

 

 

  

2017 



 

 

 

1 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

 

Contents 
 

Index of Tables and Charts .................................................................................................................................  Index 

I. Introduction ...........................................................................................................................................  1 

A. Purpose of the Comprehensive Needs Assessment..................................................................  1 

B. Brief Description of Vermont DVR ..................................................................................................  2 

C. Impact of WIOA and Federal Reallottment on DVR .................................................................  2 

1. WIOA ............................................................................................................................................  2 

2. Reallottment ..............................................................................................................................  3 

D. Impact of WIOA Common Performance Measures ...................................................................  4 

II. Background .............................................................................................................................................  4 

A. Vermont’s Economy and Workforce ..............................................................................................  4 

B. Availability of Employment-Related Services to People with Disabilities ......................  5 

III. Vermont DVR Services to Individuals with Disabilities ..........................................................  5 

A. DVR Population Characteristics .......................................................................................................  5 

B. DVR Process Flow ..................................................................................................................................  8 

C. DVR Outcomes ......................................................................................................................................  10 

D. DVR Services and Expenditure Costs ...........................................................................................  18 

IV. Assessment Of the Reabilitation Needs of Youth and Students with Disabilities ........  21 

A. Prevalence ..............................................................................................................................................  21 

1. Students with Disabilities ..................................................................................................  21 

2. Youth with Disabilities ........................................................................................................  21 

3. Employment Rates for Youth with Disabilities ..........................................................  21 

B. Vocational Rehabilitation Services for Students and Youth ...............................................  22 

1. VR Pre-Employment Transition Services ....................................................................  22 

2. Staff Providing and Coordinating Pre-ETS Services ................................................  23 

 

Contents 



 

 

 

2 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

3. Number and Proportion of Potentially Eligible Students Receiving Pre-ETS  

              Services and/or VR Services .............................................................................................  23 

4. VR Services for Youth who have Exited High School ...............................................  24 

5. Supported Employment Services for Youth ................................................................  24 

6. Supported Employment for Youth with Disabilities................................................  24 

7. The Number and Proportion of Youth with Disabilities Receiving VR Services  

 ......................................................................................................................................................  25 

8. The Cooridnation of VR Pre-ETS and Transition Services with Services  

Provided Under IDEA...........................................................................................................  25 

C. Vermont Family Network Survey and Focus Group Data ....................................................  27 

D. Summary Findings ..............................................................................................................................  27 

V. Consumer Satisfaction Survey........................................................................................................  28 

VI. Unmet Needs for Specific Populations and Programs ...........................................................  30 

A. National and Vermont Population Data from the ACS ..........................................................  30 

B. Individuals Who are Minorities and Eligible for DVR Services..........................................  34 

C. The Need for Supported Employment Services .......................................................................  35 

1. Overview ...................................................................................................................................  35 

2. Adults with Psychiatric Disabilities ...............................................................................  35 

3. Adults with Developmental Disabilities .......................................................................  37 

D. Other Unserved or Underserved Individuals with Disabilities .........................................  38 

1. Older Vermonters with Disabilities................................................................................  38 

2. Individuals with Physical Disabilities ...........................................................................  38 

3. Individuals with Traumatic Brain Injury .....................................................................  38 

E. Individuals with Disabilities Served through the Statewide Workforce  

 Investment System ....................................................................................................................  38 

F. Needs for CRP Programs ...................................................................................................................  38 

VII. Summary of Major Findings ............................................................................................................  39 

 
 

 

  



 

 

 

3 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

Index of Tables and Charts 

 

 

Table 1: Numbers Served by Employment Service..................................................................................................... 5 

Table 2: Population Characteristics ............................................................................................................................ 6 

Table 3: Client Services Costs ................................................................................................................................... 18 

Table 4: Employment Rates for Youth With and Without Disabilities ..................................................................... 22 

Table 5: Adults With and Without a Disability, Achieving a BA Degree or Higher ................................................... 22 

Table 6: Students with Disabilities Served, Age 14 through 21 at Referral .............................................................. 23 

Table 7: Youth with Disabilities Served, Age 14 through 24 at Referral .................................................................. 25 

Table 8: Prevalence of Disability by Age in Vermont ............................................................................................... 30 

Table 9: Prevalence of Disability by Age Nationally ................................................................................................. 30 

Table 10: Distribution of Disability Type for Civilians Aged 18 to 65 in Vermont .................................................... 31 

Table 11: Employment Rates for Working Age Adults With and Without Disabilities ............................................. 32 

Table 12: Employment Rates of Vermonters with Disabilities by Disability Type .................................................... 32 

Table 13: Proportion of People with Disabilities of Working Age, Employed FT Year Round  ................................. 32 

Table 14: Potential Number of Eligible Consumers .................................................................................................. 33 

Table 15: SSA Disability Beneficiaries Served ........................................................................................................... 34 

Table 16: Incidence of Disability by Race for Adults Aged 18 to 64 ......................................................................... 34 

Table 17: Employment Rate by Program .................................................................................................................. 37 

 

Charts 

Chart 1: Age at Initial Plan for Employment by FFY .................................................................................................... 7 

Chart 2: Total Applications, Certifications, Plans and Closures, FFY 2012 – 2016 ..................................................... 8 

Chart 3: Average Months in VR Process for Successful Closures, FFY 2012 – 2016 ................................................... 9 

Chart 4: All Closures by Closure Type, FFY 2012 – 2016........................................................................................... 10 

Chart 5: Rehabilitation Rate by Disability Type, FFY 2012 – 2016 ............................................................................ 12 

Chart 6: Average Weekly Earnings at Application and Closure for Successful Closures,  

 FFY 2012-2016 .. ......................................................................................................................................... 13 

Chart 7: Average Weekly Earnings at Application and Closure for FFY 2016 Successful Closures,  

         by Disability Type ........................................................................................................................................ 14 

 



 

 

 

4 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

Chart 8: Average Weekly Hours at Application and Closure for FFY 2016 Successful Closures, 

         by Disability Type ........................................................................................................................................ 15 

Chart 9: Percentage Change Average Weekly Earnings by Disability for Successful Closures,  

 FFY 2012 – 2016 .......................................................................................................................................... 16 

Chart 10: Change in Education Level from Application to Closure, FFY 2016 Closures ........................................... 17 

Chart 11: Direct Service Expenditures, FFY 2012 – 2016.......................................................................................... 19 

Chart 12: Direct Service Costs per Case, by Closure Type, FFY 2012 – 2016 ............................................................ 20 

Chart 13: Satisfaction with the Vermont DVR Program ........................................................................................... 29 

Chart 14: CRT Employment Rate FY 2007 – 2016 ..................................................................................................... 36 



 
Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 1 

I. INTRODUCTION 

 

A. PURPOSE OF THE COMPREHENSIVE NEEDS ASSESSMENT 

The Rehabilitation Act (1973) as amended under the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act 

(WIOA), requires the Vermont Division of Vocational Rehabilitation (DVR) and the Vermont State 

Rehabilitation Council (SRC) to jointly conduct a needs assessment every three years. The assessment is 

intended to form the basis for the DVR annual State plan and strategic planning activities. The 

development of this needs assessment in partnership with DVR is one of the primary responsibilities of 

the SRC.   

Federal regulations require that:  

The State plan shall include the results of a comprehensive, statewide assessment, jointly 

conducted by the designated State unit and the State Rehabilitation Council every three years, 

describing the rehabilitation needs of individuals with disabilities residing within the state, 

particularly the vocational rehabilitation services needs of: 

 

• Individuals with the most significant disabilities, including their need for supported employment 

services; 

• Individuals with disabilities who are minorities and individuals with disabilities who have been 

unserved or underserved by the vocational rehabilitation program; 

• Individuals with disabilities served through other components of the statewide workforce 

investment system. 

The report must also include: 

• An assessment of the need to establish, develop, or improve community rehabilitation 

programs within the state; and 

• An assessment of the rehabilitation needs of youth and students including:  

o Their need for pre-employment and other transition services; and 

o The extent to which pre-employment and other transition services provided under this 

Act, are coordinated with transition services provided under the Individuals with 

Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. 1400 et seq.), to meet the needs of individuals with 

disabilities.  

This report includes data from a variety of sources, including DVR’s Rehabilitation Services 

Administration (RSA) reporting database, information from the United States Census Bureau, the 

American Community Survey, as well as surveys conducted by DVR. 

 
 



 

 

 

2 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

B. BRIEF  DESCRIPTION OF VERMONT DVR 

The Vermont DVR has twelve district offices that provide employment services to individuals with 

disabilities and one central administrative office.  Vermont DVR follows all federal requirements for 

determining eligibility, assessment, developing an Individual Plan for Employment, training and other 

employment preparation services, placement services, and post-employment support.  

Additionally DVR provides transition services to youth; a program for youth with severe 

emotional/behavioral disabilities and corrections involvement; assistance with Social Security disability 

benefits applications; the Vermont Assistive Technology and Reuse Program; and assistance to 

individuals with disabilities who are offenders or who are veterans. DVR also funds supported 

employment services to designated agencies serving individuals with severe and persistent psychiatric 

disabilities and individuals with developmental disabilities.  

DVR has a solid record of performance, with successful closures exceeding 1,500 in the most recent 

Federal Fiscal Year (FFY 16). Vermont DVR also rates high among national vocational rehabilitation 

programs: 

• Number one in New England and in the nation for new VR applications per million population; 

• Number one in New England and in the nation for VR employment outcomes; 

• Number one in New England and in the nation for Ticket to Work participation; 

• Number two in New England and number 8 in the nation for percent of VR consumers on Social 

Security disability benefits with employment outcomes. 

 

C. THE IMPACT OF WIOA AND FEDERAL REALLOTMENT ON VERMONT DVR  

Since the 2014 Needs Assessment there have been two major events that have impacted the resources 

available for DVR services:  WIOA and changes in the reallotment award.  These events have directly 

affected the assignment of funding resources as well as the total funds available for services. 

 

1. WIOA 

The most significant new requirement under WIOA, is that state agencies spend a minimum og 15% of 

the Title I VR Basic Award on Pre-Employment Transition Services (Pre-ETS). Pre-ETS can only be 

provided to students with a disability, defined as: 

 

• Students in high school who are on a IEP, a 504 plan or are 504 eligible; and 

• Are between the ages of 14 and 21 

Pre-ETS are generally defined as preparatory services for students to assist them in moving from high school to 

careers and/or post-secondary education. Pre-ETS includes five required services: job exploration counseling, 



 

 

 

3 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

work based learning experiences, counseling around postsecondary education, workplace readiness 

training, and self-advocacy training.   

Vermont DVR fully supports Congressional intent in shifting VR resources to Pre-ETS. We believe early 

intervention with students has the potential to have a significant long-term impact on outcomes. 

However, it is also important to recognize that reassigning 15% of VR resources from adults to students 

has had an impact on services for adults. Consequently, some of the data in this Needs Assessment 

reflects the impact of this shift on services and outcomes.  

2.  Reallotment  

Reallotment is the process by which the federal Rehabilitation Services Administration distributes grant 

funds that states cannot match. States with the ability to match can request and receive unused funds. 

Prior to 2009, reallotment funds were generally very limited and Vermont received awards of less than 

$100,000 annually. However with the great recession of 2008, many states were unable to match their 

grant awards. Because Vermont was in an over match situation, DVR was able to draw down between 

three and six million dollars per year. In FFY 16 and FFY 17, the amounts requested by states exceeded 

those relinquished. The formula used by RSA to determine distribution of reallotment funds favored 

larger states, and Vermont’s award was reduced to $1.4 million in FFY 16 and $612,000 in FFY 17.  

 
This loss of reallotment funds was substantial, and equated to a 20% reduction in total funding for the 

DVR program. It was impossible to manage such a large loss in funding by reducing operational 

expenditures alone, so DVR made the following reductions in consumer services:    

• 10 FTE DVR counselor positions were either left vacant or reassigned to non-VR 110 positions 

• 18 contracted VABIR Employment Consultants were cut 

• $500,000 reduction in total case services dollars available for DVR counselors 

• $300,000 reduction in total supported employment funds for adults with developmental 

disabilities  

• $400,000 reduction in the total amount of funds for JOBS supported employment services for 

youth with severe emotional disturbances 

• Elimination the “Car Coach” contract that provided DVR consumers and counselors with 

specialized assistance related to car repairs and car purchases 

The combination of the Pre-ETS mandate and loss in reallotment funds has substantially reduced the 
overall DVR capacity to serve eligible adults.  This presents a major challenge to DVR in FFY 18 and 
beyond.  

 

 

 



 

 

 

4 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

D. THE IMPACT OF WIOA COMMON PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

WIOA aligned the performance measures across workforce programs covered under the Act. This 

means the old evaluation standards and performance indicators for VR agencies have been replaced 

with the Common Performance Measures. The Common Performance Measures are as follows: 

• Employment rate two quarters post program exit 

• Employment rate four quarters post program exit 

• Median earnings two quarters post program exit 

• Credential attainment 

• Measurable skills gain 

• Employer satisfaction 

Vermont believes the Common Performance Measures are a major improvement over the standards 

and indicators, because they encourage VR agencies to focus on career development and higher wage 

employment. DVR has reviewed much of the data in this needs assessment through the lens of the 

new measures. We expect that DVR will have to reassess programs, practices and the assignment of 

resources in the context of the new measures.  

  

II.   BACKGROUND 

 

A. VERMONT’S ECONOMY AND WORKFORCE 

Vermont is a rural state with a small population – 626,000 people in a geographic area of 9,609 square 

miles. Just fewer than 345,000 are employed with a per capita income of $50,321. One quarter of the 

population lives in Chittenden County in the northwestern part of the state. Four of the five largest 

cities and towns are located in Chittenden County, Burlington being the largest with a population of 

42,417. 

Vermont has an annual growth rate of less than 0.7% as compared to the national average of 1.8%. The 

overall population of Vermont has declined by 0.2% from 2010 to 2016. Overall the population is aging, 

with the total percentage over age 65 increasing from 14.6% in 2010 to 18.1% in 2016.   

According to Vermont Department of Labor (VDOL) data, the total workforce declined from 359,000 to 

346,000 between 2010 and 2017. However, the number of people employed in 2010 was 337,000 

compared to 335,000 in 2017. This loss of workers is reflected in an approximately 3% unemployment 

rate in the state in 2017, and presents a significant challenge to Vermont employers. It also presents a 

risk to the Vermont economy as a whole. 

  



 

 

 

5 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

B. AVAILABILITY OF EMPLOYMENT-RELATED SERVICES TO PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES 

Vermont DVR is by far the largest provder of employment services for individuals with disabilities in the 

state.  Services are provided directly as well as through grants to community rehabilitation partners. 

These partnerships allow DVR to effectively use its resources and expand its reach to other 

populations. The JOBS program is a partnership between the Departments of Corrections (DOC), 

Mental Health (DMH), Children and Families (DCF), and DVR to provide supported employment and 

case management services for at risk youth with emotional and behavioral disabilities.  The Vermont 

DOL also provides some services to individuals with disabilities.  The 14 Designated Agencies across 

Vermont provide supported employment services to individuals with severe and persistent psychiatric 

disabilities and those with developmental disabilities. Below is a table of current employment services 

providers for individuals with disabilities. 

 
TABLE 1: NUMBERS SERVED BY EMPLOYMENT SERVICE 

Organization Population Served 
Number Served 

State Fiscal Year 2016 

Vermont DVR 
(12 district offices) 

Youth and adults with disabilities 
(except for blindness and vision loss) 

8,827 

Vermont DBVI 
(4 district offices) 

Blind and visually impaired youth and adults 328 

JOBS Program 
(12 sites statewide) 

Youth with emotional and behavioral 
disabilities 

544 

Designated Agencies 
(10 programs) 

Individuals with severe and persistent 
psychiatric disabilities 

537 

Designated Agencies 
(14 programs) 

Individuals with developmental disabilities 1,260 

 

 

III.   VERMONT DVR SERVICES TO INDIVIDUALS WITH DISABILITIES 

 

A. DVR POPULATION CHARACTERISTICS 

Table 2 provides demographic data for all closed cases for FFY 2016 and compares that data to FFY 

2013. Some areas of note include: 

• The percentage of closures for those in racial and ethnic minority groups declined by 2% as 

compared with individuals whose race is white; Overall only 7% of individuals served were from 

a racial or ethnic minority. This reflects the demographics of Vermont.  



 

 

 

6 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

• There was virtually no change in the proportion of people served by broad disability group 

(cognitive, physical, psychiatric or sensory).   

• The percentage of people applying for VR services who were already employed increased from 

20% to 27%. This likely reflects the improving job market from 2013 to 2016.  

• The percentage of individuals who closed and were 65 or older increased from 1% to 3%. Given 

Vermont’s aging demographic this remains a very low number.  

 

TABLE 2: POPULATION CHARACTERISTICS 

All Closed Cases – FFY 2013 and 2016 

 
FFY 2013 FFY 2016 % Change  

in # of 
Closures 

Change  
in % of  

Closures Count Percent Count Percent 

All Closures 4246 100% 3798 100% -12% 0% 

Sex 

Female 1931 45% 1745 46% -11% 1% 

Male 2315 55% 2044 54% -13% -1% 

Age at Application 

Under 25 1300 31% 1150 30% -13% 0% 

25-44 1614 38% 1385 37% -17% -1% 

45-64 1269 30% 1153 30% -10% 1% 

65+ 63 1% 102 3% 38% 1% 

Minority Status 

Racial/Ethnic Minority 352 8% 247 7% -43% -2% 

White 3894 92% 3543 93% -10% 2% 

Disability Group 

Cognitive 1053 25% 938 25% -12% 0% 

Psychiatric 1901 45% 1718 45% -11% 1% 

Physical 843 20% 772 20% 09% 1% 

Sensory 205 5% 208 5% 1% 1% 

No Disability Noted 244 6% 154 4% -58% -2% 

Substance Abuse Co-Occurring 

Has Substance Abuse Issue 588 14% 491 13% -20% -1% 

No Substance Abuse Noted 3658 86% 3299 87% -11% 1% 

Significance of Disability 

Most SD 3658 86% 3424 90% -7% 4% 

SD 328 8% 204 5% -61% -2% 

Not SD (On Order of Selection) 16 0% 4 0% -300% 0% 

Education at Application 

Less than HS or GED Completion 1149 27% 893 24% -29% -3% 

HS Completion or Equivalent 1966 46% 1823 48% -8% 2% 

Some Post- Secondary  787 19% 687 18% -15% 0% 



 

 

 

7 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

All Closed Cases – FFY 2013 and 2016 

 
FFY 2013 FFY 2016 % Change  

in # of 
Closures 

Change  
in % of  

Closures Count Percent Count Percent 

BA 250 6% 273 7% 8% 1% 

MA+ 94 2% 114 3% 18% 1% 

Work Status at Application 

Competitively Employed 856 20% 1016 27% 16% 7% 

Not Competitively Employed 3390 80% 2774 73% -22% -7% 

Veteran 

Veteran 206 5% 106 3% -94% -2% 

No Veteran Status Noted 4040 95% 3694 97% -10% 2% 
 

Corrections Involvement 

Corrections 360 8% 379 10% 5% 2% 

No Corrections Involvement 
Noted 

3886 92% 3411 90% -14% -2% 

Welfare Participation 

TANF Participant 406 10% 265 7% -53% -3% 

No TANF Participation Noted 3840 90% 3525 93% -9% 3% 

SSDI Eligible 

SSDI Recipient 992 23% 821 22% -21% -2% 

Not SSDI Recipient 3254 77% 2969 78% -10% 2% 

SSI Eligible 

SSI Recipient 836 20% 674 18% -24% -2% 

Not SSI Recipient 3410 80% 3116 82% -9% 2% 

 
 
CHART 1 

 

14.8 

9.4 

3.9 

2.4 

2.8 

42.5 

45.2 

49.5 

48.7 

46.8 

30.6 

33.3 

34.3 

38.6 

39.7 

13.9 

13.6 

14.0 

12.2 

12.3 

FFY 2016

FFY 2015

FFY 2014

FFY 2013

FFY 2012

Age at Initial Plan for Employment by FFY

Under Age 18 Age 18 to 35 Age 35 to 55 Age 55+



 

 

 

8 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

The implementation of Pre-ETS has greatly increased the proportion of youth served aged 18 or 
younger. This is not surprising because DVR shifted counselor capacity to serve high school students as 
mandated by WIOA. Overall the VR caseload is getting younger (57.3% under 35.). The biggest impact 
appears to be for adults ages 35 to 55 who went from 39.7% to 30.4% of the caseload. The changing 
age demograhic of the program has significant implications for how DVR provides services.  

B. DVR PROCESS FLOW 

The following charts are intended to show the overall process flow within the DVR program including 
timelines. The intent is to identify patterns that might need to be addressed within the DVR State Plan. 

Chart 2 shows the total number of applications, certifications of eligibility, new plans developed and 
case closures from 2012 to 2016. These numbers appear to be very stable across measures. Based on 
RSA comparative data for FFY 2011 (the most recent available), Vermont DVR is ranked number one (of 
eighty agencies) in per capita applications to the program. There was a spike in cases closed in FFY 15 
that was in part the result of the shift to Pre-ETS. 

 
CHART 2 

 
 

  

FFY 2012 FFY 2013 FFY 2014 FFY 2015 FFY 2016

Applications Taken 4,027 4,101 4,115 3,980 4,258

Eligibility Certified 3,807 3,795 3,921 3,804 4,117

New Plans Developed 3,009 2,868 3,185 3,116 3,448

Cases Closed 4,265 4,246 4,504 5,059 3,790

500

1,500

2,500

3,500

4,500

5,500

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

C
as

e
s

Total Applications, Certifications, Plans and Closures 
FFY 2012 - 2016



 

 

 

9 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

DVR Process Flow: Chart 3 

 

Chart 3 shows the average time spent within case statuses for the period FFY 2012 to FFY 2016. Overall 
this data shows that DVR cases are moving promptly from application to plan and to competitive 
employment outcome. In 2011 the average time from application to closure was just over 16 months.  
In 2016 the average time was just over 13 months. We believe there are a number of factors that have 
contributed to this change: 

• The improving Vermont job market 

• WIOA timelines that require development of an employment plan within 3 months  

• Impact of improved employer outreach under Creative Workforce Solutions 

• VR efforts to move individuals who are ambivalent through progressive employment and 
motivational interviewing 

• Better caseload management  
 

 
CHART 3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

FFY 2012 FFY 2013 FFY 2014 FFY 2015 FFY 2016

Plan to Closure (12-26) 13 13 13 13 11

Eligible to Plan (10-12) 2 2 3 2 2

App to Eligible (02-10) 1 1 1 0 0

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

M
o

n
th

s

Average Months in VR Process for Successful Closures
FFY 2012 - 2016



 

 

 

10 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

C. DVR OUTCOMES 
 

Chart 4 shows all closures by type from FFY 2012 to FFY 2016. Based on RSA comparative data for FFY 
2011 (the most recent available), Vermont was ranked number one in the nation for the number of 
individuals achieving an employment outcome per million state population. Vermont also ranks 5th 
among all VR agencies in number of outcomes per million dollars spent. 
 
 
CHART 4 

 
 

FFY 2012 FFY 2013 FFY 2014 FFY 2015 FFY 2016

Successfully Employed (26) 1,791 1,821 1,871 1,920 1,573

Eligible Before Plan (30) 977 848 1,007 1,066 747

Served, not Employed (28) 1,288 1,333 1,367 1,799 1,316

Applicant (08) 190 220 240 262 145

Ineligible (08) 19 24 19 12 9

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

C
lo

su
re

s

All Closures by Closure Type
FFY 2012 - 2016



 

 

 

11 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

DVR Outcomes: Chart 5 

 

Chart 5 shows the rehabilitation rate by disability type.1The rehabilitation rate is the percentage of 
individuals who achieve plan status, who then go on to achieve a successful employment outcome.  
Between 2012 and 2016 individuals with sensory impairments have consistently had the highest 
rehabilitation rate, and individuals with cognitive disabilities consistently have the second highest rate. 
 
Individuals with other physical or orthopedic/neurological impairments show some variation in 
rehabilitation rate across the time period, ranging from 58% to 49%. The variation does not indicate 
any particular pattern.  Individuals with psychiatric disabilities consistently have the lowest 
rehabilitation rate across populations.  
 
Overall, the rehabilitation rate for Vermont DVR has declined slightly from 58% in FFY 2012 to 54% in 
FFY 2016.  A major factor in the lower rehabilitation rates in FFY 15 and FFY 16 was the transition to 
Pre-ETS. In the processing of moving 14 counselors to the Pre-ETS caseload, DVR conducted a major 
review of all open cases, and moved to close cases that were not active. As a result, there was a spike 
in status 28 and status 30 closures during this period. We believe this was a onetime event and does 
not reflect any change in program performance.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
1 The “Orthopedic/Neuro” disability group is comprised of these RSA disability type codes: 
10 – Mobility Orthopedic/Neurological; 11 – Manipulation/Dexterity; 12 – Both Mobility and Manipulation; 13 – Other 
Orthopedic Impairments 
The “Other Physical” disability group includes these RSA disability type codes: 
14 – Respiratory Impairments; 15 – General Physical Debilitation; 16 – Other Physical Impairments 



 

 

 

12 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

CHART 5 

 
 

  

FFY 2012 FFY 2013 FFY 2014 FFY 2015 FFY 2016

Sensory 76 84 74 76 77

Cognitive 63 65 60 55 57

Other Physical 55 54 55 47 53

Orthopedic/Neuro 58 51 50 49 56

Psychiatric 53 52 57 48 50

Overall Rate 58 58 58 52 54

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

C
as

e
s

Rehabilitation Rate by Disability Type
FFY 2012- 2016



 

 

 

13 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

DVR Outcomes: Chart 6 

 

Chart 6 shows the actual average wages of DVR consumers served, at application and at successful 
closure, for the period FFY 2012 to FFY 2016. The data also shows the percentage difference in total 
wages of DVR consumers served, at application and at successful closure, for the period FFY 2012 to 
FFY 2016.  In reviewing this data DVR observed the following: 

• The average weekly wages at closure are increasing. This maybe in part to the increase in 
minimum wage in Vermont.  

• Annualized earnings based on the average weekly wage at closure would equal $18,304 per 
year. 

• The difference between weekly earnings at intake and at closure have declined. This is in part 
because more consumers are applying to VR with earnings. This reflects the improving job 
market. 
 

 
CHART 6 

 
 
 

 
 
 

FFY 2012 FFY 2013 FFY 2014 FFY 2015 FFY 2016

Average At Application 119 102 98 126 144

Average At Rehab 320 313 317 339 352

% Change from App to Rehab 268% 306% 322% 269% 244%

% Change for Working at App 113% 116% 119% 117% 115%

268%

306%
322%

269%
244%

0%

50%

100%

150%

200%

250%

300%

350%

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

C
as

e
s

Average Weekly Earnings at Application and Closure
For Successful Closures, FFY 2012 - 2016



 

 

 

14 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

DVR Outcomes: Chart 7 

 

Chart 7 shows the average weekly wages at application and at successful closure by disability. The 

average earnings at application for all groups except those with sensory disabilities, are very low. This 

is because about 73% of applicants have zero earnings at application.  

 

Individuals with psychiatric disabilities are less likely to achieve successful closure, but when they do 

they experience the greatest gain in earnings (365%). 

 

Individuals with sensory disabilities made almost no gain (107%) This is because many hard of hearing 

consumers seek VR services to maintain employment. 

 

 

CHART 7 

 

 

  

Cognitive Psychiatric

Orthopedic
/

Neurologica
l

Other
Physical

Sensory

Average At Application 90 93 147 163 527

Average At Rehab 269 340 414 376 561

% Change from App to Rehab 299% 365% 282% 230% 107%

299%

365%

282%

230%

107%

0%

50%

100%

150%

200%

250%

300%

350%

400%

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

A
ve

ra
ge

 W
e

e
kl

y 
Ea

rn
in

gs

Average Weekly Earnings at Application and Closure
For FFY 2016 Successful Closures, by Disability Type



 

 

 

15 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

DVR Outcomes: Chart 8 

 

Chart 8 shows the average weekly hours at application and successful closure by disability. There is 
surprisingly little variation in the average hours worked across populations. Only individuals with 
cognitive disabilities tend to work fewer hours, and that can be explained by the fact that a high 
proportion of individuals in this group are adults with developmental disabilities served through 
supported employment programs. As noted, this includes individuals with the most severe 
developmental disabilities who may only be able to work a few hours per week. 

 

CHART 8 

 
 
 
  

Cognitive Psychiatric
Orthopedic

/
Neurological

Other
Physical

Sensory

Average At Application 8 8 11 10 28

Average At Rehab 23 29 30 29 31

% Change from App to Rehab 293% 362% 268% 278% 113%

293%

362%

268% 278%

113%

0%

50%

100%

150%

200%

250%

300%

350%

400%

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

A
ve

ra
ge

 W
e

e
kl

y 
W

o
rk

 H
o

u
rs

Average Weekly Earnings at Application and Closure
For FFY 2016 Successful Closures, by Disability Type



 

 

 

16 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

DVR Outcomes: Chart 9 

 

Chart 9 shows the percentage change in average weekly earnings from 2012 to 2016. This data 
indicates a downward or flat trend across populations. The most likely explanation for the downward 
trend is the fact that a higher proportion of individuals are entering the program with employment. In 
FFY 13, 20% of applicants entered the program employed compared to 27% in FFY 16.   
 
 
CHART 9 

 
 
 

  

FFY 2012 FFY 2013 FFY 2014 FFY 2015 FFY 2016

Psychiatric 476% 483% 458% 367% 365%

Cognitive 374% 451% 414% 385% 299%

Other Physical 265% 419% 463% 359% 230%

Orthopedic / Neurological 254% 336% 280% 257% 282%

Sensory 119% 124% 131% 123% 107%

0%

100%

200%

300%

400%

500%

600%

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

C
as

e
s

Percentage Change in Average Weekly Earnings by Disability
For Successful Closures, FFY 2012 - 2016



 

 

 

17 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

DVR Outcomes: Chart 10 

 

Credential attainment is an important benchmark under the new WIOA Common Performance 

Measures, and includes both academic and professional credentials.  Historically, DVR has collected 

limited data on credential attainment and in traditional education settings only. Also, because 

credential attainment was not a primary measure for DVR in the past, we believe staff may have under 

reported this data.  

In September 2017, DVR moved to an electronic case management system called Aware, which will 

allow DVR to track and document all types of reportable credential attainment on a quarterly basis, not 

just at closure. Regardless, the data provided in this report is a limited snap shot of credential 

attainment in traditional educational programs for FFY 16.  

 

CHART 10 

 

 

 

  

At Application At Closure

Less than HS or GED completion 893 622

High School Diploma / GED 1823 2015

Post-secondary, AA or Certificate 687 747

Bachelor's Degree or more 387 406

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

M
o

n
th

s

Change in Education Level from Application to Closure, 
FFY 2016 Closures



 

 

 

18 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

D. DVR SERVICES AND EXPENDITURE COSTS 

Table 3 provides an overview of the total cost of the DVR program and the total direct client services 
costs. The direct client services costs do not include the VR counselors who provide substantial direct 
services. The direct services costs include the following broad categories of service: 

• Supported Employment provided mostly through the Designated Agencies; 

• Job development and placement provided mostly through the community rehabilitation 
program VABIR; 

• Other support which includes case service expenditures on a wide variety of goods and 
services including transportation, assistive technology, work clothing, and tools; 

• Education and training; 

• Diagnosis and treatment; 

• Assessment. 

Table 3 also shows the gross cost per successful rehabilitation by year, $14,850 in FFY 2016. As noted 
throughout this document, we know that FFY 17 and FFY 18 expenditures will decline considerably.   

 

TABLE 3: CLIENT SERVICES COSTS 

FFY FFY 2012 FFY 2013 FFY 2014 FFY 2015 FFY 2016 

      

Total Expenditures (RSA2 I.4) 21,864,139 22,539,995 22,948,611 23,023,757 23,373,816 

Total Direct Paid (RSA2 II.10.1) 8,276,628 7,987,037 7,377,897 6,794,961 6,435,367 

      

Rehabs 1,791 1,821 1,873 1,922 1,574 

Total Expenditures, Avg. Per Rehab 12,208 12,378 12,252 11,979 14,850 

Total Direct Paid, Avg. Per Rehab 4,621 4,386 3,939 3,535 4,089 

       

Closures 4,264 4,245 4,497 5,057 3,791 

Total Expenditures, Avg. Per Closure 5,128 5,310 5,103 4,553 6,166 

Total Direct Paid, Avg. Per Closure 1,941 1,882 1,641 1,344 1,698 

 

 

 

  



 

 

 

19 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

DVR Services and Expenditure Costs: Chart 11 

 

Chart 11 provides trend data on direct expenditures by broad category. This data reflects the impact of 
the shift of resources to mandated Pre-ETS. In particular: 

• DVR shifted contract funds for VABIR for job development and job placement services to Pre-
ETS work based learning services. 

• DVR reduced its commitment to adult supported employment services to fund Pre-ETS for 
students with developmental disabilities and severe emotional behavioral disabilities.  

   

CHART 11 

 

 

 

FFY 2012 FFY 2013 FFY 2014 FFY 2015 FFY 2016

Supported Employment 2,679,783 3,358,825 2,844,406 1,803,026 2,290,538

Job Development & Placement 2,213,012 1,949,361 2,765,524 2,017,541 1,290,424

All Other Support 1,464,029 1,071,274 1,145,829 1,200,163 1,369,051

Education & Training 802,715 686,907 579,846 736,000 821,352

Diagnosis & Treatment 219,709 137,305 69,057 59,237 46,316

Assessment 275,804 154,409 315,386 310,387 225,075

 -

 500,000

 1,000,000

 1,500,000

 2,000,000

 2,500,000

 3,000,000

 3,500,000

 4,000,000

D
ir

e
ct

 C
as

e
 S

e
rv

ic
e

 E
xp

e
n

d
it

u
re

s

Direct Service Expenditures
FFY 2012 - 2016



 

 

 

20 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

DVR Services and Expenditure Costs: Chart 12 

 

Chart 12 shows the average direct costs (grants and case services) for status 26 (successful 
employment closures) and status 28 (closures with no employment). As would be expected, VR tends 
to spend more money on status 26 closures. However, the difference is not as dramatic as one might 
expect. This may be an area for review, especially if DVR considers investing more resources in post-
secondary credential attainment.  

 

CHART 12 

 

 

 

 

  

FFY 2012 FFY 2013 FFY 2014 FFY 2015 FFY 2016

Status 26 Closures 2576 2592 2530 2425 2438

Status 28 Closures 1678 1920 1943 1957 1762

All Closures 1678 1810 1735 1723 1695

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

A
ve

ra
ge

 D
ir

e
ct

 C
o

st

Direct Service Costs per Case, by Closure Type
FFY 2012 - 2016



 

 

 

21 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

IV.   ASSESSMENT OF THE REHABILITATION NEEDS OF YOUTH AND STUDENTS WITH DISABILITIES 

 
 
The DVR Needs Assessment must include:  

• An assessment of the rehabilitation needs of youth with disabilities, and students with 

disabilities, including their need for pre-employment transition services or other transition 

services. 

• Include an assessment of the needs of individuals with disabilities for transition services and 

pre-employment transition services, and the extent to which such services provided under this 

Act are coordinated with transition services provided under the Individuals with Disabilities 

Education Act (20 U.S.C. 1400 et seq.)  

 

A.   PREVALENCE 

 
1.  Students with Disabilities 

The State of Vermont has sixty supervisory unions serving students in primarily rural communities. 
During the 2016 to 2017 school year, 5,390 Vermont high school students were served. All were either 
on an IEP or 504 plan, and therefore met the definition of a student with a disability.  
 
2.  Youth with Disabilities 

According to American Community Survey (ACS), 7.5% of youth ages 16 to 20 (3,450) reported having a 

disability. The ACS does not provide data for youth ages 14 to 24 who report having disability, which is 

the WIOA definition. However, extrapolating the ACS data for youth ages 16 to 20 would suggest that 

there are approximately 8,600 youth with disabilities in Vermont. It is important to note that the ACS 

uses primarily self-reported data and youth may be less likely to self-identify as a person with a 

disability.  Therefore, this number maybe an underestimate of the actual prevalence.   

 

3.  Employment Rates for Youth with Disabilities 

The ACS provides data on the employment rate of youth with disabilities ages 16 to 20. As Table 4 

shows, youth with disabilities are much less likely to be employed than their counterparts without 

disabilities at both the national and state level. It is well documented that early work experiences for 

students and youth are the best predictor of future employment. The gap in employment rates in this 

age group is likely to continue into adulthood unless students and youth with disabilities have 

opportunities for work based learning experiences.   

 
 

 



 

 

 

22 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

TABLE 4:   EMPLOYMENT RATES FOR YOUTH WITH AND WITHOUT DISABILITIES 

Population Total 
Employed 

Count 
Employed 

Percentage 

US Youth without Disabilities 20,268,600  7,539,919 37.2% 

Vermont Youth without Disabilities 42,600 18,190 42.7% 

US Youth with Disabilities 1,266,800 288,830 22.8% 

Vermont Youth with Disabilities 3,400 952 28% 

 

4.  Postsecondary Education Outcomes for Adults with Disabilities  

The ACS does not provide post-secondary education outcome data stratified by age group. However, it 

does provide highest level of education achieved for adults with and without disabilities. As the data in 

Table 5 indicates, adults with disabilities are much less likely to achieve a BA degree or higher than 

adults without a disability. Post-secondary completion has been associated with substantially level 

earnings over the lifespan. In the modern global and high technology economy this trend is likely to 

become more pronounced. 

 

TABLE 5:   ADULTS WITH AND WITHOUT A DISABILITY ACHIEVING A BA DEGREE OR HIGHER 

Population Total 
BA Degree or 

Higher 
Count 

BA Degree or 
Higher 

Percentage 

US Adults without Disabilities 164,707,900   54,353,607 33% 

Vermont Adults without Disabilities 320,700  127,318 39.7% 

US Adults with Disabilities 19,703,800 2,758,532 14% 

Vermont Adults with Disabilities 45,600 7,342 16.1% 

 
 
 
B.   VOCATIONAL REHABILITATION SERVICES FOR STUDENTS AND YOUTH 

 
1.  VR Pre-Employment Transition Services 

Once Pre-ETS was announced in October 2014, Vermont DVR moved quickly to come into compliance 
with the new requirement. As a state, we took a broad strategic approach to: 
 

• Embrace the Congressional intent: try to build the best possible Pre-Employment Transition 
Services program possible; 

• Reassign resources to support the best possible outcome; and 

• Build on the existing well established infrastructure of the DVR statewide transition program of 
specialized VR counselors  

Vermont took a life span view in our response to the Pre-ETS requirement. Since DVR was going to 

invest 15% or more of its resources providing Pre-ETS for high school students, we wanted to make 

there was VR capacity to serve them if they graduated on to VR services Therefore, Vermont invested 



 

 

 

23 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

an equivalent amount of resources in youth post high school to preserve DVR’s investment in Pre-ETS 

and to ensure eligible students had access to VR services. To achieve this DVR deployed its counselor 

resources as follows:  

• 20% of VR counselor capacity (14.5 FTEs) assigned to serving exclusively high school students, 
providing and arranging for primarily Pre-ETS Required Services 

• 20% VR counselor capacity (14.5 FTEs) assigned to youth or young adults in the senior year of 
high school or after high school exit (18-27) 

• 60% of VR counselor capacity serving adults (27+) including Rehab Counselors for the Deaf 
 
In federal fiscal year 2017, DVR experienced a significant reduction in the VR grant award. This will 

require DVR to reduce our non-Pre-ETS counseling capacity. This has affected the number and 

deployment of counselors serving the out of school youth and young adult population. As of May 2017, 

DVR had 9 Young Adult counselors remaining from the original 14.  

 
2.  Staffing of Pre-ETS Required Services  

14.5 VR counselors providing Pre-ETS services were deployed statewide to serve all 60 supervisory 

unions in the state. VR Counselors were out posted to an average of four high schools each, to ensure 

statewide access for eligible students. The daily presence of VR counselors in local high schools allows 

them to build strong working relationships and coordinate services with school staff.  

DVR also contracted with our primary CRP VABIR, to support 14 youth employment specialists to 

provide Pre-ETS services. The school based counselors and youth employment specialists essentially 

work as a team. The focus of the youth employment specialists is work place readiness training, 

arranging for work based learning experiences and instruction in self-advocacy.  

3.  The Number and Proportion of Students Receiving Pre-ETS Services and/or VR  Services  

The number of students receiving Pre-ETS and/or VR services increased between the implementation 

of Pre-ETS in federal fiscal year 2015, and FFY 2016. This increase would be expected since Pre-ETS 

services were being ramped up during this period.  

 

TABLE 6:  STUDENTS WITH DISABILITIES SERVED- AGE 14 THROUGH 21 AT REFERRAL 
(00 status and above, open in period, in high school) 

Period Cases Persons 

FFY 2015 852 846 

FFY 2016 1,302 1,300 

 
 
During the 2016/17 school year 1,019 students with disabilities were enrolled in Pre-ETS and/or VR 

services out of a potentially eligible population of 5,390. This means 18.9% of potentially eligible 

students were receiving Pre-ETS and/or VR services during the school year. 



 

 

 

24 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

4. VR Services for Youth who have Exited High School 

VR Transition counselors transfer students to a Young Adult or Adult VR counselor prior to high school 

exit. This generally occurs in the last semester of the student’s senior year, but may occur earlier based 

on circumstance. As noted earlier, DVR developed a cadre of 14 Young Adult counselors to match the 

capacity of VR Transition counselors serving students in school. The intent was to have specialized 

Young Adult counselors who understand the needs of youth in transition. Unfortunately, due to 

reductions in federal funding, DVR no longer has the capacity in smaller offices to offer this level of 

specialization. In some offices, the Young Adult counselor role has been converted to a general 

counselor role serving all age groups. As of May 2017, DVR had 9 Young Adult counselors remaining 

from the original 14.  

DVR is concerned that the loss of Young Adult counselors may have an impact on services for youth 

who have graduated from high school. It has been Vermont’s experience that serving youth is more 

qualitative than serving adults, and requires a different approach. Historically, VR Transition 

Counselors served both in and out of school youth, and received specialized training and support 

focused on serving youth. The loss of this specialization may have an impact on youth services and 

outcomes. 

5. Supported Employment Services for Youth 

In addition to core VR services, DVR partners with other state agencies to fund the JOBS program. The 

JOBS Program is an innovative supported employment and intensive case management service for 

youth with SED, who have left or dropped out of school.  The program is voluntary and uses work as a 

means to reach this challenging population. Once engaged, youth are assisted in transitioning from 

school, prison, or the streets and supported in accessing services to help them reach their individual 

goals and achieve greater independence. The funding comes from a combination of state funds and 

Medicaid match from Vocational Rehabilitation, Mental Health, Corrections and Children and Family 

Services. 

 In addition to community and state partners, JOBS programs involve employers in meeting the needs 

of youth through intensive job development, placement, and on and off-site training support. 

Employment is a non-stigmatizing service that youth want and need. JOBS programs differ from other 

traditional employment models by providing intensive case management services to assist with other 

areas of need including legal issues, benefits counseling, homelessness, drug/alcohol abuse, and 

probation and parole. 

6. Supported Employment for Youth with Disabilities  

Vermont has a very strong supported employment infrastructure for youth with developmental 

disabilities that has been recognized both nationally and internationally.  Employment retention for 

eligible students who exit high school with a job is a priority for the Developmental Disabilities Services 



 

 

 

25 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

Division (DDSD), and is included in their System of Care Plan. This creates a strong incentive for schools 

and DVR to help youth with developmental disabilities find employment before they exit high school.  

DVR and DDSD collaborate to identify students who have a developmental disability and are likely to 

graduate. The June Graduates survey assists DDSD and DVR to effectively plan for transitioning 

students district by district. It also allows DDSD to predict caseload funding needs statewide.  

DVR has also partnered with DDSD to provide post secondary education options for individuals with 

developmental disabilities. Vermont has four post secondary programs for individuals with 

developmental disabilities including Project Search, SUCCEED, and College Steps. In general DVR funds 

tuition and ancillary supports and DDSD funds staffing costs.  

7. The Number and Proportion of Youth Receiving VR Services 

Transition and Pre-ETS services naturally overlap to a significant degree. As noted, the VR Transition 

counselors are exclusively serving the student population in partnership with the contracted VABIR 

Youth Employment Specialists. Youth who have exited high school are served by a VR counselor 

specializing in youth and young adults or a general counselor. The total number of youth served by VR 

has increased modestly since 2015, most likely due to the increase in students served under Pre-ETS.  

 

TABLE 7:  YOUTH  WITH DISABILITIES SERVED- AGE 14 THROUGH 24 AT REFERRAL 
(00 status and above, open in period) 

Period Cases Persons 

FFY 2015 3229 3091 

FFY 2016 3320 3202 

 

 

Based on the ACS data, DVR estimates there were 8,600 youth with disabilities in the state of Vermont 

in 2015. DVR served 3,091 youth with disabilities during federal fiscal year 2015. This suggests that DVR 

is serving up to 35% of the eligible population. As noted earlier, DVR suspects the ACS data may 

underestimate the true number of youth with disabilities because young people often do not want to 

identify as having a disability.  

 

8. The Coordination of VR Pre-ETS and Transition Services with Services Provided Under IDEA.  

DVR coordinates VR services with services provided under IDEA (Individuals with Disabilities Education 

Act) at both the state and local level.  

 

State Level 

The Vermont Agency of Education (AOE) and DVR have agreed to meet quarterly to discuss the 

coordination of services within local school districts.  In general, those meetings include the following: 

• The DVR Director 



 

 

 

26 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

• The DVR Transition Program Director 

• The AOE Special Education Director 

• The AOE Postsecondary and Transition Coordinator 

 

In addition to the above, DVR and AOE have frequent ad hoc meetings related to transition services 

and to plan joint initiatives. DVR and AOE are currently collaborating around the implementation of the 

Linking Learning to Careers demonstration funded through the federal Department of Education.  LLC 

is an exciting new opportunity to improve career and college readiness outcomes for Vermont high 

school students with disabilities. This 5-year statewide initiative will build on effective career 

exploration and employment services already provided to students, and engage them in additional 

experiences that will help them successfully transition from high school into adulthood. LLC is a 

powerful collaboration of the following partners: Community College of VT (CCV), VABIR, the Agency of 

Education, high schools, career and technical education centers, and DVR. It is expected that the 

partnership with CCV in particular will open up postsecondary education opportunities for students 

with disabilities.   

Local Level 

A primary responsibility of the VR Transition counselor is to coordinate services with the schools. VR 

Transition counselors spend the bulk of their time in schools, working directly with special education 

staff and teachers to provide services to students. This strong on the ground presence allows VR 

Transition counselors and school staff to build close and collaborative working relationships.  

In order to improve transition outcomes for students, DVR took the lead in forming core transition 

teams in all twelve districts last year. The purpose of the core transition team is to bring DVR, schools, 

and community agencies together to improve collaboration around services for transitioning students. 

The core teams include: 

• Local school staff 

• DVR 

• Developmental services providers 

• Children’s and adult mental health providers 

• The Department of Labor youth staff 

• Other youth programs 

The core transition teams are still in the early development. As of May 2017, all 12 have had at least 

one meeting.  

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

27 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

C.   VERMONT FAMILY NETWORK SURVEY AND FOCUS GROUP DATA 

In the spring of 2016, DVR contracted with VFN, the Parent Information Center for the State of 

Vermont, to conduct a youth student survey and four focus groups with students and families. In total, 

44 students and 11 family members either responded to the survey or attended a focus group meeting. 

The purpose of both of these initiatives, was to solicit direct feedback from students and families for 

the Vermont needs assessment.   

The following themes emerged from the results of the VFN survey and focus groups: 

• Many families felt they were not well informed about the IEP (Individualized Education Plan) 

and transition planning process through the schools. They wanted: 

• A clear process outlining all the steps 

• Information on postsecondary training and training opportunities 

• Transition professionals to spend time with students and families to listen to their concerns and 

have a genuine interest in the transition outcome.   

• Students surveyed identified the following issues as a barrier to their dream job: 

o Paying for college or postsecondary training (31%) 

o Lack of support (26%) 

o Lack of information about options (15%)  

o Transportation (13%) 

o Other barriers (15%)  

• Students and families identified finding employment at a level that a person can support 

themselves on independently is a priority.  

• About half of the students and families who participated were not familiar with DVR services or 

their local DVR Transition counselor 

• Students who had done work experiences expressed more confidence in their ability to work 

than those who had not.  

• Students’ career goals are very diverse and aspirational. Almost all of the expressed career 

goals require some form of post-secondary education or training.  

 

D.   SUMMARY FINDINGS 
 
Strengths of the Vermont System 

• In the school year 2016-17, approximately 1 in 5 (18.5%) eligible students received Pre-ETS 

services statewide. This suggests DVR has been successful in making Pre-ETS services accessible 

to eligible students. 



 

 

 

28 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

• Overall, youth with disabilities appear to be accessing DVR services at a high rate (up to 35% of 

the eligible population). This data suggests DVR has been successful in making services 

accessible to youth.  

• DVR has a strong collaborative partnership with AOE at the state level. At the local level, almost 

all Vermont high schools are working in partnership with DVR to facilitate the provision of and 

access to Pre-ETS and transition services. 

• Vermont has a good infrastructure to provide supported employment for youth with 

developmental disabilities and emotional/behavioral disabilities.  

Areas for Development in the Vermont System 

• Core transition teams have formed and met in all 12 Agency of Human Services districts. Most 

are in the early development stage however, and are working out local processes and 

agreements. These teams will need time and support to become fully functional and effective 

groups. 

• Youth with disabilities are less likely to obtain competitive employment during the transition 

years. Early employment experiences are a strong predictor of adult employment success. 

According to VFN, students who have had work experiences expressed more confidence in their 

ability to work. This suggests youth need more opportunities for real work based learning 

experiences and/or competitive employment. 

• Post-secondary education and training opportunities are key for students and youth with 

disabilities to access higher wage jobs and develop long term career opportunities. Students 

and youth with disabilities are less likely than their peers without disabilities, to access 

postsecondary education. 

 
 
 

V.   CONSUMER SATISFACTION SURVEY 

 

 

In the spring of 2016, DVR contracted with Market Decisions, a research firm based in Maine, to survey 

a random sampling of DVR consumers. This was the sixth survey conducted by Market Decisions, which 

provides DVR with the opportunity to compare satisfaction levels and look at trends across time. A 

total of 700 individuals completed the survey by telephone or mail, and the response rate was 44%. 

The Respondent Cooperation Rate was 87.9%. This is the percentage of survey respondents with which 

there was some form of contact. The Respondent Refusal Rate was 8.9%. 

 



 

 

 

29 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

Overall, a majority of customers are satisfied with the Division, are satisfied with the services they are 

receiving, and have not experienced problems. In response to the question “Would you tell your 

friends with disabilities to go to the Vermont DVR program for help?”, 95% said “Yes” This is an 

increase from 91% in 2013, and represents a strong measure of overall satisfaction with the program.  

The level of overall satisfaction among all customers also increased since the last survey. 87% were 

satisfied with DVR and 88% were satisfied with the services provided by DVR. An impressive 97% of all 

customers indicated they are treated with dignity and respect by staff, a percentage that has been 

consistent across all five surveys. Only 16% of consumers indicated that they experienced problems 

with the Division or the services the Division provided. 

Historically, the trend of over satisfaction with the program has been high, with only the 2013 survey 

showing a significant decline. DVR made a number of changes in customer service practices in response 

to that decline, so we were happy to see those numbers rebound in 2016.   

 

CHART 13 
 

 
 

 

As mentioned, only 16 % of individuals reported having problems with DVR or DVR services. This was a 

decline from 21% in 2016.  The largest number of complaints were around communication issues, e.g. 

their counselor did not return calls or was not available; their counselor did not follow-up; or there 

84% 85% 88% 90%
83%

87%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2003 2006 2008 2011 2013 2016

Q01: Overall, how satisfied are you with The Vermont 
Division of Vocational Rehabilitation's program?



 

 

 

30 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

were time lags in getting services or appointments. Other areas identified as needing quality 

improvement were: 

• Support-Consumers felt that no services were provided or that the services that were provided 

were of little help. Consumers expressed the need for more support and guidance  

• Employment-Consumers did not find employment and said they needed more assistance 

finding a job.  

• 31% of the consumers reporting problems with DVR or DVR services, felt that DVR worked to 

resolve their issues. This was an increase over 2013, when 26% felt DVR worked to resolve their 

problems.  

 

VI.   UNMET NEEDS FOR SPECIFIC POPULATIONS AND PROGRAMS 

 

 

A. NATIONAL AND VERMONT POPULATION DATA FROM THE AMERICAN COMMUNITY SURVEY (ACS) 

The American Community Survey (ACS) is a large continuous demographic survey conducted by the US 
Census Bureau. According to the survey there were 91,199 individuals with disabilities living in 
Vermont in 2015. This represents a 14.7% prevalence rate of the state population compared to 12.6% 
for the United States as a whole. The distribution by age breaks down as follows: 

 

TABLE 8: PREVALENCE OF DISABILITY BY AGE IN VERMONT 

Age Count 
Percentage of Total Vermont 

Population in Same Age Group 

Ages 5 to 15 5,540 7.6% 

Ages 16 to 64 49,076 11.9% 

Ages 65 and Over 36,286 34.2% 

 
 
TABLE 9: PREVALENCE OF DISABILITY BY AGE NATIONALLY 

Age Count 
Percentage of Total US 

Population in Same Age Group 

Ages 5 to 15 2,405,283 5.3% 

Ages 16 to 64 21,624,445 10.2% 

Ages 65 and Over 16,478,709 35.5.% 

 
 

Vermont appears to have a higher incidence of disability for working age people. This is probably in 
part due to the aging demographic of the state and the fact that Vermont has more workers in the 55-



 

 

 

31 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

64 age range. Disability prevalence, on the other hand, is higher in the youngest age group of 5 to 15. 
Because of the small numbers, ACS data is less reliable for the subset data.   
 
The ACS divides disabilities into four categories – ambulatory, cognitive, hearing, and vision – as 
defined below:   

• Ambulatory:  The participant responded “Yes” when asked if they had “serious difficulty 

walking or climbing stairs” 

• Cognitive: The participant responded “Yes” when asked if, due to a physical, mental or 

emotional condition, they had “serious difficulty remembering, or making decisions” 

• Hearing:  The participant responded “Yes” when asked if they were “deaf or had serious 

difficulty hearing” 

• Vision: The participant responded “Yes” when asked if they were “blind or had serious difficulty 

seeing, even when wearing glasses”  

The following chart outlines the distribution of disability type as reported in the ACS for individuals of 
traditional working age (16 to 64). 

 

TABLE 10: DISTRIBUTION OF DISABILITY TYPE FOR CIVILIANS AGED 16 TO 65 IN VERMONT2 

Disability Type Count 
Percentage of Total Vermont 

Population Aged 16 to 64 

Ambulatory 20.212  31.8% 

Cognitive 23,094 36.4% 

Hearing 13,197 20.7% 

Vision 7,010 11% 

 
 
It is important to note that in the American Community Survey, disability type is self-reported. It is 
possible that because of stigma, cognitive disabilities are under reported.    

Employment Rates of Working Age Adults 
The ACS collects data on the employment status of all Americans. In 2015, Vermont had a higher rate 
of employment for working age adults than the national average. The rate of employment for people 
with disabilities in Vermont was also higher than the national average. However, the employment rate 
for working age adults with disabilities, is about half that of those without disabilities. Overall, the 
employment rates for both people with and without disabilities have improved since 2012, reflecting 
improvements in the overall economy.  
 
 
 
 

                                                           
2 Survey responders may have reported more than one disability type so the total exceeds 100%.  



 

 

 

32 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

TABLE 11: EMPLOYMENT RATES FOR WORKING AGE ADULTS WITH AND WITHOUT DISABILITIES 

Population Total 
Employed 

Count 
Employed 

Percentage 

US Civilians without Disabilities 177,171,000  135,004,430 76.2% 

Vermont Civilians without Disabilities 349,000 283,732 81.3% 

US Civilians with Disabilities 20,482,800 7,168,980 35.% 

Vermont Civilians with Disabilities 47,800 19,646 41.1% 

 
 
The employment rates for working age Vermonters break down by disability type as follows:  
 
 
TABLE 12: EMPLOYMENT RATES OF VERMONTERS WITH DISABILITIES BY DISABILITY TYPE 

Disability Type Total 
Employed 

Count 
Employed 

Percentage 

Ambulatory 19,900  3,383 17.0.3% 

Cognitive 21,800  7,194 33.% 

Hearing 13,300  7,5945,449 57.1 

Vision 6,600 2,713 41.4 

 

From the data presented in Table 9, it is clear that individuals with cognitive disabilities experience the 
highest levels of unemployment, followed closely by individuals with ambulatory disabilities. It is 
important to note that individuals may have reported more than one disability and therefore were 
counted more than once. 
 
 
TABLE 13: PROPORTION OF PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES OF WORKING AGE, EMPLOYED FULL TIME YEAR ROUND 

Population Total 
Employed FT 

Count 
Employed FT 
Percentage 

US Civilians without Disabilities 164,707,900  96,518,829 58.6% 

Vermont Civilians without Disabilities 320,700  200,117 62.4% 

US Civilians with Disabilities 19,703,800  4,334,836 22.0% 

Vermont Civilians with Disabilities 45,600 11,446 25.1 

 
 
The above data indicates that working age adults with disabilities are much less likely to be working full 
time and year round than people without disabilities. In Vermont, both people with and without 
disabilities are more likely to be working than the national average. The Vermont data is very 
consistent with national data in that overall people with disabilities are much less likely to be employed 
than their peers without disabilities 

 
 



 

 

 

33 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

Estimated Penetration Rate of the DVR Program 
It is possible to get a broad estimate of the penetration rate for the DVR program using ACS data. That 
is to say, what proportion of the likely DVR eligible population is accessing the DVR program? The 
following is a description of the method used to make this calculation. 

Method 
DVR took the working age population of adults with disabilities and excluded the total identified with a 
vision disability. Individuals with a vision disability would primarily be eligible for and receive services 
through the Division for the Blind and Visually Impaired. We then compared the total population of 
potentially DVR eligible individuals, to the actual number served in FFY 2016. This number does not 
include high school students receiving Pre-ETS services only.   
 
 
TABLE 14: POTENTIAL NUMBER OF ELIGIBLE CONSUMERS 

Population Total 2013 Total 2016 

Vermont Civilians with Disabilities 18-64 49,029 47,800 

Vermont Civilians with a Vision Related Disability 6,556 6,600 

Total Civilians with Disabilities Potentially Eligible for DVR 42,473 41,200 

Total Number Served by DVR in  (not including Pre-ETS) 7,513 8,827 

Estimated Proportion of Potential Eligible Individuals Served by DVR 17.6% 21.4% 

 

The above data shows that in FFY 16 an estimated 21.4% of the eligible population (or more than one 
in five) was receiving services from DVR. This is a very high participation rate in the program in 
Vermont, and reflects well on the reputation of the DVR in the community. 

A concern going forward, is that DVR has experienced a dramatic reduction in federal funding which 
has resulted in a loss of capacity. This may impact DVR’s ability to serve all eligible individuals 
interested in employment.  

Adults of Working Age Receiving Social Security Disability Benefits  
Another way to assess potential unmet need is to look at population data for adults receiving Social 
Security Administration (SSA) disability benefits. Individuals who receive Social Security Disability 
Insurance (SSDI) or Supplemental Security Income (SSI) benefits are categorically eligible for vocational 
rehabilitation services. 

To be eligible for SSI or SSDI benefits, an individual must be deemed too severely disabled to work at a 
substantial level. In general, individuals who receive SSI or SSDI benefits have more significant barriers 
to employment than individuals with disabilities who are not eligible for these benefits. 

The most accurate way to assess the level of participation of SSI and SSDI recipients in vocational 
rehabilitation services by state, is through the SSA Ticket to Work program. State VR and Blind agencies 
are required to report to SSA the names of beneficiaries for whom the Ticket is “in use.” This data is 



 

 

 

34 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

used to determine payment to VR agencies under the Ticket to Work or Cost Reimbursement 
programs. 
 
 
TABLE 15: SSA DISABILITY BENEFICIARIES SERVED 

 
Total Working Age 

SSI and SSDI Population 

Number Who Have 
Received 

VR Services3 

Percentage 
Served 

National 13,679,629 

 
342,906 

 
2.5% 

Vermont 33,101 

 
4,048 12.2% 

 
 
Based on Ticket to Work data,Vermont DVR is serving almost five times more SSI and SSDI beneficiaries 
than the national average.  
 
 
B. INDIVIDUALS WHO ARE MINORITIES AND ELIGIBLE FOR DVR SERVICES 

The ACS provides data on disability and race by state. Overall, 3.8% of Vermonters are from an ethnic 
minority. The following table shows the ACS estimates of the incidence of disability by race. 

 
TABLE 16: INCIDENCE OF DISABILITY BY RACE FOR ADULTS AGED 18 TO 64 

Race 
Total Number 

 of Working Age 
Percentage Reporting 

a Disability 
Estimated Potential 

VR Eligible Consumers 

White  346,300  11.9  41,209 

Black/African American 6,000 20.2% 1,212 

Asian  5,600  22.4% 1,254104 

American Indian  1,900  16.5  313 

 
 
The disability rates for African Americans and Asians in Vermont exceed the national average. 
However, the estimates for the Vermont non-white populations with disabilities are from sample sizes 
of less than 40 people and too small to be statistically reliable. As a result, this data may substantially 
over state the actual rate of disability in these groups.  

Vermont VR has consistently exceeded the federal RSA standard and indicator that measures access to 
services by eiligble individuals who are minorities. In FFY 2016, 7% of DVR closures were for individuals 
from an ethnic minority. Given this data it appears that individuals with disabilities from ethnic 
minorities are accessing the VR program at a rate proportional to individuals who are white. 

                                                           
3 This includes individuals served by both the General VR and/or Blind Agency. 



 

 

 

35 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

C. THE NEED FOR SUPPORTED EMPLOYMENT SERVICES 

Overview 

The State of Vermont has a well-established infrastructure of supported employment services for 

adults with developmental disabilities through the Developmental Disabilities Services Division (DDSD) 

Program, and adults with psychiatric disabilities through the Community Rehabilitation and Treatment 

program (CRT). The long-term supports are funded through the DDSD Medicaid Waiver and CRT 

Medicaid case rate, respectively. Participation in these programs is limited to individuals who meet the 

eligibility requirements for the CRT and DDSD programs. In addition to receiving Medicaid Waiver 

services, an individual must also meet the DDSD System of Care Priorities. 

In addition, DVR also supports the JOBS supported employment program for youth.   The JOBS program 

is a partnership between the Departments of Corrections (DOC), Mental Health (DMH), Children and 

Families (DCF), and DVR to provide supported employment and case management services for at risk 

youth with emotional and behavioral disabilities.  

Adults with Psychiatric Disabilities 

Community Rehabilitation and Treatment (CRT) Program 

Up until SFY 2016, VR and the Department of Mental Health have jointly funded supported 
employment for adults served through CRT since the late 1980s. CRT provides intensive community 
based services for adults with major psychiatric disabilities. The program served 2,433 people in State 
Fiscal Year (SFY) 2016.  

Because DVR had to reassign resources to meet the Pre-ETS requirement, the agency decided to end 
the ongoing funding commitment to CRT supported employment in SFY 16. This funding commitment 
was approximately $600,000 per year. It was a very difficult decision for DVR to make given the needs 
of this population. DVR and DMH worked with the Designated Agencies to help them use Medicaid 
case rate funding to sustain supported employment capacity in their CRT programs, and  nine out of 
ten were successful. DVR continues to provide additional employment supports including case services, 
benefits counseling and coordination around job development.  

Despite the loss of DVR funding in SFY 16, the CRT programs have been able to sustain an employment 
rate of 22%. DVR and DMH will closely monitor CRT employment outcomes in 2017 and beyond.    

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

36 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

CHART 14 

 

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

  % Employed 27% 26% 24% 20% 19% 19% 20% 22% 22% 22%

$ / Employed Client $6,389 $6,596 $6,374 $6,628 $6,418 $6,363 $6,650 $6,506 $6,812 $7,579

Fiscal Year

CRT Annual Employment Rates and Average Earnings

Vermont:  Fiscal Years 2007 - 2016

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Percent Employed

$0

$1,000

$2,000

$3,000

$4,000

$5,000

$6,000

$7,000

$8,000

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

Average Earnings

Analysis includes Community Rehabilitation and Treatment (CRT) clients aged 18 - 64 who were active during any part of 
the reporting period and includes all employment reported for the reporting period. 

This report is based on analysis of the DMH CRT and DOL databases.  DMH client data are submitted by designated 
agencies in conformance with contractual requirements.  DOL data are submitted by employers in conformance with state 
and federal laws.  Workers who are excluded from DOL reporting are the self-employed, firm owners not incorporated and 

the following employee groups: elected officials, employees of nonprofit religious, charitable and educational 
organizations, unpaid family members, farm workers (with some exceptions), railroad employees, and individuals who 
work out of state.    



 

 

 

37 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

Adults with Developmental Disabilities 

As noted, Vermont has a well-developed infrastructure for providing supported employment to adults 
with developmental disabilities. In Vermont, ten Designated Agencies and three Specialized Service 
Agencies provide supported employment to individuals who meet the DDSD eligibility and System of 
Care priorities. DVR provides grant funds to each of the agencies to fund the initial placement and 
supports for eligible consumers. Long term supports are provided through the DDSD Home and 
Community Based Waiver Program. 

In 2011 the Agency of Human Services (AHS) established performance targets for the master grant 
agreements with the Designated and Specialized Service Agencies, to include an employment rate for 
working age adults served through supported employment programs.4  For State Fiscal Years 2015 and 
2016, the employment rate target was set at 45%. 

Overall, the performance of the agencies in providing access to supported employment is very good. 
47% of developmental service consumers of working age were employed in SFY 16. This data point 
includes individuals with some substantial barriers to employment including significant health 
conditions and concurrent physical or mental health conditions.  
 
TABLE 17 EMPLOYMENT RATE BY PROGRAM 

                                                           
4 The employment rate is the percentage of working age adults who were employed at any time during the State Fiscal 
Year.  

DS Program 
Employment Rate 

SFY 2015 
Employment Rate 

SFY 2016 

Champlain Community Services 72% 75% 

Counseling Service of Addison County 59% 61% 

Health Care & Rehabilitation Services of SE Vermont 54% 52% 

Howard Center for Human Services 47% 48% 

Lamoille Community Connections 59% 62% 

Lincoln Street 63% 63% 

Northeast Kingdom Human Services 42% 38% 

Northwestern Counseling & Support 42% 40% 

Rutland Mental Health Services 35% 34% 

Sterling Area Services 24% 41% 

United Counseling Service of Bennington 54% 49% 

Upper Valley Services 53% 56% 

Washington County Mental Health Services 42% 39% 

DS Overall Average 45% 47% 



 

 

 

38 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

D.  OTHER UNSERVED OR UNDERSERVED INDIVIDUALS WITH DISABILITIES 

1. Older Vermonters with Disabilities  
The percentage of individuals with disabilities age 55 and above, increased from 12.3% to 13.9% 
between 2013 and 2016. This seems to reflect the overall aging of the Vermont demographic. The 
percentage of people served over 65 also increased during this period, from 1% to 3%. Individuals over 
the age of 55 are working longer, not only for financial reasons but because people are living longer 
and choosing to remain in the workforce. It is likely that many individuals over the age of 55 experience 
disabilities and may be eligible for VR services. DVR now oversees the Senior Community Service 
Employment Program (SCSEP), and has hired an “Mature Worker Program Coordinator”. A primary role 
of the coordinator is to facilitate the referral of eligible individuals to DVR, by building and supporting 
strong linkages with services for mature workers.   

2. Individuals with Physical Disabilities  
DVR suspects that individuals with physical disabilities may be underserved, especially since the 
number of individuals with psychiatric disorders and substance disorders has increased. It may be that 
individuals with physical disabilities are not seeking services because their needs are less complex. In 
addition, DVR recognizes that employers require a more diverse selection of candidates to fill more 
skilled positions. Although DVR has initiated preliminary outreach to medical providers and community 
partners to diversify its caseload, more systematic and strategic planning is required. 

3. Individuals with Traumatic Brain Injury (TBI)  
It is estimated that at least 10,000 Vermonters are recovering from brain injury, but less than 5% of 
these individuals are seeking services to help them succeed in the workplace. DVR counselors and CRP 
(Community Rehabilitation Provider) staff have received training on TBI. There are no discrete 
employment services for individuals with TBI.  

 

E.  INDIVIDUALS WITH DISABILIAITES SERVED THROUGH THE STATEWIDE WORKFORCE INVESTMENT SYSYEM 

DVR and DOL have a strong history of collaboration around serving individuals with disabilities. DVR 
and DOL cooperate at the local level to serve individuals on mutual caseloads, and in some districts 
DVR and DOL are co-located. DVR Regional Managers routinely meet with their local VDOL 
counterparts. DOL staff sit on DVR led Creative Workforce Solutions teams that coordinate outreach to 
local employers. DVR counselors and DOL staff frequently share the cost of training programs and 
other return to work activities for individual consumers. DOL staff have consulted with DVR and the 
State Assistive Technology Program about accessibility for DOL programs and services.  
 

 
F.  NEEDS FOR CPR PROGRAMS 

Because of the small population and rural nature of Vermont, there are very few CRPs in the state. 
VABIR (the Vermont Association of Business, Industry and Rehabilitation) is the primary CRP for the 
DVR program with the exception of supported employment. VABIR has capacity to serve DVR 
consumers statewide and has an excellent track record. VABIR also serves individuals without 
disabilities through the state TANF program.  



 

 

 

39 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

DVR provides grants to Vermont’s Designated Agencies for employment services for individuals with 
developmental disabilities and individuals with severe and persistent psychiatric disabilities. Easter 
Seals also has a small presence in Vermont. While DVR is open to supporting the development of new 
CRPs as well as existing CRPs who come to Vermont,  there is limited funding available to support 
multiple agencies. 
 
DVR partnered with other state agencies, VABIR and the Designated Agencies, to create an online 
training program for CRP staff hosted by Community College of Vermont. The program allows cohorts 
of employment staff to access training statewide. The content is modified to the specific populations 
served.  
 
 

VII.   SUMMARY OF MAJOR FINDINGS 

 
 
Based on the data gathered and discussions with the State Rehabilitation Council, DVR Senior and 
Regional Managers, and the DVR Implementation Team, the following are the key findings (not in 
priority order): 

1. The need for increased attention to the employment needs of the mature worker. 
Despite a very modest increase, the overall percentage of VR consumers over 65 remains very low (3% 
in FFY 2016). This is despite the fact that Vermont has an aging demographic. Older Vermonters are 
increasingly staying in the workforce beyond normal retirement age for financial reasons or just 
because they want to. Many mature workers may experience age related disabilities and could benefit 
from DVR services. It is not clear why they are not seeking DVR services in greater numbers, and this is 
an area DVR may need to research in partnership with programs serving older Vermonters.  

2. DVR needs to identify and implement strategies to increase consumer hourly wages at closure. 
In FFY 16 55% of individuals were closed earning less than 110% of minimum wage. While this can 
partly be explained by the concurrent increases in the state minimum wage in 2015 and 2016, it is still 
an area of concern. The minimum wage in Vermont was $9.60 in 2016. This compares to a median 
hourly wage for all occupations in Vermont of $18.23 for 2016. While entry level employment is 
appropriate for some consumers, DVR should be looking at ways for individuals to move up the career 
ladder into higher wage employment.  

 
3. DVR consumers need opportunities to gain industry recognized credentials in middle skills 

professions. 
DVR data suggests that consumers who gain industry recognized certifications such as Licensed Nursing 
Assistant (LNA) or Commercial Driver’s License, are closed in higher wage employment.  Such middle 
skill certifications are often the quickest way to help individuals move from entry level employment to 
higher paying employment with genuine career prospects. There is a high demand from employers for 
individuals with these types of certifications.  Historically, DVR has set aside case service funds to 
support consumers in certification programs. DVR may need to expand these set asides and look at 
more system wide efforts to make these opportunities available. 



 

 

 

40 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

 
4. The implementation of Pre-ETS has shifted the DVR caseload to serve a higher proportion of 

younger people. 
The implementation of Pre-ETS appears to have had the effect of skewing the entire VR caseload 
towards a younger age group. This is in part because VR also added Young Adult counselors to meet 
the needs of students who engaged with VR as high school students and needed to transition into the 
adult caseload. DVR may need to consider new ways of providing dervices to younger people that 
matches their specific interests and needs. DVR may also need to pay attention to the needs of adults 
35 and older. The number of adults age 35 to 55 has dropped significantly since the implementation of 
Pre-ETS. While this change in the overall caseload is predictable, DVR should be careful not to overlook 
the needs of this age group.    

 
5. The loss of reallotment funding requires DVR to plan and manage services with reduced 

resources. 
As previously noted, the loss in reallotment funds resulted in significant cuts to the DVR program in FFY 
17. DVR has managed those reductions while retaining the core of the program. Going forward DVR 
will develop and implement strategies to offset this loss through: 

• Support-Consumers felt that no services were provided or that the services that were provided 

were of little help. Consumers expressed the need for more support and guidance  

• Partnerships with other programs and state systems to sustain employment services for people 

with disabilities 

• Increasing program income through Ticket to Work and other opportunities 

• Looking for federal and state grant opportunities to pilot new service models 

DVR will also need to continually assess the assignment of resources and their impact on consumer 
services and outcomes. With limited resources it is especially important DVR invest funds in activities 
that are most likely to result in high quality employment outcomes.  
 
6. DVR must develop strategies to meet and exceed the outcome targets under the Common 

Performance Measures. 
The WIOA Common Performance measures significantly change the way DVR is measured. The 
emphasis on career development, credential attainment, and measurable skill gains, will require DVR 
to consider changing current practice. As previously noted, DVR will be looking at strategies to increase 
wages and assist consumers in obtaining industry recognized credentials. In addition DVR will look at 
how to help consumers develop a career path.   
 
7. DVR should consider developing job coach capacity for adults and youth with severe disabilities 

who are not eligible for existing supported employment programs.  
DVR has recognized for many years that there are consumers with significant disabilities who require 
on the job support to maintain employment, but who are not eligible for existing supported 
employment programs, like CRT or Developmental Services. These include individuals with TBI, 
psychiatric disabilities, developmental disabilities, and individuals with multiple disabilities. Field staff 
have recently experimented with hiring job coaches directly as temporary state employees, instead of 



 

 

 

41 Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment – 2017 

contracting out for the service. This approach has proved more flexible and responsive to consumer 
needs. It also may be more cost effective. 
 
8. The need for sector-based training and collaboration with technical centers. 
Training programs, particularly for youth who are not planning to go to college, are inconsistently 
available across the state. Technical Centers connected to high schools sometimes offer adult training 
and some have been willing to work with employers to develop sector-based training programs. A 
more systematic approach to training would ensure that employers are able to hire skilled workers for 
available positions within their companies. 
 
9. The need for a comprehensive quality assurance system incorporating the new AWARE case 

management system . 
VR would like to develop a quality assurance system that will ensure a cycle of continuous 
improvement. VR is part of a New England effort to develop such a system. The system would organize 
and align a state’s organizational goals and objectives; performance measures; program evaluation; 
data analysis; and dissemination and communication strategies. In September 2017 DVR went live with 
an electronic case management system, called AWARE.  Aware is a powerful tool that is capable of 
producing data that managers and staff can use to inform practice and support quality work. DVR is 
still in the process of understanding how Aware works and how best to use it. DVR is a data driven 
organization and AWARE significantly upgrades our capacity to use data effectively.  
 



 

 

 

 

Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA) Unified and 
Combined State Plan Requirements 

 

 

VI. Program-Specific Requirements for Core State Plan Programs 

VOCATIONAL REHABILITATION 

 

Program Year 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

(a) Input of the State Rehabilitation Council. 

 

(1) Input provided by the State Rehabilitation Council. 

The State Rehabilitation Council (SRC) and DVR continue to enjoy a collaborative working 
relationship. SRC members are invited to participate on various DVR planning and implementation 
committees. The DVR Director provides quarterly written and oral updates on programs, activities, and 
outcomes. In addition, DVR Program Managers, Regional Managers and field staff frequently make 
presentations to the full SRC and gather feedback and suggestions to improve services. The following is 
a summary of the SRC’s activities taken directly from the 2017 SRC annual report. For more 
information on the VT SRC and a copy of this report go to www.VTSRC.org  

SRC Steering Committee Report by Adam Leonard, SRC Chair 

The Vermont State Rehabilitation Council (SRC) Steering Committee is charged with the task of 
considering and deciding upon necessary SRC business between meetings of the full Council. The 
Committee set agendas for the full Council meetings taking into consideration topics most pertinent and 
timely to the operation of the SRC. The Steering Committee achieved its goal and guided the VT SRC to 
a very productive year.  

The largest issue that the affected VT DVR was the significant reduction in re-allotment funding DVR 
received. DVR’s re-allotment funding was reduced 76% year over year leading to a multi-million-dollar 
budget shortfall in the 2016-2017 fiscal year. The Steering Committee was intimately involved in 
advocacy work around this issue, working with VT state legislators to propose long term financial 
solutions, as well as working closely with VT VR to understand the operational impact of this 
unexpected funding loss.  

Another major focus area for the SRC this year was to better understand the services VT DVR was 
providing to youth. This interest was sparked by the strong emphasis on youth services in WIOA. To 
that end the Steering Committee scheduled a youth themed SRC meeting in June with a panel of youth 
who had previously or were currently receiving services from DVR as well as a panel of staff members 
from DVR, VABIR and the schools who all work with youth. The panels were very successful and well 
received by the SRC.  

Additionally, many changes were made this year that were organizationally impactful to the SRC. First a 
decision was made to dissolve the Advocacy Outreach and Education Committee. The Steering 
Committee felt the work of the AOE Committee could be done on an as needed basis by specially 
selected SRC members as part of a subcommittee. Although this change was implemented there 
continues to be discussion by the SRC on whether the AOE Committee should be reinstituted. Secondly, 
the decision was made to combine the October SRC meeting and the SRC Annual Retreat into one 
single event. The committee felt asking SRC members to commit to two meetings in one month was 
potentially burdensome. The committee planned this year’s retreat to also include agenda items that 
would typically be covered in the full SRC meeting to combine the two events. Finally, it was proposed 
that to expand the size of the Steering Committee that Sam Liss and Adam Leonard should step down 

http://www.vtsrc.org/


from their roles as chairs of the Policy and Procedures and Performance Review Committees 
respectively. As Chair and Vice Chair of the SRC as well as committee chairs they were filling multiple 
seats on the Steering Committee, thereby reducing the total number of members on the Steering 
Committee. These transitions occurred starting in June and Julia Burakian and Sherrie Brunelle stepped 
into the roles of Performance Review Chair and Policy and Procedures Chair respectively. 

SRC Performance Review Committee Report by Adam Leonard, P&P Committee Chair 

The SRC Performance Review (PR) Committee is responsible for reviewing, analyzing and advising 
DVR on its performance in fulfilling its mission and responsibilities. This year the PR Committee 
focused much of its efforts on understanding VR’s performance in relation to the new standards set forth 
in WIOA. This included examining the technical guidance received from RSA and its implications for 
VT VR. 

In February 2017 the PR committee heard from Alice Porter regarding the RSA Technical Assistance 
Circular (TAC) which provided clarification on how RSA would be calculating the Common 
Performance Measures. The committee learned that VT DVR submitted written comments to RSA and 
many of their suggestions and concerns were addressed in the TAC.  VR was asked about goals for 
2016-2017 now that guidance on measuring the indicators was in place. The committee learned that 
because this is a new way for DVR to measure outcomes that 2016-2017 will be a baseline year, and 
goals will be set for future years based on this year’s results. 

Additionally, the committee examined the RSA guidance around what expenses can be considered Pre-
employment Transition Services (Pre-ETS) expenses.  We learned that the tracking required by RSA 
will be more cumbersome than hoped and requires counselors to delineate many of their duties between 
Pre-ETS and non-Pre-ETS work. However, we were glad to hear RSA and shared with VT DVR that the 
way in which they were tracking expenses was being done correctly. 

In alignment with our focus on WIOA and Pre-ETS impact the PR Committee asked for an overview of 
the youth survey and listening sessions conducted by the Vermont Family Network (VFN) for DVR. 
Martha Frank from VFN shared these results with us. One of the major takeaways from this valuable 
gathering of information was that VT VR still has a large opportunity to increase awareness about VR 
and the services VR offers to youth with disabilities and their families.  

The PR Committee also had the opportunity to see the results of one of its initiatives from last year, the 
Consumer Orientation. Samantha Brennan presented the new Consumer Orientation. The new program 
was designed in part because of the PR Committee’s examination of the previous program from last 
year. The committee was excited to hear about the coming changes to the program.  

SRC Policy & Procedures Committee Report by Sam Liss, P&P Committee Chair 

FFY 2017 was another productive year for the SRC Policy and Procedures Committee. Four meetings 
were held between October and September 2017. One meeting was canceled. 

The focus of the committee’s work this year was reviewing, revising, and approving changes in the 
manual chapters needed to comply with the Federal Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA) 
regulations that guide the work of the Division of Vocational Rehabilitation Services (DVR). The 
Committee also reviewed and revised other chapters upon recommendation of the SRC Client 
Assistance Program (CAP) representative and other P&P Committee members.  



In total, the Committee reviewed, revised and approved six (6) chapters for public comment. These 
chapters became final on July 1, 2017. Key changes included: 

• Emphasizing “competitive, integrated employment” for all consumers; 
• Including “advancement in employment” as an appropriate employment outcome; 
• Clarifying the requirement to develop and complete an Individual Plan for Employment (IPE) for 

an eligible consumer within 90-days; and  
• Defining clear procedures and timelines in the appeals process. 

The Committee began work on additional chapters. The first is a new chapter that will provide guidance 
to VR staff on the provision of Pre-Employment Transition Services (Pre-ETS) for youth, a new 
requirement under WIOA. The new chapter was published in December 2017. The second is the 
revision of the chapter providing guidance on VR funding of hearing aids. Work on this chapter will 
continue into FFY 2018. 

The committee agreed to review Chapter 310 related to supported employment to clarify the substance 
of the chapter. The committee also agreed to develop two (2) new chapters on Cost-Sharing and Denial 
of Benefits. The committee decided not to develop a Progressive Employment chapter. 

In addition to work on the Policy and Procedures Manual, the Committee discussed two possible 
changes to the SRC bylaws. One is related to the advocacy function of the SRC. It was deferred for 
further discussion and consideration. The other, proposed adding “a parent or another immediate family 
member of a person with a disability” to the requisite criterion for the position of Chair or Vice-Chair of 
the SRC.  This proposed change conforms to parallel provisions in bylaws of similar 
councils/committees. This proposed change was approved by the committee and voted on by the full 
SRC at the October 2017 meeting.  

(2) The designated State unit’s response to the Council’s input and recommendations. 

DVR has a strong collaborative relationship with the SRC. DVR and the SRC worked very closely 
together to develop the State Plan and in particular, the goals and priorities. 

The SRC recommends that: 
• The DVR bi-annual satisfaction survey include students who are receiving Pre-ETS services. 

(Goal 5) 
• DVR’s plan to mitigate the loss of re-allotment funds include specific targets and measures. 

(Goal 8) 
• DVR’s plan tp establish supported employment services for unserved populations include 

specific targets for consumers served. (Goal 10) 
 

(3) The designated State unit’s explanations for rejecting any of the Council’s input or 
recommendations. 

 Not Applicable 
 
 
 
 
(b) Request for Waiver of State Wideness. 



 

(1) A local public agency will provide the non-Federal share of costs associated with the services to be 
provided. 
Vermont DVR is not requesting a waiver of state wideness. 
 

(2) The designated State unit will approve each proposed service before it is out into effect.  
Not applicable 
  

(3) All state plan requirements will apply. 
Requirements of the VR portion of the Unified or Combined State Plan will apply to the services 
approved under the waiver. 

Not applicable 

 

 

(c) Cooperative Agreements with Agencies Not Carrying Out Activities under the Statewide Workforce 
      Development System. 
 
 

(1) Federal, State, and local agencies and programs. 

Vermont DVR participated in a joint grant application with the Department of Children and Families, 
the Department of Labor, and Community College of Vermont to serve SNAP Beneficiaries. It is a 
SNAP Employment and Training grant designed to target beneficiaries who are recent offenders, 
individuals with substance abuse disorders and/or are homeless. The design has implemented clinical 
assessments to determine which beneficiaries are potentially eligible for DVR services. The design 
models the coordinated approach to services envisioned under WIOA. The project began enrolling 
individuals in FFY 17. As of December 2017 over 2,700 individuals have been enrolled.  

Vermont DVR has a partnership with its Employee Assistance Program (EAP); the Vermont 
Association of Business, Industry and Rehabilitation (VABIR); and the State of Vermont Office of 
Child Support (OCS), to serve non-custodial parents with disabilities. The program, called Work4Kids, 
is offered statewide with designated VR Counselors in each region. VR Counselors provide a range of 
services to help Work4Kids participants obtain and sustain employment, so they can consistently meet 
their child support obligations. These services include vocational and other assessments, creating an 
individualized plan to address potential barriers to employment, counseling and guidance, and referral to 
other service providers when appropriate. In addition, each VR Counselor works with an Employment 
Consultant (VABIR), who provides assistance in work search, job placement and post-employment 
services. For individuals presenting multiple barriers to employment, an individualized service model is 
utilized. The approach focuses on progressive steps to employment including company tours, 
informational interviews, work experiences, community service placements, work assessments, and job 
shadowing. Many non-custodial parents with disabilities have never been helped in any way by the 
State. Reaching out to and assisting this population has produced positive outcomes. DVR has assisted 
many Work4Kids participants in securing employment. To date, non-custodial parents referred to the 



Work4Kids program are paying approximately five times the amount of child support compared with 
those not referred to the program.  

DVR also serves offenders with disabilities to achieve employment. Employment is a critical component 
to prevent recidivism and to assist offenders released from prison in successful reintegration into their 
communities. DVR has designated VR Counselors in each district office to serve as a single point of 
contact for the Department of Corrections. Currently there is one Offender Reentry Employment 
Specialist based in Burlington who is dedicated to employment assistance to offenders with disabilities. 
Jointly funded by VR and the Department of Corrections, this specialist runs employment groups and 
does one-on-one job placement for individuals exiting jail or who are on probation.  

(2) State programs carried out under section 4 of the Assistive Technology Act of 1988. 
The State Assistive Technology (AT) program is housed within the Division of Vocational 
Rehabilitation as part of the Department of Disabilities Aging and Independent Living (DAIL). The AT 
staff are housed in DVR and receive operational and business office support through DAIL. DVR 
provides funding for AT services for eligible consumers that are not covered under the Tech Act. 
 

(3) Programs carried out by the Under Secretary for Rural Development of the United States 
Department of Agriculture. 
None 
 

(4) Non-educational agencies serving out-of-school youth.  
DVR has a long-standing agreement with the Department of Mental Health, Children’s Unit, 
Department of Corrections, and Department for Children and Families to fund the JOBS program 
serving youth with emotional/behavioral disabilities. The JOBS program is a supported employment 
program serving youth with emotional behavioral disabilities ages 14 to 22. The partnering departments 
provide the state general fund match for the Medicaid Global Commitment to fund the ongoing support 
services. The JOBS programs are housed within the Designated Community Mental Health Agencies 
within the twelve Agency of Human Services Districts.  
 

(5) State use contracting programs. 
None 
 
 
 

(d) Coordination with Education Officials. 
 
 

(1) The designated State unit’s plans, policies and procedures for coordination with education 
officials to facilitate the transition of students with disabilities from school to the receipt of DVR 
services, including pre-employment transition services. 

In DVR Central Office, there is a Transition Program Director who supports all transition activities 
statewide. The DVR Transition Program Director and DVR Director routinely meet with Vermont 



Agency of Education staff to coordinate services, and include Department of Labor, Developmental 
Disabilities Service Division, and Division for the Blind and Visually Impaired staff in these meetings.   

Vermont DVR has a long-standing commitment to serve students in transition. With the passage of the 
Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA) in July 2014, DVR built on their existing 
infrastructure for transition aged youth, to implement Pre-Employment Transition Services (Pre-ETS). 
DVR currently has fourteen Transition Counselors that serve exclusively in-school students and focus 
on Pre-Employment Transition Services activities as required in WIOA. The Transition Counselors are 
operating out of all twelve DVR district offices and cover all Vermont high school districts.  Counselors 
serve as a community resource to the schools, facilitating interagency partnerships through routine Core 
Transition Team meetings in each of the twelve DVR districts. The goals of these teams are to share 
resources, partner to support youth, and act as catalysts for change to improve the transition process for 
youth with disabilities. The Transition Counselors also coordinate with Adult Counselors each spring to 
facilitate moving VR consumers to adult caseloads to ensure that students graduating and moving on to 
either post-secondary education or careers have consistent, seamless support during this important 
transition.  

To provide Pre-ETS, DVR determined we needed specialized employment placement services designed 
to meet the needs of students. Therefore, DVR created the Youth Employment Specialist model, and 
contracted with the Vermont Association of Business, Industry, and Rehabilitation (VABIR) for youth 
employment services in Vermont. VABIR provides Youth Employment Specialists (YES) to work one 
on one with Transition Counselors to support Pre-employment Transition Services (Pre-ETS) in all areas 
of the state. The YES and the Transition Counselor work as a team with each high school, and these 
teams meet regularly with the Transition Program Director to provide training and share best practices.   

The Jump on Board for Success (JOBS) program provides supported employment services for youth 
with severe emotional and behavioral disabilities. The JOBS programs are operated through local 
community mental health agencies.  JOBS staff and the Transition Counselors coordinate outreach and 
services with the local high schools for students who are at risk of dropping out of school and six 
months prior to graduation.  The Developmental Services program also works collaboratively with the 
Transition Counselors to ensure that students who may be both eligible and meet funding priorities for 
developmental services are referred through the schools to the local Designated Agencies.   

The Benefits Counseling team collaborates with the Transition Counselors to ensure that students and 
their families have access to accurate and appropriate benefits information that will allow them to make 
informed decisions around employment and education choices.  

The Linking Learning to Careers (LLC) Work-Based Learning grant funded through the Rehabilitation 
Services Administration is a five year research study to improve career and college readiness outcomes 
for Vermont high school students with disabilities. This initiative will provide qualitative and 
quantitative evidence regarding the impact of LLC services on students’ early career outcomes, 
including paid competitive employment, post-secondary school enrollment, and improved confidence to 
achieve career goals. The partnership between Community College of Vermont, Agency of Education, 
Vermont Association of Business, Industry, and Rehabilitation, high schools and career and technical 
educational centers throughout the state, and DVR, is integral to effective delivery of the services 
provided within the model.  A Linking Learning to Careers Director and Assistant Director support six 
FTE Career Consultants and two FTE Assistive Technology Specialists, who provide these 



individualized services to students in the treatment group.  As of January 2018, the program has enrolled 
over 200 VT high school students. 

(2) Information on the formal interagency agreement with the State educational agency with respect 
to: 

(A) Consultations and technical assistance to assist educational agencies in planning for the 
transition of students with disabilities from school to post school activities, including VR 
services: 

The DVR Director and DVR Transition Unit meet quarterly with the Special Education Director of 
the Vermont Agency of Education and AOE Transition staff, to coordinate the annual Transition 
Conference, to discuss support and collaboration regarding improvement for Indicators 13 and 14, 
and to stay coordinated on other transition issues. AOE Transition staff provide ongoing technical 
assistance to the DVR Transition Counselors, and the DVR Transition Counselors coordinate 
information and education with schools in their local service areas, including AOE staff attending 
the monthly DVR Transition Counselor meeting at least once a year. AOE and DVR are currently in 
the process of drafting a new Interagency Agreement as required under WIOA 

(B) Transition planning by personnel of the designated State agency and educational agency that   
facilitates the development and implementation of their individualized education programs. 

All DVR Transition Counselors use the Guide to Secondary Transition services: Helping Students 
with Disabilities Move From School to Work, with special educators in each of the high schools they 
serve. They also use the Transition Counselor Role and Responsibilities for guidance. They facilitate 
a “meet and greet” in the fall with special educators to identify specific needs, issues and obstacles in 
their schools, and create a plan to address them. Local Core Transition Team meetings are being 
reinstated around the state to support the work of Pre-ETS in WIOA. 

(C) Roles and responsibilities, including financial responsibilities, of each agency, including 
provisions for determining State lead agencies and qualified personnel responsible for 
transition services. 

Financial responsibilities are laid out in the draft MOU with AOE as follows: 

DVR/DBVI Responsibilities 

To the extent funds are available, DVR/DBVI is responsible for paying for Pre-Employment 
Transition Services for potentially eligible students. In addition, to the extent funds are available, 
DVR/DBVI is responsible for paying for vocational rehabilitation and school-to-work transition 
services for students and youth determined eligible for DVR or DBVI services with an approved 
Individual Plan for Employment (IPE). 

AOE and LEA Responsibilities 

AOE and LEAs are responsible for paying for any transition services that are also considered to be 
special education or related services necessary for providing a free appropriate public education to 
students with disabilities. 

Criteria to Determine Which Agency is Responsible to Pay for Similar Services Both Can Provide 
under Their Respective Laws 



The following criteria shall be used, when determining which entity should pay for a similar service 
that both entities can provide under their respective laws: 

The Purpose of the Service 

Is the purpose of the service primarily related to an educational outcome or an employment 
outcome?  

Customary Services 

Is the service one that the school customarily provides under IDEA Part B? For example, if a school 
ordinarily provides work-based learning experiences for students with disabilities, the fact those 
services are now authorized under the Rehabilitation Act as Pre-Employment Transition Services 
does not mean the school should cease providing those services and refer those students to DVR or 
DBVI.  

Eligibility 

Is the student with a disability eligible for transition services under IDEA? Because the definition of 
“student with a disability” for the DVR and DBVI programs includes an individual with a disability 
for purposes of section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, it is broader than the definition under IDEA. 
DVR and DBVI are authorized to provide transition services for students with disabilities who meet 
the definition of an individual with a disability for purposes of section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act.   

Nothing in this agreement is to be construed as reducing the responsibility of the local education 
agencies or any other agencies under IDEA to provide or pay for any transition services that are also 
considered to be special education or related services necessary for providing a free appropriate 
public education to students with disabilities. 

(D) Procedures for outreach to and identification of students with disabilities who need transition 
services. 

As noted, DVR has now established a cadre of 14 in school Transition Counselors who serve all 
sixty public high schools in the state. We expect their presence in the schools working with students 
as young as aged 14, will greatly improve the early identification of students who need transition 
services. Also as noted, DVR has established a cadre of Young Adult Counselors to facilitate 
transition of students from PETS to the adult DVR program. The DVR Transition Unit also 
coordinates with the Division of Developmental Services (DDS) to identify students who are likely 
to need transitional support into the adult developmental disabilities program.  

 
 
 
(e) Cooperative Agreements with Private Nonprofit Organizations. 

 

DVR maintains Social Security Administration, Ticket to Work cooperative agreements with most of the 
private non-profit employment service providers in the state. Agreements exist with all community mental 
health and developmental services agencies. In the spring of 2008, DVR negotiated a new Ticket to Work 



cooperative agreement with the agencies in anticipation of the new regulations to be published later that 
year. The new agreement has been in place since July 1, 2008 and has generated significant new revenue for 
providers that help beneficiaries earn at higher levels.  

 

 

(f) Arrangements and Cooperative Agreements for the Provision of Supported Employment. 
 
 

DVR has a well-established agreement with the Vermont Development Disabilities Services Division 
(DDSD) to provide extended services for individuals with developmental disabilities. The primary source of 
funding for extended services for individuals with developmental disabilities is Home and Community Based 
Medicaid Waiver funds.  

DVR funds supported employment services for youth with emotional/behavioral disabilities in partnership 
with the Department of Mental Health, Children’s Division. The JOBS programs are a model for serving this 
high need and high risk population. DVR provides the upfront job placement and support through grants to 
community agencies. The extended supports are provided through Medicaid Global Commitment funds.  

In prior fiscal years, DVR also had an agreement with the Department of Mental Health to provide extended 
services for adults with significant mental illness served through the Community Rehabilitation and 
Treatment Program (CRT). In July 2015, DVR decided to reallocate the VR grant funds to Pre-Employment 
Transition Services in order to meet the federal mandate. The CRT programs continue to provide supported 
employment services using a Medicaid case rate funding model. DVR continues to partner with the CRT 
programs to provide VR services at the local level.  

For individuals with other disabilities, no state funding for extended services exists in Vermont. As a result, 
there are limited options for providing extended services for individuals with brain injuries, sensory 
disabilities, severe learning disabilities and other disabilities. There are some limited options to use Social 
Security Administration Impairment Related Work Expenses or Plans to Achieve Self Support. These 
options however, are only feasible in a minority of cases.  

 

 

(g) Coordination with Employers. 
 

(1) VR Services. 
 
DUAL CUSTOMER DESIGN 

Vermont’s dual-customer approach considers both individuals with disabilities and the business 
community as key customers of the Vocational Rehabilitation program.  To that end, Vermont DVR has 
established a cadre of Business Account Managers across the state whose primary responsibilities are to 
develop and sustain relationships with the businesses in their respective communities. The Business 
Account Managers also facilitate local Employment Teams made up of the various employment 



programs serving Vermonters with disabilities. The Employment Teams are designed to improve 
collaboration between programs and streamline employer outreach in order to maximize resources and 
increase opportunities for candidates served by the Vocational Rehabilitation program.  

In addition to the Business Account Managers, Vermont DVR contracts Employment Consultants who 
provide placement services and assistance to individual candidates, including retention services. These 
Employment Consultants, in concert with their respective Business Account Managers, are in the 
community developing contacts and establishing relationships with businesses of all sizes. Due to the 
rural nature of Vermont, and the fact that trusting relationships are built over time, Vermont has 
successfully developed ways to track employer engagement.  

EMPLOYER DATA 

DVR tracks employer outreach utilizing Salesforce, a Customer Relations Management (CRM) solution 
used by many large corporations. All Business Account Managers and Employment Consultants enter 
information into this system. The information is transparent to everyone and only business information, 
not client information, is captured. To track employer engagement, the following information is 
gathered: 

Opportunities:  
Opportunities are defined as any activity, paid or unpaid, offered by a particular business. These 
activities range from informational interviews and job shadows, to short-term work experiences and paid 
employment. All opportunities are captured for each business.  
 
Contacts:  
Contacts are defined as the individuals in a business with whom Employment Consultants and/or 
Business Account Managers have developed a relationship. In many cases these contacts are Hiring 
Managers, Owners and Supervisors. 
  
Activities:  
Each time an Employment Consultant or Business Account Manager interacts with a contact, an activity 
note is entered into Salesforce. This allows all Employment Team members to see a running history of 
conversations and activities with that business. 
 
IMPLICATIONS FOR DVR CUSTOMERS 
 
Business outreach has been a priority for Vermont DVR because:  

• In developing relationships over time, we are able to position ourselves as a staffing service with 
a variety of options for businesses to consider; 

• Coordinated business outreach, captured in Salesforce, allows for greater variety in the kinds of 
businesses we are meeting, and the concurrent variety in opportunities for DVR candidates; 

• Gathering information on businesses willing to offer worksite experiences, company tours, and 
informational interview, will better support career exploration and skill development for both 
adults and students; 



• Our business partners can support Pre-Employment Transition Services activities in schools, 
including practice interviews, company tours and overviews, as well as identify summer 
employment opportunities; 

• Business partners can support the work of our in-school Transition Counselors, providing 
information on industry trends, skill requirements and other factors related to particular 
employment sectors; 

• By engaging businesses in working with students, the students will have a better understanding 
of their local labor market through work experiences, job shadows and paid employment. This in 
turn should prepare them for transition to either post-secondary education or employment.  

 
(2) Transition services, including pre-employment transition services, for students and youth with 

disabilities. 

As noted in the prior section, the Business Account Managers are a major resource to the 14 DVR 
Transition Counselors and 14 Youth Employment Specialists, who work exclusively with students to 
provide Pre-Employment Transition Services. In particular the Business Account Managers provide:  

• Contacts with employers who are willing to provide work based learning experiences for 
students; 

• Contacts with employers who are willing to participate IN informational interviews, company 
tours, practice interviews and other exploratory activities with students; 

• Information on industry trends, skill requirements and other factors related to particular 
employment sectors;  

• Identification of summer or part time competitive employment opportunities for students.  

The Business Account Managers also convene local employment teams including the Youth 
Employment Specialists. The local employment teams coordinate outreach to employers across DVR 
programs. This coordinated approach maximizes the impact of DVR employer outreach and reduces 
duplicate contacts with employers.  

 

 
 
(h) Interagency Cooperation. Describe how the designated State unit will collaborate with the State 

agency responsible for administering each of the following programs to develop opportunities for 
competitive integrated employment, to the greatest extent practicable: 

 

(1) The State Medicaid plan under title XIX of the Social Security Act. 
 
As Divisions within the Department of Disabilities, Aging and Independent Living (DAIL), DVR and 
DBVI are in the process of entering an Intergovernmental Agreement with the Department of Vermont 
Health Access (DVHA). The agreement will be in effect for five years once it is signed. The purpose of 
the agreement is to describe how Vocational Rehabilitation Title I and Title VI-B funding will be 
utilized with Medicaid Global Commitment funding to support employment services for the following 
populations: 



• Supported employment services for adults with developmental disabilities served through the 
Vermont Department of Disabilities, Aging and Independent Living (DAIL) Developmental 
Disabilities Services Division, hereinafter referred to as DDSD. 

• Youth with severe emotional disturbance (SED) served by the Department of Mental Health 
(DMH), Children’s Division through the JOBS programs.  

• Adults with psychiatric disabilities served through the Community Rehabilitation and Treatment 
(CRT) program administered by the Department of Mental Health (DMH).   
   

The agreement sets out the following guiding principles:  

DAIL/DVR/DBVI and DVHA are committed to implementing employment services through the 
blending and braiding of VR Title I and Title VI-B funding with DDSD Global Commitment Medicaid 
funding. The goal is to support a seamless and well-integrated system to provide employment services 
for individuals with developmental disabilities, youth with SED and adults with psychiatric disabilities 
through a statewide network of community providers.  

The agreement also lays out eligibility criteria for the respective programs and the financial 
responsibilities of each State unit as follows: 

DAIL/DVR/DBVI Responsibilities 

(A) Funding of Time-Limited Supported Employment Services 

Except for youth with significant disabilities, DAIL/DVR/DBVI funding of supported employment 
is time-limited for a period of not more than 24 months. Funded services must be based on a 
determination of the needs of an eligible individual, as specified in an individualized plan for 
employment. DAIL/DVR/DBVI will fund: 

• Supported employment assessment services 
• Supported employment job search and placement services 
• Supported employment work supports 
• Customized employment 
• Benefits and work incentive counseling 
• Progressive employment 
• Case services for additional work supports such as work clothes and transportation 

 
(B) Funding for Extended Supports 

Extended services are the ongoing support services that are needed to support and maintain an 
individual with a most significant disability in supported employment, after an individual has made 
the transition from DAIL/DVR/DBVI time-limited services. Extended services can be funded by 
DAIL/DVR/DBVI for youth with the most significant disabilities, for a period not to exceed four 
years. DAIL/DVR/DBVI may not provide extended services to individuals with the most significant 
disabilities who are not youth with the most significant disabilities. 

DHVA Global Commitment Funding of Employment Services 

(A) Developmental Services   



Supported employment and extended employment services are through the Global Commitment, 
Home and Community Based Medicaid Services (HCBS) for people who meet the eligibility criteria 
for DDS.  DAIL/DDSD HCBS funding is individualized based on the support needs of the 
consumer. If the HCBS has a line item for employment, then an employment outcome must be 
included in the Individualized Support Agreement (ISA). HCBS funding can be used to support both 
short term assessment, job development, job placement services and extended services.   

(B) JOBS Program 

The JOBS program supported employment services and extended employment services are funded 
through Global Commitment, Medicaid case rate funding administered by DMH. Funds will be 
provided through the DA Master Grant Agreements.   

(C) CRT Evidence Based Supported Employment Services  

CRT evidence-based supported employment services are funded through the Global Commitment, 
Medicaid CRT Case Rate administered by DMH. Funds will be provided through the DA Master 
Grant Agreements.   

 

(2) The State agency responsible for providing services for individuals with Developmental 
disabilities. 
 
DVR and DBVI are housed within the same department as the Developmental Disabilities Services 
Division (DDSD). An Intradepartmental Agreement was developed within DAIL and signed on 
September 5th 2017. The agreement is in effect for five years. The purpose of this agreement is to 
describe how DVR, DBVI and DDSD will cooperate to implement, expand and improve supported 
employment services for adults with developmental disabilities in the State of Vermont. Supported 
employment services for adults with developmental disabilities are provided through a system of 
approved nonprofit community providers, including the Designated Agencies (DA), the Specialized 
Service Agencies (SSA) and Independent Service Organizations (ISO). DDSD, DVR and DBVI fund 
supported employment services jointly through grant and contractual relationships with these 
community providers.    

The agreement sets out the following guiding principles: 

DDSD, DVR and DBVI are sister Divisions within DAIL and operate under the direction of the DAIL 
Commissioner. As such, DVR, DBVI and DDSD take a “one agency” approach to the funding and 
implementation of supported employment services for adults and youth with developmental disabilities.  

DVR, DBVI and DDSD have collaborated for over thirty years to implement supported employment 
services for adults with developmental disabilities. DVR, DBVI and DDSD are committed to continuing 
this collaboration based on the following:   

• All people with developmental disabilities, who want to, can work with the appropriate supports. 
• Work benefits people with developmental disabilities in the same way it does people without 

disabilities. Increased income, a sense of contribution and skill acquisition, increased confidence, 
independence and social connections all enable people to develop meaningful careers. 



• The value of work extends far beyond wages earned. Employers and the community benefit from 
the social inclusion and diversity people with developmental disabilities bring to the workforce 
through improved morale, customer loyalty and overall productivity. 

The agreement includes an inter-division planning and policy group that will meet at least quarterly and 
include all of the Directors. There is a commitment to joint monitoring of supported employment 
services and joint training and technical assistance. The agreement also describes the eligibility criteria 
for each program and lays out the fiscal responsibilities as follows:  

Joint Responsibilities 

DVR, DBVI and DDSD are committed to implementing supported employment services through the 
blending and braiding of VR Title I and Title VI-B funding with DDSD Global Commitment Medicaid 
funding. The goal is to support a seamless and well-integrated system to provide supported employment 
services for individuals with developmental disabilities through a statewide network of community 
providers.  

DVR and DBVI Responsibilities 

(A) Funding of Time-Limited Supported Employment Services 

Except for youth with significant disabilities, DAIL/DVR/DBVI funding of supported employment 
is time-limited for a period of not more than 24 months. Funded services must be based on a 
determination of the needs of an eligible individual, as specified in an individualized plan for 
employment. DAIL/DVR/DBVI will fund: 

• Supported employment assessment services 
• Supported employment job search and placement services 
• Supported employment work supports 
• Customized employment 

 

(B) Funding for Extended Supports 
 
Extended services are the ongoing support services that are needed to support and maintain an 
individual with a most significant disability in supported employment, after an individual has made 
the transition from DVR time-limited services. Extended services can be funded by DVR and DBVI 
for youth with the most significant disabilities, for a period not to exceed four years. DVR may not 
provide extended services to individuals with the most significant disabilities who are not youth with 
the most significant disabilities. 
 

(C) Availability of Funding 

The DVR and DBVI commitment to funding supported employment services is contingent on the 
availability of state and federal funds. In the event state or federal funds are reduced or eliminated, 
DVR may reduce or end funding for supported employment services.   

DDSD Responsibilities 



(A) Funding for Supported Employment Services and Extended Services 

DDSD will fund supported employment and extended employment through the Global Commitment, 
Home and Community Based Medicaid Services (HCBS) for people who meet the eligibility criteria 
for DDS.  HCBS funding is individualized based on the support needs of the consumer. If the HCBS 
has a line item for employment, then an employment outcome must be included in the Individualized 
Support Agreement (ISA). HCBS funding can be used to support both short term assessment, job 
development, job placement services and extended services.   

(B) Availability of Funding 
 
The DDSD commitment to funding supported employment services is contingent on the availability 
of state and federal funds. In the event state or federal funds are reduced or eliminated, DDSD may 
reduce or end funding for supported employment services.   

 

(3) The State agency responsible for providing mental health services. 

DVR and DMH have a long history of collaboration around the provision of supported employment 
services for adults with psychiatric disabilities and youth with severe emotional behavioral disorders. 
This is reflected in the MOU’s overview and purpose as follows: 

The purpose of this agreement is to describe how DAIL/DVR/DBVI and DMH will cooperate to 
implement, and improve employment services, supported employment services and evidence based 
supported employment services for youth and adults with psychiatric disabilities in the State of 
Vermont. Supported employment and employment services for youth and adults with psychiatric 
disabilities are provided through a system of approved non-profit community providers, including the 
Designated Agencies (DAs). DMH and DAIL/DVR/DBVI fund supported employment services jointly 
through grant and contractual relationships with these community providers. There are two primary 
programs within the DMH system that provide employment services: 

• The JOBS Program: JOBS provides supported employment services for youth with Severe 
Emotional Disturbance (SED) 

• Community Rehabilitation and Treatment (CRT) Program: CRT provides employment services 
and supported employment for adults with severe psychiatric disabilities.  

       The agreement sets out the following guiding principles:  

DAIL/DVR/DBVI/DBVI and DMH have collaborated for over thirty years to implement supported 
employment services for youth and adults with psychiatric disabilities. DAIL/DVR/DBVI and DMH are 
committed to continuing this collaboration based on the following:   

• All people with psychiatric disabilities, who want to, can work with the appropriate supports. 
• Work benefits people with psychiatric disabilities in the same way it does people without 

disabilities. Increased income, a sense of contribution and skill acquisition, increased confidence, 
independence and social connections all enable people to develop meaningful careers. 



• Employment is an essential component of the recovery process for people with psychiatric 
disabilities.  

The agreement forms an interagency planning and policy development group including the DVR/DBVI 
Directors and the DMH Directors of Adult Mental Health and Children’s Mental Health, and is in effect 
for five years from date of signature. The agreement also includes a commitment to joint monitoring of 
the programs and joint training and technical assistance. DAIL/DVR/DBVI and DMH support two 
models of individualized supported employment services in competitive, integrated employment settings 
The agreement describes the eligibility criteria for both systems and the service models as follows: 

JOBS 

The JOBS Program is an innovative supported employment and intensive case management service for 
youth with psychiatric disabilities, who have dropped out or left school. It uses work as a means to reach 
this challenging population. JOBS is a voluntary program where youth, once engaged, are assisted in 
transitioning from school, prison, or the streets and supported in accessing services to help them reach 
their individual goals and greater independence. 

Individualized Placement and Support (IPS): Evidence Based Supported Employment Services 

IPS supported employment is an evidence-based approach to providing vocational services for adults 
with severe psychiatric disabilities. IPS integrates employment services within community mental health 
treatment and case management services.   

DAIL/DVR/DBVI and DMH do not support any type of group or segregated employment service model 
such as sheltered workshops, work crews, enclave placements or any approach that does not result in 
competitive, integrated employment. DAIL/DVR/DBVI and DMH will promote and support evidence 
based supported employment as the primary service model, through policy development, contract/grant 
language, training and technical assistance, and monitoring and quality review.       

The agreement describes the fiscal responsibilities of the respective Departments as follows: 

Joint Responsibilities 

DAIL/DVR/DBVI and DMH are committed to implementing supported employment services through 
the blending and braiding of VR Title I and Title VI-B funding with DMH Global Commitment 
Medicaid funding. The goal is to support a seamless and well-integrated system to provide supported 
employment services for adults with psychiatric disabilities and youth with SED through a statewide 
network of community providers.  

DAIL/DVR/DBVI Responsibilities 

(A) Funding of Time-Limited Supported Employment Services 
 
Except for youth with significant disabilities, DAIL/DVR/DBVI funding of supported employment 
is time-limited for a period of not more than 24 months. Funded services must be based on a 
determination of the needs of an eligible individual, as specified in an individualized plan for 
employment. DAIL/DVR/DBVI will fund: 
 



• Supported employment assessment services 
• Supported employment job search and placement services 
• Supported employment work supports 
• Customized employment 
• Benefits and work incentive counseling 
• Progressive employment 
• Case services for additional work supports such as work clothes and transportation 

 
(B) Funding for Extended Supports 

Extended services are the ongoing support services that are needed to support and maintain an 
individual with a most significant disability in supported employment, after an individual has made 
the transition from DAIL/DVR/DBVI time-limited services. Extended services can be funded by 
DAIL/DVR/DBVI for youth with the most significant disabilities, for a period not to exceed four 
years. DAIL/DVR/DBVI may not provide extended services to individuals with the most significant 
disabilities who are not youth with the most significant disabilities. 

(C) Availability of Funding 
 
The DAIL/DVR/DBVI commitment to funding supported employment services is contingent on the 
availability of state and federal funds. In the event state or federal funds are reduced or eliminated, 
DAIL/DVR/DBVI may reduce or end funding for supported employment services.   

DMH Responsibilities 

(A) Funding for JOBS 
 
DMH will fund the JOBS program supported employment services and extended employment 
services through Global Commitment, Medicaid Case Rate funding. Funds will be provided through 
the DA Master Grant Agreements.  

 

(B) Funding for IPS Supported Employment Services and Extended Services 
 
DMH will fund evidence-based supported employment through the Global Commitment, Medicaid 
CRT Case Rate. Funds will be provided through the DA Master Grant Agreements.   
 

(C) Availability of Funding 
 
The DMH commitment to funding JOBS and IPS supported employment services is contingent on 
the availability of state and federal funds. In the event state or federal funds are reduced or 
eliminated, DMH may reduce funding for supported employment services.   
 
 
 



(i) Comprehensive System of Personnel Development. 

 

(1) Data System on Personnel and Personnel Development. 
 
(A) Qualified Personnel Needs. 

 
DVR has a total of 121.5 Full Time Equivalent (FTE) staff positions. The Division operates using a 
matrix management structure headed by the Division Director. The breakdown of staff is as follows: 

 

Full Time 
Equivalents 

Position Titles and Functions 

1 Division Director 
6 Senior Central Office Managers including the Field Services Manager, Employment Services 

Manager, Quality Assurance and Business Systems Manager, DVR Administrative Services 
Manager, Budget and Policy Manager, and the Transition Program Director 

7 Regional Managers overseeing the 12 district offices 
13.5 DVR Transition Counselors serving in-school youth caseload 

9 DVR Young Adult Counselors serving a youth caseload 
29 DVR Counselors Serving an adult caseload 
4 Benefits Counselors 
2 Rehabilitation Counselors for the Deaf 
17 Program Techs and Administrative Support Staff 
12 Employee Assistance Manager and Specialists  
1 Special Project Coordinator 
1 Data Management and Program Evaluation Staff  
3 Business Account Managers 
2 Assistive Technology Staff and Manager 
4 Miscellaneous Central Office Staff 
10 Linking Learning to Careers Managers and Counselors 

 

(B) Personnel Development. 
 
Vermont has no accredited graduate school offering a master’s degree in Rehabilitation Counseling. 
To meet the Comprehensive System for Professional Development (CSPD) standards, a counselor 
needs either a master’s degree in Rehabilitation Counseling or a master’s degree in a related field 
plus completion of four additional core rehabilitation courses. Assumption College, University of 
Massachusetts, and Springfield College of Human Services typically have a range of 35-45 students 
who graduate with a master’s or CAG degree in Rehabilitation Counseling per year. These graduates 
would be qualified to fill counseling vacancies without additional coursework. New England 
colleges, which offer degrees in Social Work, Special Education School Guidance, Mental Health 
Counseling, or Community Mental Health Services, also produce qualified graduates.  

Currently four (4) students are taking required core classes through Assumption University and 
UMASS Boston.   



In the prior year, four (4) staff members met the educational requirements of the CSPD courses 
through Assumption University and University of Massachusetts. Additionally, two (2) other staff 
who already met the educational requirements through a related degree and core course completion, 
are voluntarily participating in a three year master’s degree program in Rehabilitation Counseling 
through the University of Southern Maine, with the goal of obtaining Rehabilitation certifications as 
Rehabilitation Counselors upon completion.  

 

(2) Plan for Recruitment, Preparation and Retention of Qualified Personnel. 
 
DVR recruits qualified personnel through Assumption College, University of Massachusetts, and 
Springfield College of Human Services, who have received a master’s degree in Rehabilitation 
Counseling. These graduates meet the highest standard of education and are able to obtain certification 
at the highest level for this field. DVR also recruits qualified personnel in a related field such as Social 
Work, Special Education, School Guidance, Mental Health Counseling, or Community Mental Health 
Services from New England colleges, by posting positions on internal employment pages of the various 
college websites. All of these graduates are candidates for counseling vacancies if they are willing to 
complete the four core rehabilitation courses.  
 
State personnel policies require DVR to consider qualified applicants on the Reduction in Force list 
before other applicants.  DVR advertises openings through the State recruitment system, through local 
newspapers (coordinated ad program), on-line on USA Today Job Network, and by listing openings 
through college placement services. Assumption College, University of Massachusetts, and Springfield 
College of Human Services advertise counselor openings by forwarding job opportunities to their list of 
recent graduates.  
 
When recruiting staff to serve a specific population such as the deaf and hard of hearing, additional 
recruitment efforts are employed to reach professionals within that community and associated training 
programs.  This has included posting in the Boston Globe and connecting with deaf and hard of hearing 
student organizations in New England based colleges.  
 
The state of Vermont is an equal opportunity employer and there is emphasis on recruiting and hiring 
individuals with disabilities. We encourage DVR consumers to apply for posted positions and obtain the 
education necessary to be competitive. DVR also promotes close working partnerships with the Vermont 
Center for Independent Living, Designated Mental Health Agencies, the Refugee Resettlement program, 
Vermont Works for Women and other organizations who serve people with disabilities and/or are of a 
minority status. 
 

(3) Personnel Standards. 
 
The Division follows standards set forth in the Comprehensive System for Professional Development 
(CSPD). This prescribes a national standard for vocational rehabilitation counselor qualifications. This 
standard gives highest priority to counselors with a master’s degree in Rehabilitation Counseling. The 
second level of priority is for counselors with related degrees in Social Work, Psychology, Mental 
Health Counseling or Special Education. This group must complete four additional courses to meet the 



standard: Foundations of Rehabilitation, Career Counseling, Vocational Assessment, and Medical and 
Psychosocial Aspects of Disability. When unable to recruit qualified candidates that meet the two 
highest levels, DVR hires counselors with bachelor’s degrees and supports their graduate training 
through our RSA training grant. Though not required by the Division or by RSA, some counselors 
continue on to become Certified Rehabilitation Counselors (CRC) through the Commission on 
Rehabilitation Counselor Certification.  
 
The following is a breakdown of the educational plans for DVR staff. These plans fall into a three 
category system, based on the availability of existing financial resources and are consistent with any 
national or State-approved or recognized requirements that apply to the profession or discipline in which 
personnel are providing VR services: 
 
Category 1: Staff who meet the highest standards for education and/or certification: Staff in this 
category have completed a master’s degree in Rehabilitation Counseling and/or have received 
certification as a Rehabilitation Counselor. DVR currently has ten (12) staff or 20% who are in this 
category.  
 
Category 2: Staff who do not yet meet the highest standards and are currently enrolled in an approved 
graduate or undergraduate program: Staff in this category are pursuing a master’s degree in 
Rehabilitation Counseling or a related field and have additional supervision and oversight. DVR 
currently has two (2) staff or 3% who are in this category.  
 
Category 3: Staff who have graduate degrees in counseling or a related field and are required to take 
four core rehabilitation courses in order to comply with the CSPD requirements: DVR currently has nine 
(10) staff or 16% who are in this category.  

The percentage of our current counselors having met the CSPD standard through Categories 1 and 3 is 
82%, which is 50 Counselors out of 61. The timelines for meeting graduate training are written into the 
job specifications, which all candidates have access to on the State of Vermont Department of Human 
Resources website. Counselors are required to meet the standard within three years. All training 
information related to core courses and completion of master degrees is stored on a spreadsheet 
maintained by the Division’s DVR training coordinators. Supervisors are given quarterly updates to 
monitor progress.  

DVR staff upon hire, are required to attend a 30 hour DVR services training program taught by the Staff 
Development and Training Coordinator. This training covers DVR’s Policies and Procedures Manual, 
the full vocational rehabilitation process from referral to successful closure, effective caseload 
management, collaboration with partners providing employment services, and all other aspects of the 
vocational rehabilitation.  

 
(4) Staff Development. 

 
(A) System of Staff Development. 



Staff development opportunities are provided annually to ensure all personnel receive appropriate 
and adequate training in multiple categories that include assessment, vocational counseling, job 
placement, and rehabilitation technology.  

DVR staff receive training related to assessment through webinars and in-person training offered by 
the Staff Development and Training Coordinator and Assessment Champion team, which is 
comprised of staff who are knowledgeable about administration, interpretation, and application of 
various vocational assessments. This team also reviews assessment tools on a yearly basis to identify 
those that are no longer relevant or those that need to be included in the DVR Assessment Inventory, 
which is a selection of assessment tools used to assess a person’s interests, values, aptitudes, and 
skills. Skillful interviewing also serves as a form of assessment and DVR staff and contracted 
partners receive introductory and advanced training in Motivational Interviewing to enhance this 
skill set.  

Motivational Interviewing (MI) training was introduced to DVR with comprehensive training for all 
staff in 2014. In alignment with the goals of the initiative, internal trainers are now in place 
statewide and provide monthly training for district staff. Statewide introductory and advanced MI 
trainings are offered quarterly for all new staff. Motivational Interviewing is a counseling approach 
that enhances counseling skills in many arenas and is an especially good fit for vocational 
rehabilitation counseling. Nationally, Motivational Interviewing is being used by many State 
Vocational Rehabilitation Agencies/Departments to provide services and effectively engage 
consumers in making changes that improve their lives. MI is a person-centered approach with a 
focus on client choice, self-efficacy, and autonomy. This practice is especially useful for consumers 
with disabilities. There are also well established results available regarding its effectiveness with 
those who experience substance abuse issues as disabling conditions. A high number of DVR 
consumers struggle with substance and alcohol addiction, which reinforces the relevance of having 
staff trained in MI techniques and practice. Sustainability of this initiative is underway and will 
occur through ongoing development of the internal DVR MI trainers to ensure training is available 
to all DVR staff and meets the training requirements of those providing direct service. The internal 
DVR MI trainers have already received additional MI focused facilitation training and next steps 
include advanced audio recording coding and scoring training. This will allow the MI trainers to 
evaluate staff level of proficiency in use of MI skills, strategies, and approach in the vocational 
counseling process with fidelity to the model/approach and design training and support that responds 
to the area needing development.  

Staff development related to job placement is provided through several venues. Newly hired 
contracted staff who provide placement services, participate in a required online training program, 
created in collaboration by DVR and Community College of Vermont. Internal structures that ensure 
development of knowledge related to the labor market and effective job placement include regularly 
scheduled meetings hosted by the DVR funded Business Account Managers. One such meeting is 
comprised of employment staff connected by Creative Workforce Solutions, a DVR initiated 
collaboration of Agency of Human Services funded employment programs, which promotes 
cooperative job placement and employer relationships. Training related to rehabilitation technology 
is provided initially through the DVR services training program for new hires. Additional training 
and staff development is provided in collaboration with the Assistive Technology Program through 



on-site, video conferencing, and webinar based trainings, information sessions, and regularly 
scheduled staff meetings.  

A specific staff group, the DVR Benefit Counselors, receive specialized training to ensure the 
provision of quality services in working with customers who receive monetary or medical benefits. 
Ongoing training and support is provided by a DVR Project Manager. The local Social Security 
Administration (SSA) Area Work Incentives Coordinator provides quarterly trainings to the Benefits 
Counselors on a variety of SSA Work Incentives issues. SSA also provides training and technical 
assistance for Benefits Counselors through contracts with Cornell and Virginia Commonwealth 
University. DVR is the SSA Work Incentives Planning and Assistance grantee for the State of 
Vermont. The four Benefits Counselors working under that project are certified by SSA as Certified 
Work Incentive Counselors (CWIC). To achieve certification, Benefits Counselors must attend a 
week long training and complete a comprehensive “take home” assignment that is evaluated by 
Virginia Commonwealth University staff.  

(B) Acquisition and Dissemination of Significant Knowledge. 

The DVR training coordinators are the primary hub for dissemination of research and training 
resources to field staff. Program managers, including the Transition Program Director, the 
Employment Services Manager and the Benefits Counseling Program Coordinator collect and 
disseminate information from local and national resources. Program managers and staff are 
encouraged to become members of national organizations in their fields. Organizations like the 
National Skills Coalition or the National Association of Benefits Planning and Work Incentive 
Counseling (NABWIS) are excellent resources for managers and front-line staff.  

(5) Personnel to Address Individual Communication Needs. 

The Agency of Human Services has a contract with the Association of Africans Living in VT for on-site 
interpretation and translation services. If an appropriate interpreter is not available, the VT Refugee 
Resettlement Program has a contract with Language Learning Enterprise Inc. in Washington D.C. which 
provides telephonic interpretation.  

(6) Coordination of Personnel Development under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act. 

The DVR Director and other senior managers meet quarterly with the Deputy Commissioner of the 
Agency of Education (AOE) and the Special Education Director to coordinate activities and trainings, 
especially around transition issues. DVR and AOE have a long history of co-sponsoring trainings and 
conferences for frontline staff.  

 

  
(j) Statewide Assessment.  

 

(1) Provide an assessment of the rehabilitation needs of individuals with disabilities residing 
within the State, particularly the VR services needs of those: 

 



(A) With the most significant disabilities, including their need for supported employment 
services.  
The Rehabilitation Act (1973) requires the Vermont Division of Vocational Rehabilitation 
(DVR) and the Vermont State Rehabilitation Council (SRC) to jointly conduct a needs 
assessment every three years. The assessment is intended to form the basis for the DVR annual 
State plan and strategic planning activities. The 2017 DVR and SRC Needs Assessment focused 
particularly on the VR services needs of the following populations:  

• Individuals with the most significant disabilities, particularly their need for supported 
employment;  

• Individuals with disabilities who are minorities, including refugees; 
• Individuals who have been unserved or underserved by DVR;  
• Individuals with disabilities served through the statewide Workforce Investment System; and 
• Individuals who are youth with disabilities and students with disabilities, including, as 

appropriate, their need for Pre-Employment Transition services or other transition services. 

A comprehensive report of the results of the Vermont DVR and SRC Needs Assessment was 
submitted in 2017. The report includes data from a variety of sources, including DVR’s 
Rehabilitation Services Administration (RSA) reporting database, information from the United 
States Census Bureau, the American Community Survey, as well as surveys conducted by DVR. 
Although not specifically designed to assess unmet needs, these surveys assisted DVR in 
determining ways to better serve individuals with disabilities, thereby making its services more 
accessible and welcoming to populations that may not be currently served.  

(B) Who are minorities. 

The ACS provides data on disability and race by state. Overall, 3.8% of Vermonters are from an 
ethnic minority. The following table shows the ACS estimates of the incidence of disability by 
race. 

 

Table 16: Incidence of Disability by Race for Adults Aged 18 to 64 

Race Total Number 
 of Working Age 

Percentage Reporting 
a Disability 

Estimated Potential 
VR Eligible 
Consumers 

White  346,300  11.9  41,209 
Black/African 
American 

6,000 20.2% 1,212 

Asian  5,600  22.4% 1,254 
American Indian  1,900  16.5  313 

 

The disability rates for African Americans and Asians in Vermont exceed the average. However, 
the estimates for the Vermont non-white populations with disabilities are from sample sizes of 
less than 40 people and too small to be statistically reliable. As a result, this data may 
substantially over state the actual rate of disability in these groups.  

Vermont VR has consistently exceeded the federal RSA standard and indicator that measures 
access to services by eligible individuals who are minorities. In FFY 2016, 7% of DVR closures 



were for individuals from an ethnic minority. Given this data it appears that individuals with 
disabilities from ethnic minorities are accessing the VR program at a rate proportional to 
individuals who are white. 

(C) Who have been unserved or underserved by the VR program. 

Older Vermonters with Disabilities  

The percentage of individuals with disabilities age 55 and above, increased from 12.3% to 13.9% 
between 2013 and 2016. This seems to reflect the overall aging of the Vermont demographic. 
The percentage of people served over 65 also increased during this period, from 1% to 3%. 
Individuals over the age of 55 are working longer, not only for financial reasons but because 
people are living longer and choosing to remain in the workforce. It is likely that many 
individuals over the age of 55 experience disabilities and may be eligible for VR services. DVR 
now oversees the Senior Community Service Employment Program (SCSEP), and has hired a 
“Mature Worker Program Coordinator”. A primary role of the coordinator is to facilitate the 
referral of eligible individuals to DVR, by building and supporting strong linkages with services 
for mature workers.   

Individuals with Physical Disabilities  

DVR suspects that individuals with physical disabilities may be underserved, especially since the 
number of individuals with psychiatric disorders and substance disorders has increased. It may 
be that individuals with physical disabilities are not seeking services because their needs are less 
complex. In addition, DVR recognizes that employers require a more diverse selection of 
candidates to fill more skilled positions. Although DVR has initiated preliminary outreach to 
medical providers and community partners to diversify its caseload, more systematic and 
strategic planning is required. 

Individuals with Traumatic Brain Injury (TBI)  

It is estimated that at least 10,000 Vermonters are recovering from brain injury, but less than 5% 
of these individuals are seeking services to help them succeed in the workplace. DVR counselors 
and CRP (Community Rehabilitation Provider) staff have received training on TBI. There are no 
discrete employment services for individuals with TBI.  

(D) Who have been served through other components of the statewide workforce development.  

DVR does not currently have good data on the needs of individuals who have been serve 
through other components of the workforce development system. As part of the WIOA Unified 
Plan DVR and VDOL and AOE will implement a variety of strategies to share data and 
coordinate service provision. A data sharing agreement was finalized in March 2017. This 
process will assist the three agencies develop a much better understanding of the needs of their 
consumers across programs. In particular, we expect closer coordination at the field level to 
result in an increase in consumers being served concurrently across programs.  

(E) Who are youth with disabilities and students with disabilities, including, as appropriate, 
their need for pre-employment transition services or other transition services.  



In 2017 DVR conducted a Comprehensive Needs Assessment including an assessment of the 
needs of youth and students with disabilities. The primary findings were as follows: 

Strengths of the Vermont System 

In the school year 2016-17, approximately 1 in 5 (18.5%) eligible students received Pre-ETS 
services statewide. This suggests DVR has been successful in making Pre-ETS services 
accessible to eligible students. 

Overall, youth with disabilities appear to be accessing DVR services at a high rate (up to 35% of 
the eligible population). This data suggests DVR has been successful in making services 
accessible to youth.  

DVR has a strong collaborative partnership with AOE at the state level. At the local level, 
almost all Vermont high schools are working in partnership with DVR to facilitate the provision 
of and access to Pre-ETS and transition services. 

Vermont has a good infrastructure to provide supported employment for youth with 
developmental disabilities and emotional/behavioral disabilities.  

Areas for Development in the Vermont System 

Core transition teams have formed and met in all 12 Agency of Human Services districts. Most 
are in the early development stage however, and are working out local processes and agreements. 
These teams will need time and support to become fully functional and effective groups. 

Youth with disabilities are less likely to obtain competitive employment during the transition 
years. Early employment experiences are a strong predictor of adult employment success. 
According to VFN, students who have had work experiences expressed more confidence in their 
ability to work. This suggests youth need more opportunities for real work based learning 
experiences and/or competitive employment. 

Post-secondary education and training opportunities are key for students and youth with 
disabilities to access higher wage jobs and develop long term career opportunities. Students and 
youth with disabilities are less likely than their peers without disabilities, to access postsecondary 
education. 

(2) Identify the need to establish, develop, or improve community rehabilitation programs within 
the State. 

Because of the small population and rural nature of Vermont, there are very few CRPs in the state. 
VABIR (the Vermont Association of Business, Industry and Rehabilitation) is the primary CRP for 
the DVR program with the exception of supported employment. VABIR has capacity to serve DVR 
consumers statewide and has an excellent track record. VABIR also serves individuals without 
disabilities through the state TANF program.  

DVR provides grants to Vermont’s Designated Agencies for employment services for individuals 
with developmental disabilities and individuals with severe and persistent psychiatric disabilities. 
Easter Seals also has a small presence in Vermont. While DVR is open to supporting the 



development of new CRPs as well as existing CRPs who come to Vermont, there is limited funding 
available to support multiple agencies. 

DVR partnered with other state agencies, VABIR and the Designated Agencies, to create an online 
training program for CRP staff hosted by Community College of Vermont. The program allows 
cohorts of employment staff to access training statewide. The content is modified to the specific 
populations served.  

(3) Include an assessment of the needs of individuals with disabilities for transition career 
services and pre-employment transition services, and the extent to which such services are 
coordinated with transition services provided under the Individuals with Disabilities 
Education Act.  

 
(A) Students with Disabilities. 

The State of Vermont has sixty supervisory unions serving students in primarily rural 
communities. During the 2016 to 2017 school year, 5,390 Vermont high school students were 
served. All were either on an IEP or 504 plan, and therefore met the definition of a student with 
a disability.  

(B) Youth with Disabilities. 

According to American Community Survey (ACS), 7.5% of youth ages 16 to 20 (3,450) 
reported having a disability. The ACS does not provide data for youth ages 14 to 24 who report 
having disability, which is the WIOA definition. However, extrapolating the ACS data for youth 
ages 16 to 20 would suggest that there are approximately 8,600 youth with disabilities in 
Vermont. It is important to note that the ACS uses primarily self-reported data and youth may 
be less likely to self-identify as a person with a disability.  Therefore, this number maybe an 
underestimate of the actual prevalence.   

(C) Employment Rates for Youth with Disabilities. 

The ACS provides data on the employment rate of youth with disabilities ages 16 to 20. As 
Table 4 shows, youth with disabilities are much less likely to be employed than their 
counterparts without disabilities at both the national and state level. It is well documented that 
early work experiences for students and youth are the best predictor of future employment. The 
gap in employment rates in this age group is likely to continue into adulthood unless students 
and youth with disabilities have opportunities for work based learning experiences.   

 

Table 4:   Employment Rates for Youth With and Without Disabilities 

Population Total Employed 
Count 

Employed 
Percentage 

US Youth without Disabilities 20,268,600  7,539,919 37.2% 
Vermont Youth without Disabilities 42,600 18,190 42.7% 
US Youth with Disabilities 1,266,800 288,830 22.8% 
Vermont Youth with Disabilities 3,400 952 28% 

 



(D) Postsecondary Education Outcomes for Adults with Disabilities.  

The ACS does not provide post-secondary education outcome data stratified by age group. 
However, it does provide highest level of education achieved for adults with and without 
disabilities. As the data in Table 5 indicates, adults with disabilities are much less likely to 
achieve a BA degree or higher than adults without a disability. Post-secondary completion has 
been associated with substantially level earnings over the lifespan. In the modern global and 
high technology economy this trend is likely to become more pronounced. 

 

Table 5:   Adults With and Without a Disability Achieving a BA Degree or Higher 

Population Total 
BA Degree or 
Higher 
Count 

BA Degree or 
Higher 
Percentage 

US Adults without Disabilities 164,707,900   54,353,607 33% 
Vermont Adults without Disabilities 320,700  127,318 39.7% 
US Adults with Disabilities 19,703,800 2,758,532 14% 
Vermont Adults with Disabilities 45,600 7,342 16.1% 

 

(E) VR Pre-Employment Transition Services. 

Once Pre-ETS was announced in October 2014, Vermont DVR moved quickly to come into 
compliance with the new requirement. As a state, we took a broad strategic approach to:  

• Embrace the Congressional intent: try to build the best possible Pre-Employment Transition 
Services program possible; 

• Reassign resources to support the best possible outcome; and 
• Build on the existing well-established infrastructure of the DVR statewide transition program 

of specialized VR counselors.  

Vermont took a life span view in our response to the Pre-ETS requirement. Since DVR was 
going to invest 15% or more of its resources providing Pre-ETS for high school students, we 
wanted to make sure there was VR capacity to serve them if they graduated on to VR services 
Therefore, Vermont invested an equivalent amount of resources in youth post high school to 
preserve DVR’s investment in Pre-ETS and to ensure eligible students had access to VR 
services. To achieve this DVR deployed its counselor resources as follows:  

• 20% of VR counselor capacity (14.5 FTEs) assigned to serving exclusively high school 
students, providing and arranging for primarily Pre-ETS Required Services. 

• 20% VR counselor capacity (14.5 FTEs) assigned to youth or young adults in the senior year 
of high school or after high school exit (18-27). 

• 60% of VR counselor capacity serving adults (27+) including Rehab Counselors for the Deaf 

In federal fiscal year 2017, DVR experienced a significant reduction in the VR grant award. 
This will require DVR to reduce our non-Pre-ETS counseling capacity. This has affected the 
number and deployment of counselors serving the out of school youth and young adult 
population. As of May 2017, DVR had 9 Young Adult counselors remaining from the original 
14.  



(F) Staffing of Pre-ETS Required Services. 

14 VR counselors providing Pre-ETS services were deployed statewide to serve all 60 
supervisory unions in the state. VR Counselors were out posted to an average of four high 
schools each, to ensure statewide access for eligible students. The daily presence of VR 
counselors in local high schools allows them to build strong working relationships and 
coordinate services with school staff.  

DVR also contracted with our primary CRP VABIR, to support 14 youth employment 
specialists to provide Pre-ETS services. The school-based counselors and youth employment 
specialists essentially work as a team. The focus of the youth employment specialists is work 
place readiness training, arranging for work-based learning experiences and instruction in self-
advocacy.  

(G) The Number and Proportion of Students Receiving Pre-ETS Services and/or VR Services.  

The number of students receiving Pre-ETS and/or VR services increased between the 
implementation of Pre-ETS in federal fiscal year 2015, and FFY 2016. This increase would be 
expected since Pre-ETS services were being ramped up during this period.  

 

Table 6:  Students With Disabilities Served- Age 14 through 21 at Referral 

(00 status and above, open in period, in high school) 
Period Cases Persons 
FFY 2015 852 846 
FFY 2016 1,302 1,300 

 

During the 2016/17 school year 1,019 students with disabilities were enrolled in Pre-ETS and/or 
VR services out of a potentially eligible population of 5,390. This means 18.9% of potentially 
eligible students were receiving Pre-ETS and/or VR services during the school year. 

(H) VR Services for Youth who have Exited High School. 

VR Transition counselors transfer students to a Young Adult or Adult VR counselor prior to 
high school exit. This generally occurs in the last semester of the student’s senior year, but may 
occur earlier based on circumstance. As noted earlier, DVR developed a cadre of 14 Young 
Adult counselors to match the capacity of VR Transition counselors serving students in school. 
The intent was to have specialized Young Adult counselors who understand the needs of youth 
in transition. Unfortunately, due to reductions in federal funding, DVR no longer has the 
capacity in smaller offices to offer this level of specialization. In some offices, the Young Adult 
counselor role has been converted to a general counselor role serving all age groups. As of May 
2017, DVR had 9 Young Adult counselors remaining from the original 14.  

DVR is concerned that the loss of Young Adult counselors may have an impact on services for 
youth who have graduated from high school. It has been Vermont’s experience that serving 
youth is more qualitative than serving adults and requires a different approach. Historically, VR 
Transition Counselors served both in and out of school youth, and received specialized training 



and support focused on serving youth. The loss of this specialization may have an impact on 
youth services and outcomes. 

(I) Supported Employment Services for Youth. 

In addition to core VR services, DVR partners with other state agencies to fund the JOBS 
program. The JOBS Program is an innovative supported employment and intensive case 
management service for youth with SED, who have left or dropped out of school.  The program 
is voluntary and uses work as a means to reach this challenging population. Once engaged, 
youth are assisted in transitioning from school, prison, or the streets and supported in accessing 
services to help them reach their individual goals and achieve greater independence. The 
funding comes from a combination of state funds and Medicaid match from Vocational 
Rehabilitation, Mental Health, Corrections and Children and Family Services. 

In addition to community and state partners, JOBS programs involve employers in meeting the 
needs of youth through intensive job development, placement, and on and off-site training 
support. Employment is a non-stigmatizing service that youth want and need. JOBS programs 
differ from other traditional employment models by providing intensive case management 
services to assist with other areas of need including legal issues, benefits counseling, 
homelessness, drug/alcohol abuse, and probation and parole. 

(J) Supported Employment for Youth with Disabilities.  

Vermont has a very strong supported employment infrastructure for youth with developmental 
disabilities that has been recognized both nationally and internationally.  Employment retention 
for eligible students who exit high school with a job is a priority for the Developmental 
Disabilities Services Division (DDSD) and is included in their System of Care Plan. This 
creates a strong incentive for schools and DVR to help youth with developmental disabilities 
find employment before they exit high school.  

DVR and DDSD collaborate to identify students who have a developmental disability and are 
likely to graduate. The June Graduates survey assists DDSD and DVR to effectively plan for 
transitioning students district by district. It also allows DDSD to predict caseload funding needs 
statewide.  

DVR has also partnered with DDSD to provide post-secondary education options for 
individuals with developmental disabilities. Vermont has four post-secondary programs for 
individuals with developmental disabilities including Project Search, SUCCEED, and College 
Steps. In general DVR funds tuition and ancillary supports and DDSD funds staffing costs.  

(K) The Number and Proportion of Youth Receiving Services. 

Transition and Pre-ETS services naturally overlap to a significant degree. As noted, the VR 
Transition counselors are exclusively serving the student population in partnership with the 
contracted VABIR Youth Employment Specialists. Youth who have exited high school are 
served by a VR counselor specializing in youth and young adults or a general counselor. The 
total number of youth served by VR has increased modestly since 2015, most likely due to the 
increase in students served under Pre-ETS.  



 

Table 7:  Youth With Disabilities Served- Age 14 through 24 at Referral 

(00 status and above, open in period) 
Period Cases Persons 
FFY 2015 3229 3091 
FFY 2016 3320 3202 

 

Based on the ACS data, DVR estimates there were 8,600 youth with disabilities in the state of 
Vermont in 2015. DVR served 3,091 youth with disabilities during federal fiscal year 2015. This 
suggests that DVR is serving up to 35% of the eligible population. As noted earlier, DVR 
suspects the ACS data may underestimate the true number of youth with disabilities because 
young people often do not want to identify as having a disability.  

DVR coordinates VR services with services provided under IDEA (Individuals with Disabilities 
Education Act) at both the state and local level.  

State Level 

The Vermont Agency of Education (AOE) and DVR have agreed to meet quarterly to discuss the 
coordination of services within local school districts.  In general, those meetings include the 
following: 

• The DVR Director 
• The DVR Transition Program Director 
• The AOE Special Education Director 
• The AOE Postsecondary and Transition Coordinator 

In addition to the above, DVR and AOE have frequent ad hoc meetings related to transition 
services and to plan joint initiatives. DVR and AOE are currently collaborating around the 
implementation of the Linking Learning to Careers demonstration funded through the federal 
Department of Education.  LLC is an exciting new opportunity to improve career and college 
readiness outcomes for Vermont high school students with disabilities. This 5-year statewide 
initiative will build on effective career exploration and employment services already provided to 
students and engage them in additional experiences that will help them successfully transition 
from high school into adulthood. LLC is a powerful collaboration of the following partners: 
Community College of VT (CCV), VABIR, the Agency of Education, high schools, career and 
technical education centers, and DVR. It is expected that the partnership with CCV in particular 
will open up post-secondary education opportunities for students with disabilities.   

Local Level 

A primary responsibility of the VR Transition counselor is to coordinate services with the 
schools. VR Transition counselors spend the bulk of their time in schools, working directly with 
special education staff and teachers to provide services to students. This strong on the ground 
presence allows VR Transition counselors and school staff to build close and collaborative 
working relationships.  



In order to improve transition outcomes for students, DVR took the lead in forming core 
transition teams in all twelve districts last year. The purpose of the core transition team is to bring 
DVR, schools, and community agencies together to improve collaboration around services for 
transitioning students. The core teams include: 

• Local school staff 
• DVR 
• Developmental services providers 
• Children’s and adult mental health providers 
• The Department of Labor youth staff 
• Other youth programs 

The core transition teams are still in the early development. As of May 2017, all 12 have had at 
least one meeting.  

 
 
 
(k) Annual Estimates.  

 

(1) The number of individuals in the State who are eligible for services. 

Based on the American Community Survey (ACS) for 2014, DVR estimates that there are 45,076 
Vermonters between the ages of 16 and 64 with a disability. All of these people are potentially eligible 
for services under this Plan  

(2) The number of individuals who will receive services under: 
 

(A) The VR Program. 

An estimated 8,134 individuals will receive VR Program services in FY 2018 with funds provided 
under either Part B of Title I of the Act or under Part B of Title VI.  

(B) The Supported Employment Program.  

For FY 2017 we estimate that 400 individuals will receive supported employment services through 
DVR. This number does not include individuals receiving extended supported employment services 
funded through Medicaid and other non-VR funding sources.  

(C) Each priority category, if under an order of selection. 

On July 1, 2016, DVR transitioned to a new Order of Selection with four categories instead of three. 
Under the new order of selection we estimate that:  

• 5,806 Priority Category 1 customers will be served; 
• 2,021 Priority Category 2 customers; 
• 299 Priority Category 3 customers; and  
• 22 Priority Category 4 customers.  



For FY 18 we expect Category 4 to be a closed Category and individuals found eligible under this 
category to go on a waiting list. DVR will consult with the SRC at least quarterly to determine if the 
category should be opened. 

(D) The number of individuals who are eligible for VR services, but are not receiving such 
services due to an order of selection.  

Under the new Order of Selection we anticipate that individuals under the new Category 4 will be on 
the waiting list for the program. We estimate about 22 individuals will be found eligible under this 
Category in FY 18. 

(E) The cost of services for the number of individuals estimated to be eligible for services. If 
under an order of selection, identify the cost of services for each priority category. 

Total costs to serve individuals in all four categories for FY 17 will be approximately $15,058,401. 
Estimated costs of services for each category are:  

• Priority Category 1: $8,892,982 Title I, $142,059 Title VI-B  
• Priority Category 2: $5,632,221 Title I, $94,706 Title VI-B  
• Priority Category 3: $250,000 Title I  
• Priority Category 4: $46,433 Title I  

 
 
 
 
(l) State’s Goals and Priorities.  

 

Based on the DVR/SRC Needs Assessment completed in December of 2017, DVR and the SRC have 
established targets for Program Year 2019 for DVR’s Strategic Plan goals.  DVR and the SRC have also 
established goals and priorities in response to the new mandates and requirements included in the Workforce 
Innovation and Opportunities Act (WIOA). In particular, DVR and the SRC established goals and priorities 
related to the implementation of the WIOA Common Performance Measures. All DVR goals and priorities 
are established within the Division’s long established strategic themes as follows:  

• Organizational Effectiveness  
• Valued and Empowered Employees 
• Prepared Job Seekers 
• Collaborative Partnerships 

 
 

(A) Program Year 2019 Goals and Priorities. 
 
1. DVR will align services to support consumers in achieving the WIOA Common Performance  

Outcome Measures. 

Program 2019 Measures:  

a. Employment retention six months post closure 



b. Employment retention twelve months post closure 
c. Median earnings six months post closure 
d. Credential attainment rate 
e. Measurable skills gains 
f. Employer engagement 

Program Year 2019 Target: DVR will be collecting and reporting baseline data to RSA during this 
period.  

2. DVR will increase the percentage of consumers earning over 110% of minimum wage and over 
150% of minimum wage at closure. DVR believes in order to increase median earnings six months 
post closure, the agency must increase earnings at closure.  Based on Needs Assessment data from 
2017, 55% of DVR consumers were earning 110% of minimum wage or less at closure and only 
18% of DVR consumers were earning over 150% of minimum wage at closure.  

Program Year 2019 Measures:  

a. The percentage of DVR consumers with earnings greater than 110% of minimum wage at 
employment closure.  

b. The percentage of DVR consumers with earnings greater than 150% of minimum wage at 
employment closure.  

Program Year 2019 Targets:  

a. 55% of DVR consumers will earn 110% or greater of minimum wage at closure.  
b. 25% of DVR consumers will earn 150% or greater of minimum wage at closure. 

 
3. DVR will increase consumer opportunities to participate in and gain industry recognized 

credentials in middle skills professions. Industry recognized credentials are a proven mechanism 
for consumers to access higher wage employment. This will include sector-based training programs 
in collaboration with the Career and Technical Education Centers and Community College of 
Vermont.  

Program Year 2019 Measure: Number of individuals achieving credential attainment.  

Program Year 2019 Target: DVR will be collecting baseline data during this period.  

4. DVR will continue to expand efforts to effectively serve employers through Creative 
Workforce Solutions (CWS). Employer engagement continues to be a critical activity to ensure 
DVR consumers have access to employment opportunities.  

Program Year 2019 Measure: Employer engagement with DVR as tracked through the CWS 
Salesforce account management system. 

Program Year 2019 Target: DVR will maintain active relationships with 2,500 employers statewide 
during the program year.  

5. Consumer satisfaction with DVR services will be maintained or increase. 

Program Year 2019 Measure: Bi-annual consumer satisfaction survey. 



Program Year 2019 Target: DVR will achieve an 87% or better overall consumer satisfaction rating. 
Consumers reported an 87% overall satisfaction rating in the most recent survey (2016).  

DVR will also develop a process to assess student and parent satisfaction with Pre-ETS services. 
DVR will explore approaches to conducting such an assessment and develop metrics to track. 

6. DVR will implement a comprehensive quality assurance process incorporating the new 
AWARE case management system. In 2017 DVR successfully implemented the AWARE case 
management system. This system will provide DVR with a powerful new tool to upgrade the quality 
assurance process.  

Program Year 2019 Measure: Design and implementation of the quality assurance system. 

Program Year 2019 Target: Process evaluation of QA system (to be determined).  

7. DVR will continue to implement highly effective Pre-Employment Transition Services (Pre-
ETS) for students statewide. 

Program Year 2019 Measures:  

a. The percentage of high schools statewide that have at least one student actively participating  in 
Pre-ETS through DVR. 

b. The percentage of all potentially eligible students statewide who are participating in Pre-ETS 
through DVR. 

Program Year 2019 Targets:    

a. 90% of high schools statewide will have at least one student participating in Pre-ETS through 
DVR. 

b. 20% of potentially eligible students will participate in Pre-ETS through DVR 
 

8. DVR will implement the following strategies to mitigate FFY 2016 and FFY 2017 reductions in 
re-allotment funding that resulted in substantial cuts in services and capacity: 
 
• Partnerships with other programs and state systems to sustain employment services for people 

with disabilities; 
• Increasing program income through the Ticket to Work program; 
• Exploring federal and state grant opportunities to pilot new service models; and 
• Continually assessing the assignment of DVR resources to ensure funds are going toward 

activities that are most likely to result in an employment and career outcome. 

Program Year 2019 Measures:  

a. State government or other community agencies that have contributed resources to sustain 
programs affected by the loss of re-allotment. 

b. Social Security Administration Ticket to Work and Cost Reimbursement revenue. 
c. Federal or state grant applications. 

Program Year 2019 Targets:  



a. Baseline 
b. DVR will generate $2.5 million in Ticket to Work Revenue in Program Year 2019. 
c. DVR will apply for at least one grant application in Program Year 2019. 

 
9. With the implementation of Pre-ETS, the DVR caseload has trended towards serving a 

younger cohort. DVR needs to ensure the needs of middle-aged and mature workers are still 
adequately addressed, and in particular, the following cohorts: 
 
• Adults ages 35 to 55  
• Adults aged 55 and above  

Program Year 2019 Measures: 

a. The number of individuals receiving services in these cohorts. 
b. The employment outcomes by age cohort. 
c. Consumer satisfaction as measured in the DVR satisfaction survey. 
d. Services provided by age cohort. 
e. Other measures as identified by DVR and the SRC. 

Program Year 2019 Target: DVR will be collecting baseline data for this reporting period.  

10. DVR will continue to seek options for supported employment for the following underserved 
populations in the state: 
 
a. Individuals with developmental disabilities who do not meeting the developmental services 

system eligibility criteria or system or care priorities; 
b. Individuals with TBI who need onsite support; 
c. Individuals with psychiatric disabilities who do not meet the Community Rehabilitation and 

Treatment eligibility criteria; and 
d. Individuals with other severe disabilities who need supported employment. 

 

Program Year 2019 Measure: DVR will track and report the results of specific initiatives related to 
these populations.  

Program Year 2019 Target: Thirty individuals in the above categories will receive supported 
employment services. 

11. DVR will improve the outcomes for students and youth with emotional/behavioral disabilities  
                  served through the JOBS Supported Employment Program. 

Program Year 2019 Measure: Total number of consumers achieving a successful employment 
outcome (VR 26 closure). 

Program Year 2019 Target: A total of 250 successful employment outcomes. 

(B) Identify the goals and priorities in carrying out the VR and Supported Employment programs. 

See Goals 10 and 11 in Section (A) 



(C) Ensure that the goals and priorities are based on an analysis of the following areas: 
 
The goals and priorities outlined in the prior sections were based on the DVR and SRC Needs     
Assessment as outlined in Section (j). In addition, they were informed by the new Common Performance 
Measures. Finally, DVR and the SRC established goals and priorities related to Pre-Employment 
Transition Services.  

Based on the data gathered and discussions with the State Rehabilitation Council, DVR Senior and 
Regional Managers, and the DVR Implementation Team, the following are the key findings of the 2017 
DVR Needs Assessment (not in priority order): 

The need for increased attention to the employment needs of the mature worker. 

Despite a very modest increase, the overall percentage of VR consumers over 65 remains very low (3% 
in FFY 2016). This is despite the fact that Vermont has an aging demographic. Older Vermonters are 
increasingly staying in the workforce beyond normal retirement age for financial reasons or just because 
they want to. Many mature workers may experience age related disabilities and could benefit from DVR 
services. It is not clear why they are not seeking DVR services in greater numbers, and this is an area 
DVR may need to research in partnership with programs serving older Vermonters.  

DVR needs to identify and implement strategies to increase consumer hourly wages at closure. 

In FFY 16 55% of individuals were closed earning less than 110% of minimum wage. While this can 
partly be explained by the concurrent increases in the state minimum wage in 2015 and 2016, it is still 
an area of concern. The minimum wage in Vermont was $9.60 in 2016. This compares to a median 
hourly wage for all occupations in Vermont of $18.23 for 2016. While entry level employment is 
appropriate for some consumers, DVR should be looking at ways for individuals to move up the career 
ladder into higher wage employment.  

DVR consumers need opportunities to gain industry recognized credentials in middle skills 
professions. 

DVR data suggests that consumers who gain industry recognized certifications such as Licensed 
Nursing Assistant (LNA) or Commercial Driver’s License (CDL), are closed in higher wage 
employment.  Such middle skill certifications are often the quickest way to help individuals move from 
entry level employment to higher paying employment with genuine career prospects. There is a high 
demand from employers for individuals with these types of certifications.  Historically, DVR has set 
aside case service funds to support consumers in certification programs. DVR may need to expand these 
set asides and look at more system wide efforts to make these opportunities available. 

The implementation of Pre-ETS has shifted the DVR caseload to serve a higher proportion of 
younger people. 

The implementation of Pre-ETS appears to have had the effect of skewing the entire VR caseload 
towards a younger age group. This is in part because VR also added Young Adult counselors to meet the 
needs of students who engaged with VR as high school students and needed to transition into the adult 
caseload. DVR may need to consider new ways of providing services to younger people that matches 
their specific interests and needs. DVR may also need to pay attention to the needs of adults 35 and 
older. The number of adults age 35 to 55 has dropped significantly since the implementation of Pre-ETS. 



While this change in the overall caseload is predictable, DVR should be careful not to overlook the 
needs of this age group.    

The loss of re-allotment funding requires DVR to plan and manage services with reduced resources. 

As previously noted, the loss in re-14allotment funds resulted in significant cuts to the DVR program in 
FFY 17. DVR has managed those reductions while retaining the core services of the program. Going 
forward DVR will develop and implement strategies to offset this loss through: 

• Partnerships with other programs and state systems to sustain employment services for people 
with disabilities; 

• Increasing program income through Ticket to Work and other opportunities; and 
• Looking for federal and state grant opportunities to pilot new service models. 

 

DVR will also need to continually assess the assignment of resources and their impact on consumer 
services and outcomes. With limited resources it is especially important DVR invest funds in activities 
that are most likely to result in high quality employment outcomes.  

DVR must develop strategies to meet and exceed the outcome targets under the Common 
Performance Measures. 

The WIOA Common Performance Measures significantly change the way DVR is measured. The 
emphasis on career development, credential attainment, and measurable skills gains, will require DVR to 
consider changing current practice. As previously noted, DVR will be looking at strategies to increase 
wages and assist consumers in obtaining industry recognized credentials. In addition DVR will look at 
how to help consumers develop a career path.   

DVR should consider developing job coach capacity for adults and youth with severe disabilities who 
are not eligible for existing supported employment programs.  

DVR has recognized for many years that there are consumers with significant disabilities who require on 
job support to maintain employment, but who are not eligible for existing supported employment 
programs, like CRT or Developmental Services. These include individuals with TBI, psychiatric 
disabilities, developmental disabilities, and individuals with multiple disabilities. Field staff have 
recently experimented with hiring job coaches directly as temporary state employees, instead of 
contracting out for the service. This approach has proved more flexible and responsive to consumer 
needs. It also may be more cost effective. 

The need for sector-based training and collaboration with technical centers. 

Training programs, particularly for youth who are not planning to go to college, are inconsistently 
available across the state. Technical Centers connected to high schools sometimes offer adult training 
and some have been willing to work with employers to develop sector-based training programs. A more 
systematic approach to training would ensure that employers are able to hire skilled workers for available 
positions within their companies. 

The need for a comprehensive quality assurance system incorporating the new AWARE case 
management system . 



VR would like to develop a quality assurance system that will ensure a cycle of continuous 
improvement. VR is part of a New England effort to develop such a system. The system would organize 
and align a state’s organizational goals and objectives; performance measures; program evaluation; data 
analysis; and dissemination and communication strategies. In September 2017 DVR went live with an 
electronic case management system, called AWARE.  Aware is a powerful tool that is capable of 
producing data that managers and staff can use to inform practice and support quality work. DVR is still 
in the process of understanding how Aware works and how best to use it. DVR is a data driven 
organization and AWARE significantly upgrades our capacity to use data effectively.  

(D) The State's performance under the performance accountability measures of section 116 of WIOA. 

with all states, Vermont began collecting and reporting data for the WIOA Common Performance 
Measures in program year 2018. Program years 2018 and 2019 will be baseline data collection periods 
before targets are set for 2020. As noted, a major goal and priority for DVR will be realigning services 
to meet the WIOA measures. DVR has outlined our strategic approach to meet this priority area in 
Section (o). 

(E) Other available information on the operation and effectiveness of the VR program, including any 
reports received from the State Rehabilitation Council and findings and recommendations from 
monitoring activities conducted under section 107. 

Not applicable. 

 

 

(m) Order of Selection.   

 

(1) The order to be followed in selecting eligible individuals to be provided VR services. 

Vermont continues to operate under the order of selection established in FFY 1999. With the approval of 
the State Rehabilitation Council, the Category definitions have been rewritten in FFY 2017 to clarify the 
intent of the Rehabilitation Act to serve those most in need of services. These Category definitions 
replace the definitions that were in the FFY 2015 State Plan. 

Category I: Individuals who have been determined by DVR to have a physical or mental impairment 
that constitutes or results in a substantial impediment to employment and that seriously limits function in 
four or more areas of functional capacity (mobility, communication, work tolerance, work skills, self-
care, self-direction, interpersonal skills, dexterity/coordination), requiring multiple services over a 
period of six months or more.  

Category 2: Individuals who have been determined by DVR to have a physical or mental impairment 
that constitutes or results in a substantial impediment to employment and that seriously limits function in 
two to three areas of functional capacity (mobility, communication, work tolerance, work skills, self-
care, self-direction, interpersonal skills, dexterity/coordination), requiring multiple services over a 
period of six months or more.  



Category 3: Individuals who have been determined by DVR to have a physical or mental impairment 
that constitutes or results in a substantial impediment to employment and that seriously limits function in 
one area of functional capacity (mobility, communication, work tolerance, work skills, self-care, self-
direction, interpersonal skills, dexterity/coordination), requiring multiple services over a period of six 
months or more.  

Category 4: Individuals who have been determined by DVR to have a physical or mental impairment 
that constitutes or results in a substantial impediment to employment and that seriously limits function in 
one area of functional capacity (mobility, communication, work tolerance, work skills, self-care, self-
direction, interpersonal skills, dexterity/coordination), requiring multiple services over a period of less 
than six months.  

(2) The justification for the order. 

DVR made the changes to the definitions of Categories 1, 2, 3 and 4 because the old definitions did not 
provide sufficient clarity for counselors. As a result, a high proportion of eligible individuals were found 
to be eligible under Category 1. Based on data from the last eighteen months, it is clear the new 
Categories are better at identifying individuals with the most severe disabilities.    

With the loss of re-allotment funding DVR has considered closing one or more of the current open 
categories. However, two factors have enabled DVR to maintain Categories 1, 2 and 3 in an open status. 
First, DVR has been very successful in generating program income through the Ticket to Work program. 
In calendar year 2017, DVR received $2.5 million in Ticket payments. This income has helped offset the 
loss of re-allotment. Second, DVR’s strong partnerships with other state agencies allowed for those 
agencies to pick up funding for some programs that DVR had funded. Specifically, the Department of 
Mental Health agreed to fund a peer directed supported employment program for individuals with 
psychiatric disabilities. Also, the Alcohol and Substance Abuse Division funded employment services 
housed in peer run recovery centers. These partnerships enabled DVR to focus resources on core VR 
services.      

(3) The service and outcome goals. 

For FFY 18, DVR expects to serve the following number of individuals in each category: 

• Category 1: 5,806 
• Category 2: 2,021 
• Category 3: 299 

DVR projects the following rehabilitation outcomes for the individuals found eligible under the Order of 
Selection. These are the projected outcomes over the lifetime of the above cases:  

• Category 1: 3,193  
• Category 2: 1,111  
• Category 3: 165 

 
(4) The time within which these goals may be achieved for individuals in each priority category within 

the order. 

Individuals found eligible under Categories 1, 2 and 3 are expected to require at least six months of 
services from the development of the plan to the achievement of the employment goal. The actual 



amount of time needed will vary widely depending on the goals and needs of the individual. On average 
in Vermont it takes 13 months from application to successful employment outcome for individuals in the 
above Categories.  

Individuals found eligible under Category 4 will be expected to achieve their employment goal within 
six months of plan development. However, these individuals will have to wait one or more quarters for 
the Order of Selection to be opened (if it is opened), before a plan can be developed. Therefore, 
assuming one quarter for the Order of Selection to be opened and up to 90 days for plan development, 
outcomes for individuals under this category may take up to one year or more.  

(5) How individuals with the most significant disabilities are selected for services before all 
individuals with disabilities. 

In Vermont services for Category 1 eligible individuals are never delayed (as long as they are available 
for services), when eligible individuals in Priority Categories 2, 3 or 4 are open for services. This 
assumes all other variables are equal such as application date, IPE date and the individual’s availability 
for services at any given time.  

(6) If the designated State unit has elected to serve eligible individuals, regardless of any established 
order of selection, who require specific services or equipment to maintain employment. 

Vermont DVR has elected to serve eligible individuals, regardless of the order of selection, who require 
specific services or equipment to maintain employment.  

 

 

 
(n) Goals and Plans for Distribution of Title VI Funds. 

      

(1) Funds Under 603 of the Rehabilitation Act for the provision of supported employment services.  
At the time of this writing, Title VI-B funds have not been appropriated for FFY 2018. DVR has 
$200,000 in VI-B carry over funds from the FFY 17 award. These funds will be directed to the JOBS 
supported employment program serving youth ages 16 to 22. 

(2) Activities to be conducted, with funds reserved pursuant to section 603(d), for youth  
with the most significant disabilities, including: 
 
(A) The provision of extended services for a period not to exceed 4 years. 

DVR has committed VI-B funding for youth to the JOBS program, because that program is 
specifically designed to serve eligible youth with the most severe disabilities. A description of the 
JOBS program is outlined in other sections of the  plan. 
DVR counselors will authorize the use of funds for extended services through the JOBS program for 
up to the maximum of four years. 

(B) Leveraging other public and private funds to increase resources for extended services and 
expanded supported employment opportunities for youth. 
As noted in Section (F), DVR has a partnership with the Department of Mental Health (DMH) to 
provide extended services for youth and adults with psychiatric disabilities. The JOBS program uses 



Medicaid Global Commitment funds to provide extended supports post DVR closure. In addition, 
the adult mental health program can provide ongoing supports through the Medicaid case rate for 
individuals eligible for the Community Rehabilitation and Treatment (CRT) program or outpatient 
Medicaid Case Management services.  
Also as noted in Section (F), DVR has a partnership with the Vermont Development Disabilities 
Services Division (DDSD) to provide extended services for individuals with developmental 
disabilities. The primary source of funding for extended services for individuals with developmental 
disabilities is Home and Community Based Medicaid Waiver funds.  
 

 
 
(o) State’s Strategies to Achieve Goals and Priorities. 

Describe the required strategies and how the agency will use these strategies to achieve its goals and 
priorities, support innovation and expansion activities, and overcome any barriers to accessing the VR and 
the Supported Employment programs (See sections 101(a)(15)(D) and (18)(B) of the Rehabilitation Act and 
section 427 of the General Education Provisions Act (GEPA)): 

 

(1) The methods to be used to expand and improve services to individuals with disabilities. 
 
A. DVR will align services to support consumers in achieving the WIOA Common Performance   

Outcome Measures. 
B. DVR will increase the percentage of consumer earnings over 110% of minimum wage and 150% of 

minimum wage at closure.  DVR believes a major lead indicator of median earnings six months post 
closure are earnings at closure. Based on Needs Assessment data from 2017, 55% of DVR 
consumers were earning 110% of minimum wage or less at closure and only 18% of DVR 
consumers were earning over 150% of minimum wage at closure. 

C. DVR will increase consumer opportunities to participate in and gain industry-recognized credentials 
in middle skills professions. Industry-recognized credentials are a proven mechanism for consumers 
to access higher wage employment. This will include sector-based training programs in collaboration 
with technical centers. 

D. DVR will continue to expand efforts to effectively serve employers through Creative Workforce 
Solutions (CWS).Employer engagement continues to be a critical activity to ensure DVR consumers 
have access to employment opportunities.  

E. Consumer satisfaction with DVR services will be maintained or increase; 
F. DVR will implement a comprehensive quality assurance process incorporating the new AWARE 

case management system. In 2017 DVR successfully implemented the AWARE case management 
system. This system will provide DVR with a powerful new tool to upgrade the quality assurance 
process.  

G. DVR will continue to implement highly effective Pre-Employment Transition Services (Pre-ETS) 
for students statewide. 

H. DVR will implement the following strategies to mitigate FFY 2016 and FFY 2017 reductions in re-
allotment funding that resulted substantial cuts in services and capacity: 



 
• Partnerships with other programs and state systems to sustain employment services for people 

with disabilities; 
• Increasing program income through the Ticket to Work program; 
• Exploring federal and state grant opportunities to pilot new service models; and 
• Continually assessing the assignment of DVR resources to ensure funds are going toward 

activities that are most likely to result in an employment and career outcome. 
I. With the implementation of Pre-ETS, the DVR caseload has trended towards serving a younger 

cohort. DVR needs to ensure the needs of middle-aged and mature workers are still adequately 
addressed, and in particular, the following cohorts: 
 
• Adults ages 35 to 55  
• Adults aged 55 and above  

 
J. DVR will continue to seek options for supported employment for the following underserved 

populations in the state: 
 
• Individuals with developmental disabilities who do not meeting the developmental services 

system eligibility criteria or system or care priorities; 
• Individuals with TBI who need onsite support; 
• Individuals with psychiatric disabilities who do not meet the Community Rehabilitation and 

Treatment eligibility criteria; and 
• Individuals with other severe disabilities who need supported employment 

 
K. DVR will improve the outcomes for students and youth with emotional/behavioral disabilities served 

through the JOBS Supported Employment Programs 
 

The following are the strategies that will be implemented by Vermont DVR to achieve one or more of 
the goals and priorities. Each strategy is linked to the goals and priorities it is intended to address.  

 

Strategy 1: DVR will implement a portfolio of projects designed to realign staff practices, services 
and assignment of resources to meet the WIOA.  Goals 1, 2, 3, 4 and 8. 

DVR has identified a portfolio of twelve domains the Division will focus on to maximize DVR 
outcomes under the WIOA Common Performance Measures. These strategy areas of focus will be 
developed into projects during Program Year 2019. The areas of focus are:   

• DVR allocation of resources reflects the program qualitative measures. 
• Every step of the rehabilitation process will message and support the DVR commitment to careers. 
• DVR casework practices will support serving consumers more than once on their journey.  DVR will 

create a system to reach out to closed cases. DVR consumers will be encouraged to have a short term 
and long term vocational goal.   

• DVR Counselors will provide long term aspirational career counseling.  All staff will be trained to 
support long term career goals. 



• Motivational Interviewing (MI) coaches will facilitate coaching circles that support career 
counseling using MI strategies. 

• All DVR staff will be trained to do vocational assessments and use assessments as a career planning 
tool. 

• A continuum of Progressive Education (parallel to Progressive Employment) will be developed and 
implemented. 

• An education and training matrix will be completed in each district, including a gap analysis. 
• All staff will be familiar with education and training providers in their communities, as well as what 

career pathways and stackable credentials are offered. Counselors will be able to speak to consumers 
about possible career paths, based on assessments. 

• BAMs (Business Account Managers) understand the career paths in the businesses they serve. 
• AWARE will support the Careers Initiative. 
• A new “dashboard” using “leading” measures will be created that reflects the Common Performance 

Measures. 
 

Strategy 2: Expand training opportunities in industry recognized certifications that result in 
higher wage job opportunities for DVR consumers.  Goals 1, 2, 3 and 5.  

Since 2015, DVR has set aside funds to specifically support consumers’ access to training for industry 
recognized certifications in high demand and higher wage fields. Data suggests consumers who 
participate in these trainings exit the program with higher wage jobs. Also, the skills and qualifications 
consumers achieve are meeting the demands of local employers. Therefore, DVR plans to improve and 
expand these opportunities as follows:  

• DVR will maintain and expand the funds set aside for industry recognized trainings and 
certifications with an emphasis on middle and higher skill jobs in high demand sectors. 

• DVR will develop partnerships with employers, the Vermont Department of Labor, local Workforce 
Investment boards and the technical centers, to expand the number and type of training opportunities 
available.  

• DVR will track consumer participation and outcomes to determine which training programs are the 
most effective in terms of higher wages and career growth.   

 

Strategy 3: Implement a comprehensive quality assurance system utilizing the AWARE case 
management system. Goals 4, 5, 6 and 7.   

In September 2017, DVR went live with the AWARE case management system. AWARE greatly 
increases DVR’s capacity to manage and assess the quality of services. This includes: 

• An adaptable quality assurance tool built into the AWARE system. 
• The Power BI tool to analyze AWARE data in greater depth. 
• The ability to develop “dashboards” of leading quality indicators to measure staff and program 

performance. 

DVR will develop a QA system that does not simply measure compliance but actually looks at the total 
picture including the quality and effectiveness of services provided. This will also look at which 



practices are resulting in positive outcomes and if the assignment of time and resources are being 
deployed effectively. 

 

Strategy 4: Coordinate efforts with the Agency of Education (AOE) and the Department of Labor 
(VDOL) to ensure individuals with disabilities have access to other components of the workforce 
system. Goals 1, 2, 3, and 8. 

As noted in the Unified Section of the plan, DVR will be working closely with VDOL and AOE to 
ensure DVR consumers have access to all the workforce development opportunities available in their 
communities. DVR will be implementing a number of strategies to make this happen including the 
following:  

• The development of joint training programs in high demand and high wage sectors. 
• Developing systems to promote co-enrollment across programs to support consumer employment 

goals.  
• Actual or virtual co-location of DVR and VDOL staff. Cross training of VDOL, DVR and AOE 

staff. 
 

Strategy 5: Continue to implement and improve Pre-Employment Transition Services (PETS) for 
students. Goals 1, 3, 5 and 7.  

Vermont DVR has developed a comprehensive strategy to implement Pre-ETS in the state. 
Implementation started in the spring of 2015, and now Pre-ETS are fully operationalized. The following 
are the primary activities:  

• Vermont DVR has implemented an in school Transition Counselor model providing Pre-ETS 
services. DVR has reassigned 20% of the program’s VR counseling capacity (13.5 FTEs) to work 
exclusively with students. This provides coverage to all 60 supervisory unions and high schools in 
the state.  

• DVR has worked with its primary CRP, VABIR, to implement the Youth Employment Specialist 
(YES) model. A full time YES will be paired with each in school VR counselor to provide a range of 
Pre-ETS services including the development of real work based learning experiences.  

• DVR has implemented self-advocacy services for students through a contract agreement with the 
Vermont Center for Independent Living (VCIL). 

DVR has been successful in establishing a high quality Pre-ETS program accessible to students 
statewide. In addition, DVR will use the Linking Learning to Careers (LLC) project funded through the 
RSA Work Based Learning demonstration, to explore innovative new practices. The LLC project is an 
experimental design demonstration that will test the following innovations: 

• The provision of Career Consultation services. 
• Graduated work based learning experiences including competitive employment. 
• Dual enrollment in post-secondary programs for high school students. 
• Youth assistive technology services. 
• Assistance with transportation. 



We believe the LLC demonstration will provide rich information for Vermont and other states around 
how to provide Pre-ETS services. 

 

Strategy 6: Expand employer outreach and engagement efforts through Creative Workforce 
Solutions (CWS) to effectively meet the needs of employers.  Goal 4. 

As described in Section (g) of the State Plan, CWS is the primary employer outreach and engagement 
infrastructure for DVR. CWS, and in particular the Business Account Managers, have been a very 
effective approach to engaging employers and developing employment opportunities for DVR 
consumers. DVR will expand these efforts through the following strategies:  

• Seek opportunities to coordinate employer engagement with the Vermont Department of Labor. 
• Analyze Salesforce account management data to determine if there are industry sectors that are 

underrepresented. Develop strategies to engage those sectors in partnership with local employers.  
• Build on and expand employer events such as Job Fairs, employer breakfasts and business 

recognition events designed to engage employers.  
 

Strategy 7: Explore and expand strategies to serve and support the older worker with disabilities. 
Goal 5 and 9.  

In FFY 17 the proportion of DVR participants over 55 increased to 18%, an increase of 5% over the past 
four years. In response, DVR has created a Mature Worker Program Director. This position will work 
with the DVR management team to explore strategies to engage and serve mature workers. This may 
include: 

• Expanding partnerships with community agencies already serving the older worker such as Vermont 
Associates. 

• Training employment staff such as the Business Account Managers and Employment Consultants on 
how to represent older workers. 

• Effective use of Assistive Technology to assist and encourage aging workers to remain in the 
workforce. 
 

Strategy 8: Explore strategies to assist DVR consumers retain and advance in employment. Goal 
1, 5, and 8.   

DVR recognizes one of the goals of WIOA is to help consumers retain employment and develop career 
pathways to higher wage employment. The DVR management team had a two-day retreat to consider 
strategies to achieve this goal. One of those approaches is to engage consumers post closure to 
determine if they could benefit from additional services to help them advance in their current 
employment. This might include:  

• Exploring the use of post-employment services to support DVR consumers advancing in their 
current employment or accessing a new higher wage job.  

• Exploring outreach to closed cases to determine if individuals could benefit from re-engagement 
with DVR.  

 



Strategy 9: DVR will continue to seek funding partnerships with state agencies and community 
agencies to expand access to supported employment for individuals with the most severe 
disabilities, who are not currently eligible for long term support through existing systems. Goal 10.  

DVR will continue to seek opportunities to expand supported employment access to individuals through 
the following strategies: 

• Partnerships with other state and community agencies to fund long term supports. 
• Innovative use of existing long term services to support employment. 
• Development of natural support models. 
 

Strategy 10: DVR will partner with DMH to promote the Individual Placement and Support (IPS) 
model within the JOBS supported employment program. Goal 11.  

The IPS model is an evidence-based approach to providing supported employment services for adults 
with psychiatric disabilities. There is increasing evidence this approach is effective across populations 
including youth with severe emotional disturbance. DVR and DMH plan to support the implementation 
of IPS within the JOBS supported employment programs.  

 

(2) How a broad range of assistive technology services and devices will be provided to individuals 
with disabilities at each stage of the rehabilitation process and on a statewide basis. 

The State Assistive Technology Program is managed within the DVR program. The AT Project Director 
sits on the senior management team of the DVR program to make sure AT services are well integrated 
into VR services statewide.  

DVR provides VR funds to the AT Project through a contract to provide AT assessment and 
consultation services for VR consumers statewide. These contract funds support three AT Specialists 
located around the state. In addition, DVR contracts with the AT project to provide two AT coaches to 
work specifically with youth.  

DVR has established a set aside to fund higher cost AT equipment purchases. The AT staff provide 
guidance to VR counselors around the selection and purchase of AT equipment.  

 

(3) The outreach procedures that will be used to identify and serve individuals with disabilities who 
are minorities, including those with the most significant disabilities, as well as those who have been 
unserved or underserved by the VR program. 

Most of the minorities living in VT reside within Chittenden County, served by the Burlington district 
office. In particular, Burlington has a high proportion of refugees and new Americans. There are several 
organizations within Burlington that serve individuals who are minorities and/or refugees. The 
Burlington VR office has a well-established relationship with the Vermont Refugee Resettlement 
program and the Association of Africans Living in Vermont.  

 



(4) The methods to be used to improve and expand VR services for students with disabilities, 
including the coordination of services designed to facilitate the transition of such students from 
school to postsecondary life (including the receipt of VR services, postsecondary education, 
employment, and pre-employment transition services). 

Part of DVR’s overall strategic plan, as noted in Section 1, is to continue implementing highly effective 
Pre-Employment Transition Services (Pre-ETS) for students statewide. 

Vermont DVR has developed a comprehensive strategy to implement Pre-ETS in the state. 
Implementation started in the spring of 2015, and now Pre-ETS are fully operationalized. The following 
are the primary activities.  

A. DVR has implemented an in school Transition Counselor model providing PETS services. DVR has 
reassigned 20% of the programs VR counseling capacity (13.5 FTEs) to work exclusively with 
students. This provides coverage to all 60 supervisory unions and high schools in the state. 

B. DVR has worked with its primary CRP, VABIR, to implement the Youth Employment Specialist 
(YES) model. A full time YES will be paired with each in school VR counselor to provide a range of 
PETS services including the development of real work based learning experiences.  

C. DVR has implemented self-advocacy services for students through a contract agreement the 
Vermont Center for Independent Living (VCIL). 

DVR has been successful in establishing a high quality Pre-ETS program accessible to students 
statewide. In addition, DVR will use the Linking Learning to Careers (LLC) project funded through the 
RSA Work Based Learning demonstration, to explore innovative new practices. The LLC project is an 
experimental design demonstration that will test the following innovations: 

• The provision of Career Consultation services 
• Graduated work based learning experiences including competitive employment 
• Dual enrollment in post-secondary programs for high school students 
• Youth assistive technology services 
• Assistance with transportation 
 

We believe the LLC demonstration will provide rich information for Vermont and other states around 
how to provide Pre-ETS services. 

(5) If applicable, plans for establishing, developing, or improving community rehabilitation programs 
within the State. 

A major challenge for the Community Rehabilitation and supported employment programs is high staff 
turnover and staff training. To help address this issue DVR has partnered with Community College of 
Vermont to create an online Community Employment Specialist certification. The program meets the 
requirements for ACRE certification. The program was fully implemented in FFY 2017, and has been 
well accepted by provider agencies from supported employment programs and other CRPs. Staff 
appreciate the ability to get an ACRE certification.  

(6) Strategies to improve the performance of the State with respect to the performance accountability 
measures under section 116 of WIOA. 

As noted in Section 1, one of DVR’s strategies is to implement a portfolio of projects designed to 
realign staff practices, services and assignment of resources to meet the WIOA.   



DVR has identified a portfolio of twelve domains the Division will focus on to maximize DVR 
outcomes under the WIOA Common Performance Measures. These strategy areas of focus will be 
developed into projects during Program Year 2019. The areas of focus are:   

• DVR Allocation of resources reflects the program qualitative measures. 
• Every step of the rehabilitation process will message and support the DVR commitment to careers. 
• DVR casework practices will support serving consumers more than once on their journey.  DVR will 

have a system to reach out to closed cases will be in place.  DVR consumers will be encouraged to 
have a short term and long term vocational goal.   

• DVR Counselors will provide long term aspirational career counseling.  All staff will be trained to 
support long term career goals. 

• Motivational Interviewing (MI) coaches will facilitate coaching circles that support career 
counseling using MI strategies. 

• All DVR staff are trained to do vocational assessments and use assessments as a career planning 
tool. 

• A continuum of Progressive Education (parallel to Progressive Employment) will be developed and 
implemented. 

• An education and training matrix will be done in each district, including a gap analysis. 
• All staff will be familiar with education and training providers in their community and what career 

pathways they offer as well as stackable credentials.  Counselors will be able to speak to customers, 
based on assessments, about possible career paths.  

• BAMs understand the career paths in the businesses they serve. 
• AWARE will support the Careers Initiative. 
• A new dashboard will be created that reflects the Common Performance Measures – using “leading” 

measures. 
 

(7) Strategies for assisting other components of the statewide workforce development system in 
assisting individuals with disabilities. 

As noted in this section, one of DVR’s strategies is to coordinate efforts with the Agency of Education 
(AOE) and the Department of Labor (VDOL), to ensure individuals with disabilities have access to other 
components of the workforce system.  

As noted in the Unified Section of the plan, DVR will be working closely with VDOL and AOE to 
ensure DVR consumers have access to all the workforce development opportunities available in their 
communities. DVR will be implementing a number of strategies to make this happen including the 
following:  

• The development of joint training programs in high demand and high wage sectors  
• Developing systems to promote co—enrollment across programs to support consumer employment 

goals  
• Actual or virtual co—location of DVR and VDOL staff D. Cross training of VDOL, DVR and AOE 

staff  

(8) How strategies will be used to do the following: 

A. Achieve goals and priorities by the State, consistent with the comprehensive needs assessment; 



As noted in Section 1, each strategy is linked back to at least one goal and priority established by VR 
and the SRC, consistent with the Needs Assessment.  

B. Support innovation and expansion activities; 

The strategies for innovation and expansion have been laid out in Section I.  

C. Overcome identified barriers relating to equitable access to and participation of individuals 
with disabilities in the State VR Services Program and the State Supported Employment 
Services Program. 

As noted in Section 1, one of DVR’s strategies is to continue to seek funding partnerships with state 
agencies to expand access to supported employment for individuals with the most severe disabilities, 
who are not currently eligible for long term support through existing systems.  

DVR will continue to seek opportunities to expand supported employment access to individuals 
through the following strategies: 

• Partnerships with other state and community agencies to fund long term supports 
• Innovative use of existing long-term services to support employment 
• Development of natural support models 

 
 
 
 
(p) Evaluation and Reports of Progress” VR and Supported Employment Goals. 

      

(1) An evaluation of the extent to which the VR program goals described in the approved VR services 
portion of the Unified or Combined Plan for the most recently completed program year were 
achieved. The evaluation must: 

FFY 2017 Goals and Priorities as outlined in the state plan:  

DVR will implement highly effective Pre—Employment Transition Services (PETS) for students 
statewide.  

FFY 2017 Measures:  

a. The percentage of high schools statewide that have at least one student actively 
participating in PETS through DVR. 

b. The percentage of all potentially eligible students statewide who are participating in PETS through 
DVR.  

FFY 2017 Targets:  

a. 90% of high schools statewide will have at least one student participating in PETS 
 through DVR.  

Program Year 2017 results: 100% of the public high schools in Vermont have made referrals to DVR for 
Pre-ETS services. 



b. DVR has just started to implement PETS in a comprehensive and strategic manner in  
FFY 16. We intend to use FFY 16 and FFY 17 to establish baseline data on the percentage of the 
total potentially eligible population participating in PETS.  

Program Year 2017 results: During the 2016/17 school year 1,019 students with disabilities were 
enrolled in Pre-ETS and/or VR services out of a potentially eligible population of 5,390. This means 
18.9% of potentially eligible students were receiving Pre-ETS and/or VR services during the school 
year. 

DVR believes that our comprehensive strategic approach to implementing Pre-ETS statewide has 
contributed to this success. In particular, the designation of 13.5 VR Transition Counselors and 13.5 
contracted Youth Employment Specialists. This allowed DVR to have a presence in every school with a 
single point of contact. 

Factors that continue to impede implementation include:  

• Lack of engagement from education staff in some high schools 
• The challenges involved in serving the most rural and remote schools 

DVR will align services to support consumers in achieving the WIOA Common Performance 
Outcomes Measures.  

FFY 2017 Measures:  

a. Employment retention six months and twelve months post closure  
b.  Median earnings six months post closure 
c. Credential attainment rate 
d. Measurable skills gains 
e. Employer engagement  

FFY 2017 Targets: The targets are entered in the Common Performance Measures section of the unified 
plan.  

Program Year 2017 Results: 2017 is a benchmark year for data collection under the Common 
Performance Measures. 

In addition to the Common Performance Measures, DVR will continue to assist more Vermonters 
with a disability achieve an employment outcome.  

FY 2017 Measure: The number of individuals who achieve an employment outcome (status 26).  

FY 2017 Target: More individuals will achieve an employment outcome in FY 2017 than did in FY 
2016  

FFY 17 Results: In FFY 2017 1,287 DVR consumers achieved an employment outcome. This is 
compared to 1,574 consumers who achieved an employment outcome in FFY 16. 

DVR believes there are two major factors that impeded the program achieving this goal. First, the loss of 
re-allotment funds dramatically decreased staff and case service resources. For example, DVR had to 
reassign or not fill ten DVR counselor positions. This has clearly had an impact on outcomes. Secondly, 
the shift of resources to Pre-ETS has clearly affected employment outcomes. While DVR supports the 



goal of Pre-ETS, there was no way to manage the re-assignment of 15% of federal funds to Pre-ETS 
without a drop in outcomes.    

DVR will effectively serve employers through Creative Workforce Solutions (CWS).  

FY 2017 Measure: Employer engagement with DVR as tracked through the CWS Salesforce account 
management system.  

FFY 2017 Target: DVR will maintain active relationships with 2,500 employers statewide during the 
fiscal year.  

FFY 17 Results: In FFY 2017, DVR had 2,013 active relationships with employers statewide.  

Strategies that contributed to the achievement of this goal included: 

• The maintenance of the Business Account Manager (BAM) Capacity statewide. Despite loss of 
re-allotment, DVR has maintained 10 BAM positions statewide, a reduction of two positions. 
Two BAMs are covering two of the twelve DVR districts.  

• DVR has invested in the training and development of the BAM staff to improve their 
effectiveness.  

Factors that impeded the implementation of the goal: 

• The loss of two FTE BAM staff naturally had an impact on the employer outreach overall 
numbers.  

Consumer satisfaction with DVR services will be maintained or increase.  

FFY 2017 Measure: Bi-annual consumer satisfaction survey.  

2017 Target: DVR will achieve an 86% or better overall consumer satisfaction rating. Consumers 
reported an 83% overall satisfaction rating in the most recent survey (2013).  

FFY 16 Results: In the spring of 2016, DVR repeated the consumer satisfaction survey conducted by an 
independent contractor. 87% of DVR consumers reported they were satisfied or very satisfied with DVR 
services. 

Strategies that contributed to the achievement of this goal:  

After the 2013 satisfaction survey results became available, DVR managers met with the survey 
contractor to look at the underlying data. We found two underlying issues: 

• Differences in expectations between DVR consumers and what the DVR program could actually 
provide. 

• Consumer concerns about staff response times to phone calls and E mails. 

In response to the above DVR redesigned its approach to orientation to set clearer expectations about the 
DVR program. DVR also implemented new expectations about response times for consumer contacts.  

DVR will implement the Alliance Enterprises AWARE electronic case management system to support 
staff in providing high quality VR services.  

FFY 2017 Measure: Staff satisfaction with the AWARE Implementation  



FFY 2017 Targets:  

a. More than 70% of staff will report they are satisfied or very satisfied with the  
implementation of the AWARE case management system three months post operationalization.  

b. More than 90% of Staff will report they are satisfied or very satisfied with the AWARE system one 
year after implementation (twelve months post operationalization). 

FFY 2017 Results: DVR went live with AWARE in September 2017. Based on field feedback, the 
system has been overwhelmingly accepted by frontline staff. Staff are very happy to finally have a 
modern case management system.  DVR is currently conducting a survey of all staff. We expect the 
results to be available in April.  

DVR staff will be satisfied with their jobs and have the training, tools and support they need to be 
effective.  

FFY 2017 Measure: Bi-annual Staff Survey  

a. Overall staff satisfaction  
b. Staff response to the question “Do you have the information you need to do your job?”  
c. Staff response to the question “Do you have adequate training to do your job?”  

FFY 2017 Targets:  

a. More than 90% of staff will report they are satisfied or very satisfied with their jobs. 
b. More than 85% of staff will report they have the information they need to do their jobs.  
c. More than 80% of staff will report they had adequate training to do their jobs.  

FFY 2017 Results: DVR did not conduct a staff satisfaction survey in 2017. This was because DVR was 
going through a major restructuring and downsizing. DVR determined it was inappropriate to conduct a 
satisfaction survey during such a period of change and uncertainty.  

DVR will continue to seek funding for services for the following underserved populations in the state:  

a. Individuals with measured IQs between 70 and 80  
b. Individuals with TBI  
c. Individuals with psychiatric disabilities  
d. Individuals with other significant disabilities who require case management services 
e. Individuals exiting the correctional system  
f. Individuals with alcohol/substance abuse dependence/abuse disorders (AODA) 
g. Individuals with disabilities who are veterans  
h. Individuals with disabilities who are not primary English speakers  
i. Individuals age 65 and older  

FFY 2017 Measures: DVR will track and report the results of specific initiatives related to these 
populations.  

FFY 2017 Targets: None  

FFY 2017 Results: In FFY 2016 DVR implemented one pilots to serve underserved populations. These 
were as follows: 

Three pilots with peer run “Recovery Centers” serving adults with substance abuse disorders. The goal 
was to embed employment staff in the centers. Because of the loss of re-allotment funds DVR had to 



discontinue the pilot. However, the Vermont Office of Alcohol and Drug Abuse Programs has agreed to 
step in and fund this service. 

 
(A) Identify the strategies that contributed to the achievement of the goals. 

This information is included in Section 1 where applicable.  

(B) Describe the factors that impeded the achievement of the goals and priorities. 

This information is included in Section 1 where applicable.  

 

(4) An evaluation of the extent to which the VR program goals described in the Supported 
Employment Supplement for the most recent program year were achieved.  The evaluation must: 

DVR will improve the outcomes for supported employment programs serving adults with 
developmental disabilities. This includes students served under Pre-Employment Transition Services.  

 2017 Measures:  

a. Total number of consumers achieving a successful employment outcome (VR 26 closure).  
b. Total number of people employed within the Developmental Services Program.  
c. Total number of students receiving Pre-ETS services through supported employment.  

FFY 2017 Targets  

a. Total successful employment outcomes: 250  
b. Total number of people employed: 1,150  
c. Total number served through Pre-ETS: Baseline to be established in FFY 2016 and FFY 2017.  

FFY 2017 Results: 

Total successful employment outcomes: The implementation of AWARE in FFY 2017 has interrupted 
DVR capacity to report on these measures. The data crosses the legacy system and AWARE making it 
very difficult to generate these data accurately. DVR expects to be able to generate these reports going 
forward in the AWARE system.  

Total number of people employed: 1,256 individuals with developmental disabilities were employed. 

In FFY 17, DVR ended Pre-ETS funding for developmental services supported employment programs 
because of the loss of re-allotment funding. 

DVR will improve the outcomes for students and youth with emotional/behavioral disabilities served 
through the JOBS Supported Employment Programs.  

The implementation of AWARE in FFY 2017 has interrupted DVR capacity to report on these 
measures. The data crosses the legacy system and AWARE making it very difficult to generate these 
data accurately. DVR expects to be able to generate these reports going forward in the AWARE system.  

(A)  Identify the strategies that contributed to the achievement of the goals.  



DVR has a long history of collaboration with the State Division of Developmental Services and the 
State Department of Mental Health and the community agencies that provide supported employment 
services. This includes joint monitoring of programs, sponsoring of joint trainings and monthly 
meetings with leadership. This strong partnership has allowed Vermont to develop a shared vision 
of supported employment services. 

(B) Describe the factors that impeded the achievement of the goals and priorities. 

The loss of re-allotment funding has required DVR to reduce funding to the developmental services 
supported employment programs by about 30% and the JOBS supported employment programs by 
about 40%. Such significant reductions have had an impact on the programs capacity.   

 
 
 
 
(q) Quality, Scope, and Extent of Supported Employment Services. 

 

(1) The quality, scope, and extent of supported employment services to be provided to individuals 
with the most significant disabilities, including youth with the most significant disabilities. 

      Individuals with Developmental Disabilities  

DVR works closely with the Developmental Disabilities Services Division (DDSD) to provide 
supported employment services and DVR funds are viewed, along with Medicaid funds, as an integral 
part of the overall employment budget for individuals with developmental disabilities. This funding 
braids DVR funding with individual Medicaid Waiver funds to create a seamless structure of upfront 
and ongoing support. DVR funds are specifically allocated to provide assessment, training, and 
placement services until closure, with Medicaid Waiver funds providing the necessary long term follow 
up.  

DVR and DDSD only support individual integrated competitive supported employment. The State does 
not support any sheltered work or congregate work settings. The most recent employment rate data for 
individuals with developmental disabilities (SFY16) showed a 48% employment rate for working age 
adults in the DDSD system.  

DVR and DDSD have no sheltered employment workshops since Vermont closed its last workshop for 
individuals with developmental disabilities in 2002. That same year, Vermont was ranked number 1 in 
the nation in the number of people with developmental disabilities who received supported employment 
to work per 100,000 of the state population1.  In the past two years, the numbers of individuals with 
developmental disabilities employed in competitive jobs have continued to increase.  

 

___________________________________________ 

1 The State of the States in Developmental Disabilities:  2002 Study Summary, Coleman Institute for Cognitive 
Disabilities & Department of Psychiatry, University of Colorado, January 2004. 



 

Adults with Significant Mental Illness  

DVR has historically worked closely with DMH to support the integration of employment into the 
broad array of clinical mental health services available to individuals with significant mental health 
issues. Similar to its relationship with DDSD, DVR funding was braided with the DMH Community 
Rehabilitation and Treatment (CRT) Medicaid case rate to provide a seamless structure of upfront and 
ongoing support.  

Up until SFY 2016, DVR funds have been specifically allocated to provide assessment, training, and 
placement services until closure, with the CRT Medicaid case rate funds providing the necessary long 
term follow up. Starting in SFY 16, DVR decided to reallocate the $700,000 in Title 110 funds 
committed to adult mental health to the JOBS program. This decision was made to enable DVR to 
come into compliance with the Pre-Employment Transition Services (Pre-ETS) requirement. In order to 
meet the 15% Pre-ETS expenditure target, DVR had to reassign funds from adult services to services 
for students and youth. This was a very difficult decision for DVR and we are greatly saddened by the 
impact on supported employment services for adults with mental illness. 

While DVR no longer has a formal contractual program with the CRT programs to deliver supported 
employment services, DVR continues to partner with CRT programs at the local level. Many CRT 
programs have sustained their supported employment services despite the loss of VR funding. Local 
VR offices continue to provide services for CRT consumers that supplement their Medicaid funded 
services. 

DVR and DMH continue to work together at the state level, to support evidence based supported 

employment. Vermont was the first state to pilot a Johnson and Johnson Dartmouth initiative, now in 
13 states, which continues to demonstrate that adherence to the principles of evidence based supported 
employment is key to increasing employment rates.  

Youth with Emotional and Behavioral Disturbances  

The JOBS Program is an innovative supported employment and intensive case management service for 
youth with emotional and behavioral disturbances (EBD) that uses work as a means to reach this 
challenging population. As a result of a unique partnership between the Department of Mental Health’s 
Child, Adolescent and Family Unit (CAFU), the Department for Children and Families, the Department 
of Corrections, the Division of Vocational Rehabilitation, and contract agencies, the JOBS Program is 
operational in twelve (12) sites across the state. The JOBS Program is funded through a combination of 
Medicaid Global Commitment funds and a VR grant funds.  

JOBS involves employers and the business community in meeting the needs of youth through intensive 
job development, placement, and on and off site training support. JOBS differs from other traditional 
employment models by providing intensive case management services to assist young people in meeting 
other areas of need in their lives, e.g., dealing with legal issues, homelessness, drug/alcohol abuse, 
transportation and probation and parole. Within this model, DVR funds are used to provide the 
employment focus and upfront employment assessment, training, and placement services. The case 
management and ongoing support is provided through state general funds (contributed by the different 



state departments noted above) which are matched to Medicaid through a fee for service arrangement 
with DMH.  

Individuals with Traumatic Brain Injury  

DVR also works with the Developmental Disabilities Services Division (DDSD) to provide seamless 
employment support to individuals with Traumatic Brain Injury. Similar to the collaboration that serves 
individuals with developmental disabilities, the DVR funds are used for the up—front assessment, 
training, and placement services, while individual Medicaid waiver funds are used to provide the 
ongoing support.  

(2) The timing of transition to extended services. 
 
Described in Section 1 
 
 

 
(r) Certifications. 

 

Name of designated State agency or designated State unit, as appropriate:   

Vermont Agency of Human Services  

Name of designated State agency:  

Vermont Agency of Human Services  

Full Name of Authorized Representative:  

Al Gobeille 

Title of Authorized Representative:  

Secretary  

 

States must provide written and signed certifications that: 

1. The designated State agency or designated State unit (as appropriate) listed above is authorized to 
submit the VR services portion of the Unified or Combined State Plan under title 1 of the Rehabilitation 
Act of 1973 (Rehabilitation Act), as amended by WIOA*, and its supplement under title VI of the 
Rehabilitation Act.**      

Yes 

2. As a condition for the receipt of Federal funds under title I of the Rehabilitation Act for the provision of 
VR services, the designated State agency listed above agrees to operate and administer the State VR 
Services Program in accordance with the VR services portion of the Unified or Combined State Plan, the 
Rehabilitation Act, and all applicable regulations, policies, and procedures established by the Secretary 



of Education. Funds made available under section 111 of the Rehabilitation Act are used solely for the 
provision of VR services and the administration of the VR services portion of the Unified or Combined 
State Plan.      

Yes 

3. As a condition for the receipt of Federal funds under title VI of the Rehabilitation Act for supported 
employment services, the designated State agency agrees to operate and administer the State Supported 
Employment Services Program in accordance with the supplement to the VR services portion of the 
Unified or Combined State Plan*, the Rehabilitation Act, and all applicable regulations, policies, and 
procedures established by the Secretary of Education. Funds made available under title VI are used 
solely for the provision of supported employment services and the administration of the supplement to 
the VR services portion of the Unified or Combined State Plan.**      

Yes 

4. The designated State agency and/or the designated State unit has the authority under State law to 
perform the functions of the State regarding the VR services portion of the Unified or Combined State 
Plan and its supplement.      

Yes 

5. The State legally may carry out each provision of the VR services portion of the Unified or Combined 
State Plan and its supplement.      

Yes 

6. All provisions of the VR services portion of the Unified or Combined State Plan and its supplement are 
consistent with State law.      

Yes 

7. The Authorized Representative listed above has the authority under State law to receive, hold, and 
disburse Federal funds made available under the VR services portion of the Unified or Combined State 
Plan and its supplement.     

Yes 

8. The Authorized Representative listed above has the authority to submit the VR services portion of the 
Unified or Combined State Plan and the supplement for Supported Employment services.      

Yes 

9. The agency that submits the VR services portion of the Unified or Combined State Plan and its 
supplement has adopted or otherwise formally approved the plan and its supplement.      

Yes 

 

Additional Comments on the Certifications from the State 

1. Certification Regarding Lobbying- Vocational Rehabilitation 

Certification for Contracts, Grants, Loans, and Cooperative Agreements the undersigned certifies, to the 
best of his or her knowledge and belief, that: 



A. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the undersigned, to 
any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of an agency, a Member 
of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in 
connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any Federal grant, the making 
of any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, 
renewal, amendment, or modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement. 

B. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for 
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, 
an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with 
this Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the undersigned shall complete and 
submit Standard Form-LLL, ''Disclosure of Lobbying Activities,'' in accordance with its instructions 

C. The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award 
documents for all sub awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, sub grants, and contracts under 
grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all sub recipients shall certify and disclose 
accordingly. This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed 
when this transaction was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for 
making or entering into this transaction imposed by section 1352, title 31, U.S. Code. Any person 
who fails to file the required certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 
and not more than $100,000 for each such failure. 

Statement for Loan Guarantees and Loan Insurance 

The undersigned states, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that:  
If any funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an 
officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an 
employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this commitment providing for the United States 
to insure or guarantee a loan, the undersigned shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, 
''Disclosure of Lobbying Activities,'' in accordance with its instructions. Submission of this statement is 
a prerequisite for making or entering into this transaction imposed by section 1352, title 31, U.S. Code. 
Any person who fails to file the required statement shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than 
$10,000 and not more than $100,000 for each such failure.  

Applicant’s Organization:       

Agency of Human Services, Division of Vocational Rehabilitation  

Full Name of Authorized Representative:       

Al Gobeille  

Title of Authorized Representative:        

Secretary  

SF LLL Form – Disclosure of Lobbying Activities (only if applicable) 
(http://www2.ed.gov/fund/grant/apply/appforms/appforms.html). If applicable, please print, sign, and 
email to MAT_OCTAE@ed.gov 

 

2. Certification Regarding Lobbying- Supported Employment 

mailto:MAT_OCTAE@ed.gov


Certification for Contracts, Grants, Loans, and Cooperative Agreements The undersigned certifies, to the 
best of his or her knowledge and belief, that: 

A. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the undersigned, to 
any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of an agency, a Member 
of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in 
connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any Federal grant, the making 
of any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, 
renewal, amendment, or modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement. 

B. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for 
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, 
an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with 
this Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the undersigned shall complete and 
submit Standard Form-LLL, ''Disclosure of Lobbying Activities,'' in accordance with its instructions. 

C. The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award 
documents for all sub awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, sub grants, and contracts under 
grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all sub recipients shall certify and disclose 
accordingly. This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed 
when this transaction was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for 
making or entering into this transaction imposed by section 1352, title 31, U.S. Code. Any person 
who fails to file the required certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 
and not more than $100,000 for each such failure. 

Statement for Loan Guarantees and Loan Insurance 

The undersigned states, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that:  
If any funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for influencing or attempting to influence 
an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, 
or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this commitment providing for the 
United States to insure or guarantee a loan, the undersigned shall complete and submit Standard 
Form-LLL, ''Disclosure of Lobbying Activities,'' in accordance with its instructions. Submission of 
this statement is a prerequisite for making or entering into this transaction imposed by section 1352, 
title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required statement shall be subject to a civil 
penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for each such failure.  

Applicant’s Organization:       

Agency of Human Services Division of Vocational Rehabilitation  

Full Name of Authorized Representative:       

Al Gobeille 

Title of Authorized Representative:       

Secretary  

SF LLL Form – Disclosure of Lobbying Activities (only if applicable) 
(http://www2.ed.gov/fund/grant/apply/appforms/appforms.html).  

 

http://www2.ed.gov/fund/grant/apply/appforms/appforms.html


Assurances 

The designated State agency or designated State unit, as appropriate and identified in the State certifications 
included with this VR services portion of the Unified or Combined State Plan and its supplement, through 
signature of the authorized individual, assures the Commissioner of the Rehabilitation Services Administration 
(RSA), that it will comply with all of the requirements of the VR services portion of the Unified or Combined 
State Plan and its supplement, as set forth in sections 101(a) and 606 of the Rehabilitation Act. The individual 
authorized to submit the VR services portion of the Unified or Combined State Plan and its supplement makes 
the following assurances: The State Plan must provide assurances that: 

1. Public Comment on Policies and Procedures: 
The designated State agency assures it will comply with all statutory and regulatory requirements for 
public participation in the VR Services Portion of the Unified or Combined State Plan, as required by 
section 101(a)(16)(A) of the Rehabilitation Act. 
 

2. Submission of the VR services portion of the Unified or Combined State Plan and Its Supplement: 

The designated State unit assures it will comply with all requirements pertaining to the submission and 
revisions of the VR services portion of the Unified or Combined State Plan and its supplement for the 
State Supported Employment Services program, as required by sections 101(a)(1), (22), (23), and 606(a) 
of the Rehabilitation Act; section 102 of WIOA in the case of the submission of a unified plan; section 
103 of WIOA in the case of a submission of a Combined State Plan; 34 CFR 76.140. 

3. Administration of the VR services portion of the Unified or Combined State Plan: 

The designated State agency or designated State unit, as appropriate, assures it will comply with the 
requirements related to:  

A. the establishment of the designated State agency and designated State unit, as required by section 
101(a)(2) of the Rehabilitation Act. 

B. the establishment of either a State independent commission or State Rehabilitation Council, as 
required by section 101(a)(21) of the Rehabilitation Act. The designated State agency or designated 
State unit, as applicable (B) has established a State Rehabilitation Council  

C. consultations regarding the administration of the VR services portion of the Unified or Combined 
State Plan, in accordance with section 101(a)(16)(B) of the Rehabilitation Act. 

D. the financial participation by the State, or if the State so elects, by the State and local agencies, to 
provide the amount of the non-Federal share of the cost of carrying out the VR program in 
accordance with section 101(a)(3). 

E. the local administration of the VR services portion of the Unified or Combined State Plan, in 
accordance with section 101(a)(2)(A) of the Rehabilitation Act. 

F. The designated State agency allows for the local administration of VR funds        
No  

G. the shared funding and administration of joint programs, in accordance with section 101(a)(2)(A)(ii) 
of the Rehabilitation Act. The designated State agency allows for the shared funding and 
administration of joint programs:        
No  

H. state wideness and waivers of state wideness requirements, as set forth in section 101(a)(4) of the 
Rehabilitation Act. 



Is the designated State agency requesting or maintaining a waiver of state wideness for one or more 
services provided under the VR services portion of the Unified or Combined State Plan? See Section 
2 of this VR services portion of the Unified or Combined State Plan. 
No          

I. the descriptions for cooperation, collaboration, and coordination, as required by  
sections 101(a)(11) and (24)(B); and 606(b) of the Rehabilitation Act. 

No          
J. all required methods of administration, as required by section 101(a)(6) of the Rehabilitation Act. 
K. the requirements for the comprehensive system of personnel development, as set forth in section 

101(a)(7) of the Rehabilitation Act. 
L. the compilation and submission to the Commissioner of statewide assessments, estimates, State 

goals and priorities, strategies, and progress reports, as appropriate, and as required by sections 
101(a)(15), 105(c)(2), and 606(b)(8) of the Rehabilitation Act. 

M. the reservation and use of a portion of the funds allotted to the State under section 110 of the 
Rehabilitation Act for the development and implementation of innovative approaches to expand and 
improve the provision of VR services to individuals with disabilities, particularly individuals with 
the most significant disabilities. 

N. the submission of reports as required by section 101(a)(10) of the Rehabilitation Act. 

 

4. Administration of the Provision of VR Services: 

The designated State agency, or designated State unit, as appropriate, assures that it will: 

A. comply with all requirements regarding information and referral services in accordance with sections 
101(a)(5)(D) and (20) of the Rehabilitation Act. 

B. impose no duration of residence requirement as part of determining an individual’s eligibility for VR 
services or that excludes from services under the plan any individual who is present in the State in 
accordance with section 101(a)(12) of the Rehabilitation Act. 

C. provide the full range of services listed in section 103(a) of the Rehabilitation Act as appropriate, to 
all eligible individuals with disabilities in the State who apply for services in accordance with 
section 101(a)(5) of the Rehabilitation Act? 

D. determine whether comparable services and benefits are available to the individual in 
 accordance with section 101(a)(8) of the Rehabilitation Act. 
Agency will provide the full range of services described above 

E. comply with the requirements for the development of an individualized plan for employment in 
accordance with section 102(b) of the Rehabilitation Act. 

F. comply with requirements regarding the provisions of informed choice for all applicants and eligible 
individuals in accordance with section 102(d) of the Rehabilitation Act. 

G. provide vocational rehabilitation services to American Indians who are individuals with disabilities 
residing in the State, in accordance with section 101(a)(13) of the Rehabilitation Act. 

H. comply with the requirements for the conduct of semiannual or annual reviews, as appropriate, for 
individuals employed either in an extended employment setting in a community rehabilitation 
program or any other employment under section 14(c) of the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, as 
required by section 101(a)(14)of the Rehabilitation Act. 

I. meet the requirements in sections 101(a)(17) and 103(b)(2) of the Rehabilitation Act if the State 
elects to construct, under special circumstances, facilities for community rehabilitation programs 

J. with respect to students with disabilities, the State, has developed and will implement strategies to 
address the needs identified in the assessments; and strategies to achieve the goals and priorities 
identified by the State, to improve and expand vocational rehabilitation services for students with 



disabilities on a statewide basis; and has developed and will implement strategies to provide pre-
employment transition services (sections 101(a)(15) and 101(a)(25)). 

 

5. Program Administration for the Supported Employment Title VI Supplement: 
 
A. The designated State unit assures that it will include in the VR services portion of the 

Unified or Combined State Plan all information required by section 606 of the Rehabilitation Act 
B. The designated State agency assures that it will submit reports in such form and in accordance with 

such procedures as the Commissioner may require and collects the information required by section 
101(a)(10) of the Rehabilitation Act separately for individuals receiving supported employment 
services under title I and individuals receiving supported employment services under title VI of the 
Rehabilitation Act. 

C. The designated state unit will coordinate activities with any other State agency that is functioning as 
an employment network under the Ticket to Work and Self-Sufficiency program under Section 1148 
of the Social Security Act. 

 

6. Financial Administration of the Supported Employment Program: 
 
A. The designated State agency assures that it will expend no more than 2.5 percent of 

 the State’s allotment under title VI for administrative costs of carrying out this program; and, the 
designated State agency or agencies will provide, directly or indirectly through public or private 
entities, non-Federal contributions in an amount that is not less than 10 percent of the costs of 
carrying out supported employment services provided to youth with the most significant disabilities 
with the funds reserved for such purpose under section 603(d) of the Rehabilitation Act, in 
accordance with section 606(b)(7)(G) and (H) of the Rehabilitation Act. 

B. The designated State agency assures that it will use funds made available under title VI of the 
Rehabilitation Act only to provide supported employment services to individuals with the most 
significant disabilities, including extended services to youth with the most significant disabilities, 
who are eligible to receive such services; and, that such funds are used only to supplement and not 
supplant the funds provided under Title I of the Rehabilitation Act, when providing supported 
employment services specified in the individualized plan for employment, in accordance with 
section 606(b)(7)(A) and (D), of the Rehabilitation Act. 

 

7. Provision of Supported Employment Services: 
 
A. The designated State agency assures that it will provide supported employment services as defined in 

section 7(39) of the Rehabilitation Act. 
B. The designated State agency assures that:  

the comprehensive assessment of individuals with significant disabilities conducted under section 
102(b)(1) of the Rehabilitation Act and funded under title I of the Rehabilitation Act includes 
consideration of supported employment as an appropriate employment outcome, in accordance with 
the requirements of section 606(b)(7)(B) of the Rehabilitation Act 



an individualized plan for employment that meets the requirements of section 102(b) of the 
Rehabilitation Act , which is developed and updated with title I funds, in accordance with sections 
102(b)(3)(F) and 606(b)(6)(C) and (E) of the Rehabilitation Act. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

_____________________________ 
 Certification 1 Footnotes 
  
* Public Law 113-128. 
  
** Unless otherwise stated, "Rehabilitation Act" means the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended by WIOA, signed into 
law on July 22, 2014. 
  
Certification 2 Footnotes 
  
* All references in this plan to "designated State agency" or to "the State agency" relate to the agency identified in this 
paragraph. 
  
** No funds under title 1 of the Rehabilitation Act may be awarded without an approved VR services portion of the 
Unified or Combined State Plan in accordance with section 101(a) of the Rehabilitation Act. 
  
*** Applicable regulations, in part, include the Education Department General Administrative Regulations (EDGAR) in 
34 CFR parts 76,77,79,81, and 82; 2 CFR part 200 as adopted by 2 CFR part 3485; and the State VR Services Program 
regulations. 
  
Certification 3 Footnotes 
  
* No funds under title VI of the Rehabilitation Act may be awarded without an approved supplement to the VR services 
portion of the Unified or Combined State Plan in accordance with section 606(a) of the Rehabilitation Act. 
  
** Applicable regulations, in part, include the citations in *** under Certification 2 footnotes. 


	Draft-PR-Committee-Minutes-2019-06-06-v2.pdf
	Performance Review Committee Meeting
	State Plan - Combined SectionsFINAL2.pdf
	(A) Consultations and technical assistance to assist educational agencies in planning for the transition of students with disabilities from school to post school activities, including VR services:
	(B) Transition planning by personnel of the designated State agency and educational agency that   facilitates the development and implementation of their individualized education programs.
	(C) Roles and responsibilities, including financial responsibilities, of each agency, including provisions for determining State lead agencies and qualified personnel responsible for transition services.
	(D) Procedures for outreach to and identification of students with disabilities who need transition services.
	A. Achieve goals and priorities by the State, consistent with the comprehensive needs assessment;
	B. Support innovation and expansion activities;
	C. Overcome identified barriers relating to equitable access to and participation of individuals with disabilities in the State VR Services Program and the State Supported Employment Services Program.

	2017 Needs Assessment



Accessibility Report


		Filename: 

		Meeting-Packet-for-the-Performance-Review-Committee-Meeting-on-October-17-2019.pdf




		Report created by: 

		Debra L Kobus, SRC Coordinator, debra@littlebirdandbearofvt.com

		Organization: 

		Little Bird and Bear of Vermont, LLC




 [Personal and organization information from the Preferences > Identity dialog.]


Summary


The checker found problems which may prevent the document from being fully accessible.


		Needs manual check: 0

		Passed manually: 2

		Failed manually: 0

		Skipped: 1

		Passed: 27

		Failed: 2




Detailed Report


		Document



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Accessibility permission flag		Passed		Accessibility permission flag must be set

		Image-only PDF		Passed		Document is not image-only PDF

		Tagged PDF		Passed		Document is tagged PDF

		Logical Reading Order		Passed manually		Document structure provides a logical reading order

		Primary language		Passed		Text language is specified

		Title		Passed		Document title is showing in title bar

		Bookmarks		Passed		Bookmarks are present in large documents

		Color contrast		Passed manually		Document has appropriate color contrast

		Page Content



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Tagged content		Passed		All page content is tagged

		Tagged annotations		Passed		All annotations are tagged

		Tab order		Passed		Tab order is consistent with structure order

		Character encoding		Passed		Reliable character encoding is provided

		Tagged multimedia		Passed		All multimedia objects are tagged

		Screen flicker		Passed		Page will not cause screen flicker

		Scripts		Passed		No inaccessible scripts

		Timed responses		Passed		Page does not require timed responses

		Navigation links		Passed		Navigation links are not repetitive

		Forms



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Tagged form fields		Passed		All form fields are tagged

		Field descriptions		Passed		All form fields have description

		Alternate Text



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Figures alternate text		Passed		Figures require alternate text

		Nested alternate text		Passed		Alternate text that will never be read

		Associated with content		Passed		Alternate text must be associated with some content

		Hides annotation		Passed		Alternate text should not hide annotation

		Other elements alternate text		Failed		Other elements that require alternate text

		Tables



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Rows		Passed		TR must be a child of Table, THead, TBody, or TFoot

		TH and TD		Passed		TH and TD must be children of TR

		Headers		Passed		Tables should have headers

		Regularity		Passed		Tables must contain the same number of columns in each row and rows in each column

		Summary		Skipped		Tables must have a summary

		Lists



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		List items		Passed		LI must be a child of L

		Lbl and LBody		Passed		Lbl and LBody must be children of LI

		Headings



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Appropriate nesting		Failed		Appropriate nesting






Back to Top
